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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (“STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (“Directors”, and each
a "Director”) of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited
(“Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange ("GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company
Information” page of the website of the Stock Exchange at
http.//www.hkexnews.hk for a minimum period of seven days
from the date of its publication and on the website of the
Company at http.//www.hangtaiyue.com.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (“Board”), | hereby present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. During the
year under review, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$68,328,000 (2023: HK$64,530,000), representing an increase
of approximately 6% as compared with that in last year due to the
increase in the revenue from provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia through its venue located in Victoria, Australia
namely the Balgownie Estate Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley
("Balgownie”) after the renovation of Balgownie was completed
in October 2024. The loss of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$87,536,000 (2023: profit
of HK$12,452,000).

OVERVIEW

During the year under review, the Group continued to adopt
a diversified business development strategy and the principal
activities of the Group were (i) provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia; (i) money lending business; and (iii) assets
investments business.

During the year under review, the Group was engaged in the
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia through its
venue located in Victoria, Australia, namely the Balgownie Estate
Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley (“Balgownie”). The Group
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$62,126,000 (2023:
HK$58,773,000) from its segment of provision of hospitality and
related services and sales of food and beverage in hotel business
in Australia during the year under review, which amounted to an
increase of approximately HK$3,353,000 or approximately 6%.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in the number of
occupied rooms of Balgownie during the year under review as a
result of the Renovation Work (as defined and explained in the
paragraph headed "“Hospitality and Related Services in Australia”
below) which was completed in October 2024.

ERBERZERARAE | =

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
IREBREE

BRER !

SANEBERXEST((BEFG))ELEREANT
REWB AR (BB cER)BE S "HF
+ZB=1+t—HBLEFEZ2FXE - ROEE
FE > RNEBIFFIWALG8,328,0008 7T (—
T =14 . 64,530,000/87T) * BMEFE LAY

6% > ITHEPRPREBERABTE KEEBAN(TE
BERE)ZEBNR_Z_NE+BZME &
BAFSEMESFITDINAYE BMBBER) B
BN TR LB IE R B R AR FS AU UR A G N o A EE
BHEE_Z_MNWE+_A=+— E&Er“z
E518497487,536,0008 0 (ZE - =4F | &f|
12,452,000/ 7T) ©

e

REEEERN » FEREERAZTESE
FRERRS o ZEBZ TEXEHS | ()FOEIMNEMH
BIERBRARE  (MBEES ; kiilBER

REIEEEE » A5 BB NSBB8
SR BN E(BEFEEBETIKEER
NEEERE))) FRMABE REERE
(7% o ROBEFEE  AEEBHMBEMNEMR

BIE AR RS R BIEE£BHEB D
$HHEWMAL62,126,0008 T (ZB =4 .
58,773,000/ 7T) » 1&/0493,353,000/8 T34
6% o IEIMNEERNNOIBEE » REEITRE
(& K fRTE B LUR TR BONIR 8 15 B AR RA AR
BI—RER_ZE_NE+ATREREHE
EAXEEHEEM -

“TIFEFR 05



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EIREREE

The occupancy rate of Balgownie during the year under
review was approximately 72%, which had decreased from
approximately 74% in the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Group expects that the situation will improve after the completion
of the Renovation Work in October 2024.

During the year under review, the Group recorded interest income
of approximately HK$6,164,000 (2023: HK$5,709,000) from
its money lending business. The interest income of the Group
increased mainly due to the increase in the loans granted by the
Group during the year under review.

During the year under review, the Group’s share of losses of
associates amounted to approximately HK$20,573,000 (2023:
HK$14,692,000). The change was primarily attributable to
the Group's share of the loss from one of its associates of
approximately HK$17,204,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$12,521,000).

During the year under review, the loss of the Group was
approximately HK$87,536,000 (2023: profit of HK$12,452,000),
which was mainly attributable to the combined effects of (i)
the absence of the gain on deemed disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately HK$72,145,000 recognised by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which was resulted from
the Group’s deemed disposal of a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, RIEE&M(LE)BRAF (in English for
identification purpose, Jixiang Information Technology (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd.) (“Jixiang"”) on 31 May 2023; and (ii) the fair value
loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net,
of approximately HK$29,567,000 recognised by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared with that of
approximately HK$8,558,000 recognised by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, it is expected that downside risks including
geopolitical tensions, trade fragmentation, uncertainties arising
from the recent economic turmoil, the Russo-Ukrainian War,
the Israeli-Palestinian conflict and the Iran-Israel conflict, will
predominate the global economy. The global economic conditions
will remain the key uncertainty in relation to the revival of the
global economy.
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The restaurant at Balgownie is open to off-site customers and in-
house guests staying at Balgownie to enjoy casual and fine dining
experiences. With the restaurant (together with the existing
function centre) reaching a maximum capacity of approximately
270 customers, the Group provides conference and events services
such as hosting weddings and corporate events to broaden the
Group's income stream. The Group intends to brand Balgownie as
an integrated resort-based travel destination for leisure and event-
hosting. Balgownie has a “Wine Club”, which is a subscription-
based membership, offering club members exclusive benefits
and early access to Balgownie’s wines and resort products and
services. As at 31 December 2024, the “Wine Club” has acquired
approximately 1,500 club members. The Group believes this will
help to generate additional income and growth across the resort’s
products and services. In October 2024, Balgownie completed
the Renovation Work, and it is expected that the occupancy rate
of Balgownie will improve and the revenue from the provision of
hospitality and related services will increase in 2025.

Going forward, except for the business of provision of services
through network media which had been classified by the Group
as a discontinued operation, the Group will continue to carry on
its existing businesses by formulation and implementation of its
own business plans and strategies and leveraging its own business
model, competitiveness and strengths so as to develop, maintain
and enhance its existing businesses, which will be viable and
sustainable and will be able to create value and investment return
for the Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

I ' would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all
valuable Shareholders, investors and clients for their support, and
also my thanks to all the staff for their efforts and contributions
to the Group.

Ng Ting Ho

Chairman

31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE D—_I-DFFH& *ﬁ—

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the principal activities
of the Group were (i) provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia; (i) money lending business; and (iii) assets
investments business.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the loss of the
Group was approximately HK$87,536,000 (2023: profit of
HK$12,452,000). The loss was mainly attributable to the
combined effects of (i) the absence of the gain on deemed
disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$72,145,000
recognised by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which was resulted from the Group’s deemed disposal of a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, TR 15 B (L&A
FR/AF] (in English for identification purpose, Jixiang Information
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.) on 31 May 2023; and (ii) the fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
net, of approximately HK$29,567,000 recognised by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared with that of
approximately HK$8,558,000 recognised by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hospitality and Related Services in Australia

During the year under review, the Group was engaged in the
hospitality business through Balgownie.

Balgownie, located in the Yarra Valley, is a famous winery and
tourism destination in Victoria, Australia. Balgownie was (i) the
winner of “Resort Style Accommodation of the Year” awarded by
Tourism Accommodation Australia (Victoria) four years in a row
from 2016 to 2019 and in 2022 and 2024, (ii) the 2021 Bronze
winner and 2022 Silver Winner of “Business Event Venues” of
Victorian Tourism Awards awarded by Victorian Tourism Industry
Council; and (iii) awarded as “Hotel Bar of the Year” by Tourism
Accommodation Australia in 2022. In addition, the Head Chef and
Executive Chef of Balgownie's newest restaurant was the finalist
of Tourism Accommodation Australia (Victoria) for Best Chef
in 2021 and the winner of Tourism Accommodation Australia
(Victoria) for Best Chef in 2019 respectively, which ensures
the high quality of the resort’s food and beverage offerings.
Balgownie consists of a piece of freehold land of approximately
29 hectares with a 7-hectare vineyard growing Pinot and
Chardonnay wine grapes and offers 70 luxury accommodation
rooms, including a restaurant, cellar door, conference and
function facilities, health club facilities and day spa, which
generates additional ancillary income from the guests.

Balgownie is partnering with the Spa Partner, which has a
network of over 120 day spas in Australia and New Zealand, for
the brand-new day spa in Balgownie. Pursuant to the agreement
entered between the Group and the Spa Partner, the Group will
provide the premises and the Spa Partner will contribute the
capital required to fit out the spa. The Group will receive rental
income from the Spa Partner on a percentage of the revenue
generated by the Spa Partner. In addition, the Group will also
sell the Spa Partner’s products and services in the spa venues to
generate additional income related to the day spa. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group launched a new “Wellness
Retreat” product/service with the Spa Partner and is the first to
provide such product/service in Yarra Valley. The new “Wellness
Retreat” was introduced with wellness packages/experiences
that include (i) nutrition and nourishment by the provision of
curated menus for a healthy diet; and (i) calming activities such
as meditation, yoga, pilates and gigong. The Group intends to
leverage the brand and client base of the Spa Partner and gain
new visitations in the leisure and corporate segment, and attract
more customers to Balgownie.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE D—_I-DFFH& *ﬁ—

The Group intends to brand Balgownie as an integrated resort
based travel destination for leisure and event-hosting. The
restaurant accepts bookings from off-site customers and in-
house guests staying at Balgownie to enjoy the dining experience.
With the restaurant (together with the existing function centre)
reaching a maximum capacity of approximately 270 customers,
the Group provides banquet services such as hosting weddings
or events to broaden the Group’s income stream. The Group
believes that the ambience of the restaurants is essential to
attract customers to host lavish events and improve their dining
experience. In April 2023, Balgownie introduced a new “Wine
Club”, a club pertaining to the subscription-based model offering
members exclusive benefits and access to Balgownie’s wines and
resort products and services. As at 31 December 2024, the "Wine
Club” has acquired approximately 1,500 club members.

The occupancy rate of Balgownie for the year under review
was approximately 72% (2023: 74%), which had decreased by
approximately 2% comparing with that for last year. Currently,
Balgownie has 70 (2023: 70) luxury rooms, a restaurant, a cellar
door and a day spa. The Group regularly reviews and refines
Balgownie’s products, services and interior design, enhances
its hardware, and arranges refurbishment if necessary to stay
competitive in the market.

In July 2023, the Group entered into a renovation agreement
(as amended and supplemented from time to time), pursuant to
which a third-party contractor has agreed to carry out renovation
work (“Renovation Work"”) for Balgownie. Details of the
renovation agreement are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 21 July 2023 and 10 November 2023. The
Renovation Work completed in October 2024.

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$62,126,000 (2023: HK$58,773,000) from its
segment of provision of hospitality and related services and sales
of food and beverage in the hotel business in Australia, which
amounted to an increase of approximately HK$3,353,000 or
approximately 6%. The increase was mainly due to the increase
in the revenue from sales of food and beverage in hotel business
by approximately HK$2,657,000 due to increase in members and
sales from the "Wine Club”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Provision of services through network media

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group exercised
a put option to dispose of its interest in Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings Limited and the segment of provisions of services
through network media was discontinued and no revenue from
this segment was recorded. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$57,000
from its segment of provision of services through network media.

On 2 June 2022, Noble Tack International Limited (“Second
Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and a then controlling shareholder of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings Limited (“Dynamic Indonesia Holdings"), entered
into a subscription agreement (“Subscription Agreement”)
with Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and Dynamic Investment
Holdings Limited (“First Subscriber”), a then non-controlling
shareholder of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Seamless Group Inc. (“Grantor”), pursuant to
which Dynamic Indonesia Holdings agreed to allot and issue
5,000 subscription shares (“Subscription Shares”) in five
tranches (with each tranche of 1,000 Subscription Shares) for the
aggregate subscription price of US$1,000,000 (“Subscription”).
The Subscription Shares represent 20% of the enlarged issued
share capital of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings upon completion
of the Subscription. Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription
Agreement, the Second Subscriber decided not to subscribe
for the first tranche of the Subscription and the First Subscriber
agreed to subscribe for all the 1,000 Subscription Shares under
the first tranche of the Subscription and paid the first tranche
subscription price of US$200,000 to Dynamic Indonesia Holdings
immediately after the entering into of the Subscription Agreement.
Upon completion of the first tranche of the Subscription, Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings was owned as to approximately 51.43% by
the First Subscriber and approximately 48.57% by the Second
Subscriber, respectively, therefore causing the completion of the
first tranche of the Subscription to constitute a deemed disposal
(i.e. the Walletku Disposal) pursuant to Rule 19.29 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Accordingly, Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and its
subsidiaries (including, PT Walletku Indompet Indonesia (“TNG
Indompet”)) (“Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Group”) ceased
to be subsidiaries of the Company and the financial results of the
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Group ceased to be accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The Group
recognised net gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$26,907,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 upon
completion of the first tranche of the Subscription.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE D—_I-DFFH& *ﬁ—

On 2 June 2022, the Grantor also entered into an option deed
("Option Deed"”) with the Second Subscriber, pursuant to which
the Grantor agreed to grant to the Second Subscriber an option
for the right but not the obligation (“Put Option"”) to require
the Grantor (or its nominee) to acquire all or part of the ordinary
shares of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings held by the Second
Subscriber (“Option Shares”) and all or part of the outstanding
shareholder’s loans of approximately US$2,050,000 from the
Second Subscriber (“Shareholder’s Loans”) upon exercise of the
Put Option which is exercisable at the discretion of the Second
Subscriber in accordance with the terms of the Option Deed. The
Second Subscriber has the discretion to determine the number
of the Option Shares and the amount of the Shareholder’s Loans
to be acquired by the Grantor (or its nominee) upon exercise
of the Put Option and the Second Subscriber shall notify the
Grantor such number of the Option Shares and amount of the
Shareholder’s Loans to be acquired by the Grantor (or its nominee)
in the option notice to be served by the Second Subscriber.

Details of the Walletku Disposal are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 2 June 2022 and 21 July 2022.

Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Agreement, the Second
Subscriber was entitled to subscribe for Subscription Shares under
the second, the third, the fourth and the fifth tranches of the
Subscription on 3 October 2022, 3 February 2023, 5 June 2023
and 5 October 2023, respectively, but it decided not to proceed
with such subscriptions. Upon completion of these four tranches
of the Subscription, an aggregate of 4,000 Subscription Shares
were allotted and issued to the First Subscriber at an aggregate
subscription price of US$800,000, resulting in the First Subscriber
and the Second Subscriber owning Dynamic Indonesia Holdings as
to approximately 59.2% and approximately 40.8%, respectively.

On 22 May 2024, the Second Subscriber and the Grantor entered
into an agreement to extend the expiry date of the exercise period
of the Put Option from 2 June 2024 to 31 August 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 30 August 2024, the Second Subscriber exercised the Put
Option, pursuant to which the Second Subscriber disposed of
10,200 shares of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (representing
approximately 40.8% of the issued shares of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings) and the loan granted by the Group to Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings (“Shareholder’s Loans”) in the total
amount of US$2,050,000 to the Grantor at the option price
of US$5,400,000 on the date of completion of such disposal
("Option Completion”), which was settled with the issue of
the convertible bonds (“Convertible Bonds"”) in the principal
amount of US$5,400,000 by the Grantor to the Group. Upon
the Option Completion, the Group ceased to have any equity
interest in Dynamic Indonesia Holdings, other than those held via
its interests in Currenc Group Inc. (“CGl"), formerly known as
INFINT Acquisition Corporation, whose shares were listed on the
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE:IFIN)), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and
whose shares are listed on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange (Nasdag:
CURR).

On 30 August 2024, the merger (“CGI Merger"”) of a subsidiary
of CGI with the Grantor with the Grantor surviving the merger
as a wholly-owned subsidiary of CGI upon closing of the
business combination agreement (“CGI Business Combination
Agreement”) dated 3 August 2022 and entered into among
CGl, a subsidiary of CGl and the Grantor (as amended by an
amendment dated 20 October 2022, an amendment dated 29
November 2022 and an amendment dated 20 February 2023,
as such agreement may be further amended from time to time)
became effective.

On 30 August 2024, the Convertible Bonds were automatically
converted into the shares of the Grantor (“Grantor Shares”)
at the conversion price (which shall be derived by dividing the
principal amount of the outstanding Convertible Bonds to be
converted with the number of the conversion shares, which shall
be derived by dividing the principal amount of the outstanding
Convertible Bonds to be converted with US$400,000,000
(equivalent to HK$3,120,000,000), before multiplying it by the
number of the then issued shares of the Grantor as enlarged
by the issue of the Grantor Shares upon the conversion of the
Convertible Bonds) upon the CGI Merger becoming effective in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Bonds, and as a result, 772,970 Grantor Shares were allotted and
issued to the Group. The automatic conversion of the Convertible
Bonds on 30 August 2024 constituted an acquisition of interests
in the Grantor by the Group. As at 30 August 2024, 772,970
Grantor Shares represented approximately 1.26% of the total
issued Grantor Shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE D—_I-DFFH& *ﬁ—

Upon the CGI Merger becoming effective (i.e. 30 August 2024),
695,673 Grantor Shares held by the Group were converted
into 452,630 shares in CGI (“CGI Shares”) (representing
approximately 0.97% of the total issued CGI Shares) at the
conversion rate of 0.6506357 pursuant to the CGI Business
Combination Agreement. Such conversion resulted in the disposal
of interests in the Grantor by the Group and the acquisition of
interests in CGI by the Group.

Further details of the above disposal and acquisitions are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 18 November 2024.

Money Lending Business

The Group is engaged in the money lending business in Hong
Kong through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mark Profit Finance
Limited (“Mark Profit”), which is a holder of a money lender’s
licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the year under review, the Group
recorded interest income of approximately HK$6,164,000 (2023:
HK$5,709,000) from its money lending business, and interest
income of the Group increased mainly due to the increase in the
loans granted by the Group during the year under review. The
Group has been paying close attention to the market conditions
and will continue to monitor its resources to strive for the
development of its money lending business with prudent credit
procedures in accepting customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mark profit grants loans to both corporate and individual
customers as its target clients. Before entering into any loan
agreement or before granting any loan extension, the Group
carries out credit assessments of the potential borrower’s or
borrower’s ability to make repayments under the loan agreement
and have due regard to the outcome of the credit assessment in
respect of affordability. In carrying out the credit assessment, the
Group considers (i) the potential borrower’s or borrower’s current
income; (ii) the potential borrower’s or borrower’s ability to
make repayments under the loan agreement as they fall due over
the life of the loan agreement; and (iii) without the repayments
having a significant adverse impact on the potential borrower’s
or borrower’s overall financial situation. In addition, the Group
also considers (i) the total amount of the principal and interest
payable; (ii) the duration of the term for repayment of the loan;
(iii) the frequency and amounts of the repayments; (iv) the interest
rate; (v) purpose of obtaining the loan; (vi) the employment or
business of the potential borrower or borrower; and (vii) current
credit and financial information on the potential borrower or
borrower. For loan applications that pass the Group’s credit
assessment, the loan applications are subject to final approval by
the credit committee of the Group. Credit committee members
are appointed by the Board and the quorum of the committee is
at least 2 committee members.

Composition of the credit committee

Operation of the money lending business of the Group is overseen
by the credit committee of the Group.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the credit committee of
the Group consists of Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, an executive Director,
and a director of Mark Profit. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors Profile” of this Annual Report for the biography of Mr.
Fong Chak Kiu.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE5Tam R o

Credit assessment process

Prior to grant of a loan to a borrower, the Group carries out the
credit assessment process on the potential borrower. The credit
assessment process comprises three components:

(a)

(b)

(c)

16

Documents requirement

Verification of identity, income and asset, and address
proofs. All the above required documents are required to be
up-to-date which generally are issued within three months
from the date of application.

General requirement

For unsecured loan, the maximum loan tenor shall be 12
months, extension of which will be subject to a new credit
assessment to be conducted by the credit committee.

For secured loan, the maximum loan amount shall be 80%
of the value of collateral with maximum loan tenor of 20
years, whereas secured loan refers to loan which is fully
secured by real properties, listed shares, vehicles and/or any
assets which is marketable with solid value, subject to credit

assessment, as collaterals.

In addition, for individual customer, the potential customer
should be 21 years old or above.

Credit requirement

For unsecured loan, the following criteria are considered
during the credit assessment:

e  financial background of the borrower;

e income level, assets owned and repayment ability;

e other financial information and background of
corporation (if applicable);

e internal and external credit checking results; and

e any personal/corporate guarantee provided.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For unsecured personal loan, the affordability assessment of the
borrower’s ability to make repayments should be performed in
accordance with the 15 licensing conditions for money lenders
licence as required by the Companies Registry. The following
factors are considered (where applicable) during the credit
assessment:

e the total amount of the principal and interest payable;

e the duration of the loan;

e the frequency and amounts of the repayments;

e the interest rate;

e the employment or business of the borrower; and

e current credit and financial information of the borrower.
Reasonable steps would be taken to determine the amount,
or make a reasonable estimate, of the current income and
expenditure of the borrower. Under certain circumstances, the
borrower’s assets such as savings would also be considered.
Sufficient information would be obtained for the aforesaid
affordability assessment. For monitoring purpose, relevant records

of such assessment are properly maintained.

For secured loan, the following criteria are considered during the
credit assessment:

valuation of the to-be-pledged collateral,
e  land search record (if applicable);

e acceptable and marketable title to the to-be-pledged
collateral;

e marketability and liquidity of the to-be-pledged collateral;

e legitimacy of the to-be-pledged collateral;

e the financial background of the borrower;

e the personal background or background of the corporation;
e internal and external credit checking results; and

° legal advice (if necessary).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE5Tam R o

Determination of major terms of loans

Terms of the loans (such as amount, interest rate and duration)
will be determined based on the prevailing interest rates offered
by the banks and money lenders in the market, the background of
the borrower (in particular, his income and assets, credit history,
etc.), the relationship with the borrower, payment record (for
repeated borrowers), the duration and amount of the loan and
the security provided (if applicable).

In general, repeated borrowers with good payment records and
sound financial background would have potentially lower default
rate, and would be granted loans with interest rates at the
relatively lower end of the range of the prevailing interest rates
offered by the money lenders in the market at the time of the
grant or renewals.

Monitoring of loan recoverability

The designated officer of the Group monitors the repayment of
principals and interests of the loans according to the terms of
the loan agreements. The Group generally does not continuously
monitor the financial position of the borrowers after the grant of
the loans, except there is default or potential default of the loan.
In case of irregularities in repayment, overdue or default of the
loan, the designated officer of the Group would follow up and
negotiate with the borrowers for the repayment, and promptly
report to the credit committee.

Customers

Customers for the money lending business of the Group are
business partners or potential business partners of the Group
or persons introduced by the business partners, management
or staff of the Group. Nevertheless, the management or staff of
the Group are not allowed to engage in approving or processing
credit transactions or extending credit involving a customer who is
his immediate family member.

Other than an age restriction for individual customers (i.e. the
potential customer should be 21 years old or above), there are no
specific benchmark for target/potential customers of the Group.
Notwithstanding the above, potential customers and their loan
applications will be assessed on a case-by-case basis during the
credit assessment process as detailed above.
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Loan portfolio as at 31 December 2024

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE D—_I-DFFH& *ﬁ—

The table below sets out the details of the loans which were
outstanding as at 31 December 2024

R-ZB-ZNFE+=—A=+—HZEH4A

TREFIN - TMFEF+"A=+—HRHKE
B2 EMEFIS

Interest rate

Outstanding

per annum balance as at
Principal and repayment 31 December 2024
amount Tenure of  schedule RZEZME
of loan Date of grant theloan  FFEEK +ZA=+—H
BMAEE REAH BWHER  EREER M R EB LR
(HK$) (Note 1) (HK$)
(870) GE3) (870)
Loan 1 (Note 2) 19,000,000 18/09/2023 1 year 12%; Quarterly 15,282,760
B0 (zE2) “EZ=FhB+/N\H —fF 12% ; BFE
Loan 2 3,200,000 11/01/2024 1 year 12%; Quarterly 789,452
= £V “ETmMFE—-A+—H —F 12% ; BFE
Loan 3 4,000,000 14/02/2024 1 year 12%; Quarterly 4,000,000
™3 “E2CWE”"A+mH —&F 2% ; BFE
Loan 4 1,290,000 28/05/2024 1 year 12%; Quarterly 1,290,000
a™4 “ETEERBZ+N\H —f&F 2% ; BFE
Loan 5 3,400,000 28/05/2024 1 year 12%; Quarterly 3,400,000
85 “ETMFERAZ+NH —F 12% ; BFE
Loan 6 300,000 25/06/2024 1 year 12%; Quarterly 300,000
&6 —EMFERAZTEA —F 12% ; BFE
Loan 7 4,930,000 28/06/2024 1 year 12%; Quarterly 4,930,000
&7 “EIMESRAZFTNA —&F 12% ; BFE
Loan 8 1,196,772  28/11/2024 1 year 12.5%; Semi-annually 1,196,772
a™Ms8 “ECWE+—RAZ+N\H —F 12.5% ; ¥ F
Loan 9 2,400,000 28/11/2024 1 year 12.5%; Semi-annually 2,400,000
&§™9 “ECWE+—RAZ+N\H  —& 12.5% ; §+F
Loan 10 2,655,020 8/12/2024 1 year 12.5%; Quarterly 1,675,024
&0 “EBCNE+ZB/\H —F 125% ; §5E
Loan 11 8,079,562 31/12/2024 1 year 12.5%; Semi-annually 8,079,562
M1 “ECNE+ZA=+—H —& 12.5% ; ¥ F
Notes: BT -
(1) The terms of the loan commenced from the drawdown date of the (1 TRHARR BIREN A A Z HEE -
relevant loan.
(2)  This loan is a secured loan. (2) ZEEFLFRWMERN -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 5 (2023: 6) borrowers
who were all individuals, with merchant and professional
background. The Group’s loans and loan interest receivable
balance (net of provision) amounted to approximately
HK$41,405,000 (2023: HK$50,829,000), out of which
approximately HK$41,405,000 (2023: HK$50,513,000)
(representing approximately 100% (2023: 99.4%) of the
total loans and loan interest receivables of the Group) was
due from the five (2023: five) largest borrowers of the Group
and approximately HK$15,283,000 (2023: HK$18,844,000)
(representing approximately 36.9% (2023: 37.1%) of the total
loans and loan interest receivables of the Group) was due from
the largest borrower of the Group. All of the borrowers of the
loans are independent of the Company and its connected persons
(as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules), have no past
business or deals with the Company other than being repeated
borrowers (as the case may be).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, one of the loans receivables
of the Group was secured.

As at 31 December 2024, the loans receivables had a fixed term
of 12 months (2023: 12 months), with interest being charged at
rates ranging from 12% to 12.5% per annum (2023: 10.5% to
12% per annum).

The Group recorded a provision for impairment loss on loan
and interest receivables of approximately HK$1,581,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$175,000). The
increase in provision for impairment loss on loan and interest
receivables was due to increased market volatility led uncertainty
in recoverability of loan and interest receivables and increased the
expected credit loss.

The amount of loss allowance of loans made during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was assessed by an independent valuer
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards, specifically
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 9 Financial Instruments,
details of which are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The amount of loss allowance was determined by multiplying
the sum of the loans and the corresponding interest receivable
balance by the relevant credit loss rate. The credit loss rates of
the loans were determined with an assumption that the market
trends and conditions where the Company operates will not
deviate significantly from economic forecasts in general and the
probabilities of defaults were extracted from public sources by the
valuer.

RIZEZWNFE+ZB=+—H > xEEBEE%
(CE=F . c)EBEARNMHLEEEREE
BENEA) - KEBRKRERRERF ELE

R (R B H) 89 541,405,0008 T (ZE =
£ 150,829,000 7T) » HEF4941,405,0008
TT(ZE =4 50,513,000 7T) (b EH
FEWERRERF BEEN100% (2=
& 1 99. 4%))%ﬁu&$$l£(_v__ :
ﬁ)ﬂtTETA/\ M#915,283,000% (=
T =14 .18, 844 ooo%m) (1£$$IFEH&
B3 T}\%U BEE4936.9% (& - = .
37 1%));%JKLI&K$IFNETAATJKIE °o Z%E
BRMNFAEERASEI N AT RERBEBEA
T (EERGEM EMHRAIFE20E) » BEARF
WEBFERHRS EAEEERAGRER
ME) BRI ©

R NFER-_E_=F+"RB=+—H>
AEFBHP-IERRERSB IR -

ATETUE+—A=+—H  ERERNE
EHRA12ER (CZE=4F : 12@8) » F£F
ENENRBREI15%(CE_=F | FFISN
F10.5%F 12%) ©

BHE_ZT_WNE+_B=1+—HIEFE &
EERESERERRF B REREBEEN
1,581,00087c(ZF =4 : 175,000 7T) °
FEWE R AA SR EBEEEE N BN TS
R ENIE N T B B R R E R R R B B9 BT Uk Bl AR
BEREMTEREEEBEEEN o

REBE_T_NFE+ A =+—BLFEFFRF
BB RUE 18 5 s & 85 AR | 1L [ E ARG 1R
*ETJ‘E BUBHREENREBGHER (5
EAMBREERBSRIEMITE )R
E%§§¥'|%$ﬁﬁl\§ki—%ﬁ—m¢+_ﬁ_+ H
I FEZEREMBREWNT22 - BREESE
ThidiE U E R BB R B AR Z AR IR
HMEEHEXMERE - ENEEHERXZERE
THRRA AT ZEFERNTIHBE MR AR
GRIBREERCERR > MENBMEKRBGEE
EMHEE B AR o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company has complied with the requirements set out
in Chapter 19 and/or 20 of the GEM Listing Rules when it
granted the loans to the borrowers. There was no agreement,
arrangement, understanding or undertaking (whether formal or
informal and whether express or implied) between the Company
and any of its connected persons (as defined in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules) with respect to the grant of the loans to the
borrowers.

Assets Investments Business

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a
segment loss from its assets investment business of approximately
HK$50,592,000 (2023: HK$31,631,000), and the increase in
loss was primarily attributable to the increase in fair value loss
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
of approximately HK$21,009,000, the Group recorded fair value
loss on financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$29,567,000
(2023: HK$8,558,000) during the year ended 31 December
2024, which was mainly attributable to the fair value loss of
approximately HK$14,666,000 (2023: HK$Nil) resulting from
the fair value change in listed shares in United States and
approximately HK$5,296,000 (2023: HK$4,676,000) resulting
from the fair value change in Put Option.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s share
of losses of associates of approximately HK$20,573,000 (2023:
HK$14,692,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") of approximately HK$885,000
(2023: fair value gain of HK$28,054,000).

On 10 May 2023, LM E=F K AR AEBT(in English for
identification purpose only, Shanghai Third Intermediate People’s
Court) (“Shanghai Court”) announced that Shanghai Well
C.P.A. Partnership (L/BZEM I EFTN(EESE)) has
been appointed as the administrator (“Administrator”) in
respect of the insolvent liquidation of Jixiang, a then wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Liquidation”), following its
acceptance of the application made by LEO Group Co., Ltd. for
the liquidation, further details of which have been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 February 2023. On 15 May
2023, Jixiang received a list from the Administrator for the items
that need to be handed over to the Administrator, including its
assets, seals, and books and records (“Handover”).

ERBERZERARAE | =
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RABRABRAERERFEETGEM LT
RAE 19K,/ H20EFAEHRTE c A ABHE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Due to the loss of control over Jixiang upon the effective date
of the Handover as of 31 May 2023, with effect from such date,
Jixiang was deemed to be disposed of by the Group and it has
been deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. After the deemed disposal of Jixiang on 31 May
2023, Jixiang ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and the
financial assets at FVTOCI held by Jixiang were deemed to be
disposed of by the Group.

Further details of the deemed disposal of Jixiang are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 19 May 2023.

The Directors consider securities investments with a carrying
amount that accounts for more than 5% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2024 as significant securities
investments of the Group. Details of the significant securities
investments of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

Luck Key

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held 10,650 ordinary
shares of Luck Key, representing 48.33% of the equity interest
of Luck Key, the investment cost of which was approximately
HK$56,511,000. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amount of this investment was approximately HK$22,942,000
representing approximately 6% of the total assets of the Group as
at 31 December 2024. During the year under review, the share of
Luck Key's total comprehensive loss of the investment attributable
to the Group amounted to approximately HK$17,345,000 (2023:
HK$12,521,000). No realised or unrealised gain or loss was
recorded by the Group with respect to its investment in Luck Key
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). The Group did
not receive dividend income from this investment during the year
ended 31 December 2024. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group received dividend income of approximately
HK$34,314,000 from this investment.

Luck Key together with its subsidiaries, (“Luck Key Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of medical diagnostic
and health check services. Luck Key Group has commenced its
business since 2006 and has a long and well established operating
history. Luck Key Group provides a wide range of medical
diagnostic and health check services, including high-end imaging
and laboratory examinations to the customers through operation
of health check centres and laboratories in Hong Kong. As at the
date of this Annual Report, Luck Key Group has a considerable
scale of operation as it operates eleven health check centres
and two laboratories in Hong Kong under various brand names
(including “Hong Kong Health Check” (FE#21%)), with its
flagship centre located in Jordan, Kowloon.

HREBE_Z_=ZFA=+—H®BXEX
HER) BEITREAEIES » BRI IERAE
BHE > MEEBHAKLENARATGEMEREK
AR - RIE_=FHAB=+—HREHED
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Luck Key

A _E_NME+-B=+—H xEEFEBE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year under review, the revenue of Luck Key amounted
to approximately HK$194,097,000 (2023: HK$218,216,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 11%. The loss
attributable to the shareholders of Luck Key for the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$35,597,000 (2023:
HK$25,907,000). Luck Key Group has assembled a professional
and experienced group of management personnel with extensive
experience and in-depth understanding of the industry. The
management of Luck Key will strive to improve the operational
efficiency of its health check business so as to enhance its
competitiveness in the market and its profitability.

As at 31 December 2024, except for the Group’s investment in
Luck Key, none of the carrying amount of the investments of the
Group accounted for more than 5% of the Group total assets.

The Group will continue to hold the investments in its portfolio,
unless there are changes in its investment strategy or potential
opportunities in realising its existing investments in securities
arise, taking into account the prospects of the issuers of the
securities investments, and the Group’s objective to optimise the
returns from its investment portfolios and create value for the
Shareholders.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, it is expected that downside risks including
geopolitical tensions, trade fragmentation, uncertainties arising
from the recent economic turmoil, the Russo-Ukrainian War,
the Israeli-Palestinian conflict and the Iran-Israel conflict, will
predominate the global economy. The global economic conditions
will remain the key uncertainty in relation to the revival of the
global economy.
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The restaurant at Balgownie is open to off-site customers and in-
house guests staying at Balgownie to enjoy casual and fine dining
experiences. With the restaurant (together with the existing
function centre) reaching a maximum capacity of approximately
270 customers, the Group provides conference and events services
such as hosting weddings and corporate events to broaden the
Group's income stream. The Group intends to brand Balgownie as
an integrated resort-based travel destination for leisure and event-
hosting. Balgownie has a “Wine Club”, which is a subscription-
based membership, offering club members exclusive benefits
and early access to Balgownie’s wines and resort products and
services. As at 31 December 2024, the “Wine Club” has acquired
approximately 1,500 club members. The Group believes this will
help to generate additional income and growth across the resort’s
products and services. In October 2024, Balgownie completed
the Renovation Work, and it is expected that the occupancy rate
of Balgownie will improve and the revenue from the provision of
hospitality and related services will increase in 2025.

Going forward, except for the business of provision of services
through network media which had been classified by the Group
as a discontinued operation, the Group will continue to carry on
its existing businesses by formulation and implementation of its
own business plans and strategies and leveraging its own business
model, competitiveness and strengths so as to develop, maintain
and enhance its existing businesses, which will be viable and
sustainable and will be able to create value and investment return
for the Shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Strategic Update

Entering into 2025, both the regional and global markets
will unquestionably remain sensitive to geopolitical and
macroeconomic uncertainties. The Group's focus will be on (i)
maintaining operational resilience in times of unpredictability
and challenges; (ii) remaining competitive and forward-
thinking, skillfully executing its strategy; and (iii) exploring new
opportunities, experimenting and moving steadily and boldly
towards greater success.

The Group’s focus will remain on the successful execution of its
strategic plans and working together with the regulators and
other stakeholders to support the prosperity and sustainability of
the markets and communities where the Group operates. Also,
the Group’s commitment to strengthening its competitiveness will
remain a core focus in the years ahead. The Group is confident
that the efforts it has been making will position it strongly for the
next phase of its journey and generate value over the longer term.
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2024, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$369,409,000 (2023: HK$441,502,000)
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$10,987,000 (2023: HK$6,569,000), among which
approximately 93% (2023: 47%) were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, 1% (2023: 14%) were denominated in United States
dollars and 6% (2023: 39%) were denominated in Australian
dollars. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had borrowings
repayable within one year (or on demand) of approximately
HK$95,546,000 (2023: HK$38,439,000). These borrowings
bore interest at average rate of 8.3% per annum (2023: 7.7%
per annum), among which approximately 30% (2023: 15%)
were subject to fixed interest rates. Out of the total borrowings
as at 31 December 2024, approximately 75% (2023: 89%)
were denominated in Australian dollars and approximately 25%
(2023: 11%) was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had borrowing facilities to the extent
of approximately HK$104,392,000 (2023: HK$89,910,000). As
at 31 December 2024, approximately HK$103,091,000 (2023:
HK$65,959,000) of the facilities had been utilised by the Group.
There is no seasonality in relation to the borrowing requirements
of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated on
the basis of total liabilities to total assets) was 0.40 times (2023:
0.28 times) and its net debt-to-equity capital ratio (calculated
as the total trade and other payables, accruals and provision,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, derivative financial
liabilities, convertible loans, and lease liabilities less pledged time
deposit and cash and cash equivalents, over equity attributable to
the Shareholders) was 0.56 times (2023: 0.34 times).

MBERMARBES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$223,276,000 (2023: HK$317,506,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had borrowings of
approximately HK$103,091,000 (2023: HK$65,959,000). Certain
loans are subject to the fulfilment of covenants commonly found
in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group
was to breach the covenants, the draw down facilities would
become repayable on demand. In addition, the Group's certain
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loan agreements contain clauses which give the lenders the right ~ FEHEFIBER2EHIBEERIIZIER 2 &
at their sole discretion to demand immediate repayment at any X’ MAWRASEERES %?ﬁ%ﬁ?@%’ﬂ?ﬁ’ze}%
time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with the  {TFEEERSE o
covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings is as follows: rEFEZEERBUT
2024 2023
e 11 £ 5 St -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(Audited) (Audited)
(REZ) (R&EIZ)
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMEEE 30,740 10,188
Variable-rate borrowings FENEEE 72,351 55,771
103,091 65,959
Secured =Riseiid 72,567 55,771
Unsecured AL 30,524 10,188
103,091 65,959
The carrying amounts of the above borrowings ZBF LN HERERER LG
are repayable: BZERE1E -
Within one year or on demand —FAFREK 95,546 38,439
In the second year BF 7,545 5,759
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoEFLF(BEEEMT) - 21,761
103,091 65,959
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Note:

The average effective interest rates per annum on the Group’s
borrowings are as follows:

MsE -

FEBBEZ FHERFANFRAT -

2024 2023
Average effective interest rate: SEHERAIE
Fixed-rate borrowings BEMKEE 10.6% 9.5%
Variable-rate borrowings FERNREE 7.3% 7.4%

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

During the year under review, the Group mainly generated
revenue and incurred costs in Hong Kong dollars and Australian
dollars. The Group did not invest in any derivative product for
hedging during the year under review. Nevertheless, the Group
will keep monitoring its foreign currency risk and when there are
uncertainties or material fluctuations in the foreign exchange
rates, the Group will consider using appropriate hedging
instruments, including futures and forward contracts in managing
the Group's exposure in relation to fluctuations in the foreign
exchange rates.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

While certain borrowing facilities of the Group as at 31 December
2024 were secured by freehold land, buildings and motor vehicles
of approximately HK$75,611,000, borrowing facilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 were secured by freehold land
and buildings of approximately HK$85,162,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Significant capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

BEE SR

B KR

-

ECNERER_E_=#+_/A=+—0H >

BEINERRERSEENERESRHAZU

T
2024 2023
—EMF TET=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FH7T
(Audited) (Audited)
(B&EZ) (2 1Z)

Property, plant and equipment M~ B R

— Renovation of Balgownie - BIIERERE — 15,166

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

The Group was involved in the following legal proceedings and
claims:

(a)

On 19 December 2017, Ever Robust Holdings Limited
("Ever Robust”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received a writ of summons with a statement
of claim (“Writ") issued in the Court of First Instance
of the High Court of Hong Kong (“Court”) by Convoy
Global Holdings Limited (“Convoy”), Convoy Collateral
Limited (“Second Plaintiff”) and CSL Securities Limited
("Third Plaintiff”, together with Convoy and the Second
Plaintiff, collectively as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among
other defendants, Ever Robust (together with the other
defendants, collectively as the “Defendants”).

Based on the Writ, the orders sought by the Plaintiffs against
Ever Robust are as follows: (i) Convoy sought an order as
against, among others, Ever Robust, that the allotment of the
shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust
on 29 October 2015, be set aside; (i) the Second Plaintiff
and the Third Plaintiff sought an order that the financing
facilities granted by them, including the loan (“Convoy
Loan”) in the amount of HK$129,000,000 granted to Ever
Robust by the Second Plaintiff on 9 November 2015, and
the margin loan (“Margin Loan”) granted to Ever Robust by
the Third Plaintiff which amounted to HK$67,574,473 as at
29 March 2016, be rescinded; and (iii) the Plaintiffs sought
against, among others, Ever Robust for (a) general or special
damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs (“Convoy Proceedings”). As at 19 December
2017, Ever Robust had fully repaid the Convoy Loan and the
Margin Loan and did not hold any shares in Convoy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE5Tam R o

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference hearing
was held before the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris on the
Convoy Proceedings. On 9 July 2018, Ever Robust has
received an amended writ of summons and an amended
statement of claim (“Amended Statement of Claim”).
Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim, the reliefs
sought by the Plaintiffs against Ever Robust are amended
as follows: (i) a declaration and order as against among
others, Ever Robust, that the allotment of the shares in
Convoy by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust, on 29
October 2015, is null and void, or has been rescinded and
set aside (as sought by Convoy); (i) an account of profits
and an order for payment of any sums found to be due,
equitable compensation to be assessed, and/or damages
to be assessed for breach of fiduciary, common law and/
or statutory duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy, as against,
among others, Ever Robust (as sought by Convoy); (iii) an
order against, among others, Ever Robust, for an account
of profits and an order for payment of any sums found to
be due, equitable compensation to be assessed, and/or
damages to be assessed for breach of fiduciary, common
law and/or statutory duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful
means conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy (as sought
by the Second Plaintiff and the Third Plaintiff); and (iv)
against, among others, Ever Robust, for (a) general or special
damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other

reliefs (as sought by all the Plaintiffs).

On 27 July 2018, Ever Robust received a sealed order
(“Order”) dated 28 June 2018 against, among other
Defendants, Ever Robust, in which 11 parties are ordered to
join the proceedings as additional defendants. Pursuant to
the Order, it is further ordered, among other matters, as to
between the Plaintiffs and Ever Robust (among certain other
Defendants), that the Plaintiffs do have leave to file and

serve the Amended Statement of Claim.

On 30 November 2018, Ever Robust received a copy sealed
order dated 1 November 2018 against, among other
defendants, Ever Robust, in which a party is ordered to join

the proceedings as an additional defendant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 10 December 2018, Ever Robust filed its defence
("Defence”) to the Plaintiff's claim in the Convoy
Proceedings with the Court. Pursuant to the Defence, Ever
Robust avers that the Plaintiffs are not entitled to any relief
against Ever Robust in the Convoy Proceedings.

On 30 August 2019, Ever Robust filed its amended Defence
pursuant to the order of Hon Harris J dated 12 July 2019.

Further details of the Convoy Proceedings are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 19 December 2017, 1
June 2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018.

After seeking the legal opinion, the Group considered that
there was no assessed monetary claim by Plaintiffs and it
is premature to give opinion on the probable outcome and
estimate the ultimate liability.

On 2 January 2018, Ever Robust received a petition
("Petition”) issued in the Court by Zhu Xiao Yan
("Petitioner”) against, among other respondents, Ever
Robust. Based on the Petition, the Petitioner has held and
continues to hold 3,234,000 shares in Convoy since around
mid-2015, and the Petitioner sought the following orders
against, among others, Ever Robust: (i) a declaration that the
placement of 3,989,987,999 shares in Convoy by Convoy to,
among other placees, Ever Robust, and/or such placed shares
are void ab initio and of no legal effect or, alternatively,
be set aside; (ii) damages for dilution of the Petitioner’s
shareholding; (iii) interest; (iv) such further or other relief and
all necessary and consequential directions as the Court may
think fit; and (v) costs (“Zhu Proceedings”). As at 2 January
2018, Ever Robust did not hold any shares in Convoy.

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference was held
on the Zhu Proceedings, in which the Honourable Mr. Justice
Harris made an order that the Zhu Proceedings be stayed
with liberty to restore, pending the outcome of the Convoy
Proceedings.

Further details of the Zhu Proceedings are set out in the
Company's announcement dated 2 January 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE D—_I-DFFH& *ﬁ—

The Group has sought preliminary opinion on the above
legal proceedings from its solicitors (or legal adviser) in Hong
Kong, who, based on the information available as of the
date of this Annual Report, is of the opinion that:

—  there is no assessed monetary claim except the
Plaintiffs’ claim and the Petitioner’s claims against Ever
Robust for damages to be assessed;

= it is premature to give opinion on the probable
outcome; and

—  itis premature to estimate the ultimate liability.

No provision was made for the legal proceedings stated above, as
the Group is not able to reliably assess the amount of potential
liabilities under such cases. The Company will, in accordance with
the applicable laws, make every effort to protect the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders, proactively respond to the
above cases and defend its position vigorously. The Company will
closely monitor the development of the above matters and make
further announcements if and when there are any significant
developments in relation to each of these legal proceedings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Litigation and Claims”
in the Management Discussion and Analysis in this Annual Report,
as at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 119
employees (2023: 130). The increase in the number of employees
as at 31 December 2024 as compared with that as at 31
December 2023 was mainly due to the increase in number of
trained staff in Balgownie during the year under review, so as
to improve the customers’ satisfaction in Balgownie. Staff costs
(including the Directors’ salaries, allowances and bonuses totalled
approximately HK$38,635,000 for the year under review (2023:
HK$37,732,000). The Group continues to maintain and upgrade
the capabilities of its workforce by providing them with adequate
and regular training.

Remuneration of employee is determined by reference to industry
practices and performance, qualifications and experience of
individual employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The emolument policies of the Directors are decided by the Board,
taking into account the recommendations of the remuneration
committee of the Board, having regard to merit, qualifications
and competence of the Directors.

On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to employees and the Directors by
reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual
performance of such employees and/or Directors, and other
benefits including contributions to pension scheme and medical
scheme are also provided to the employees.

The Company adopted the share option scheme pursuant to an
ordinary resolution of all the then Shareholders passed on 4 June
2020, and the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion,
to grant options to eligible participants including any eligible
employee, any directors (including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary of the Company or any invested entity; any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any customer of any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the Group or
any invested entity, any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any invested entity, any professional
adviser, consultant, individual or entity who in the opinion of the
Directors has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group, and any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement
to the development and growth of the Group. Following the
amendments to Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules which
came into effect from 1 January 2023, the Group will only grant
options to such eligible participants which are permitted under
the GEM Listing Rules. There was no share option outstanding
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). Details of the share options
outstanding during the year under review are set out in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in the Directors’
Report in this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS PROFILE
EE/EN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, aged 40, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”)
with effect from 17 September 2021. Mr. Ng obtained his
Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Financial Economics Degree
from the University of New South Wales in 2008. Thereafter,
Mr. Ng further completed his Master of Science in Financial
Mathematics Degree from the Bayes Business School of the City
University of London (formerly known as Cass Business School
of the City University of London) in 2014. Mr. Ng is experienced
in banking and finance, and previously worked in various banks
and financial institutions. Mr. Ng was appointed as an executive
director of China Demeter Financial Investments Limited (“China
Demeter”), a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock
Code: 8120), with effect from 3 July 2018. He has also been
appointed as the chief executive officer of China Demeter since
1 December 2020. Mr. Ng is the younger brother of Mr. Ng Ting
Kit, a substantial shareholder (having the meaning ascribed to it
in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company, who, as at the date of
this Annual Report, beneficially owns 497,180,000 shares of the
Company (“Shares”) and the entire issued share capital of King's
Group Capital Limited (which owns 260,800,000 Shares as at the
date of this Annual Report).

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Fong Chak Kiu (formerly known as Fong Hing Lun), aged
44, has been appointed as an executive Director, the compliance
officer and an authorised representative of the Company with
effect from 19 August 2021. Mr. Fong obtained a Double Degree
of Commerce and Business Systems from the Monash University,
Australia in October 2004, and a Master of Finance degree from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009. Mr. Fong
has more than eight years of experience in business development.
Mr. Fong has been a business development manager of a
securities company in Hong Kong since April 2017, which is
licensed to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising
on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Mr. Fong is also licensed to carry
out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, aged 60, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 15
December 2011. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of Arts
in International Accounting from the City University of Hong
Kong and a Master’'s Degree of Corporate Governance from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in the taxation,
accounting, financing, audit fields and public listed companies
for many years. Mr. Wong has been appointed as an executive
director and the chairman of DeTai New Energy Group Limited
("DeTai”), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 559). Mr. Wong is also an
independent non-executive director of (i) China Water Industry
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1129); (ii) Baijin Life Science Holdings
Limited (previously known as Affluent Partners Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 1466); and (iii) Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
("Yuk Wing") (Stock Code: 1536), all companies whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an
independent non-executive director of Worldgate Global Logistics
Limited (Stock Code: 8292), a company whose shares are listed
on GEM from June 2016 to June 2023. He is the chairman of
each of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company.

DIRECTORS PROFILE
SEEN

BIIFRTES

=k EE 60 N _E—F+_-_A+
hHEZTABIIENTES - EREFES
BT AREE L EERE A NBBEIE2URE
BIET KEESE Y PEEAELTEN - KAS
B AE T ENEESF ARG MAT
BREE o BAERRK - 5t « MBS
FEMUKRR AR LT ARBE ZLEEREE °
ErREEEAAERTERERERAT(E
T HRMOPBZFIEMR LT » RIDMASE -
S59) HITEERERF c ELENAUTEZR
NBZBILIERITES | ()PEKEEESR
N (RRIDEE © 1129) ; (VB ERIE2TR
BREAS (BIEAREIZERAERAT) (BRIDA
%1 1466) ; R(iNVEREBIZERBRAE (R
AR3% 1 1536) (MNBE ) » 2IATHIKRMN S
AT ER EHAT - WY AREBYIRAR
NE (P ACEE - 8292 HRM BN —_ZE—/<
FRBE_E - =ZF/BNGEMLE™) ZEIL
FRITES - RAXABEZEZER  BRRZE
EgRFNEEERBZER o

ERBERZERERAR | — T -HNFFR 35



DIRECTORS PROFILE
EE/EN

Mr. Chan Ming Kit, aged 45, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 2 September
2021. Mr. Chan has more than ten years of experience in the
compliance and legal industry. From April 2007 to August
2011, Mr. Chan worked at G2000 (Apparel) Limited and left as
a compliance officer. From April 2015 to June 2017, Mr. Chan
worked as an assistant solicitor at M.C.A. Lai Solicitors LLP, a
law firm. From June 2017 to February 2018, Mr. Chan worked
as a consultant solicitor at Chan & Ho Solicitors, a law firm.
From March 2018 to June 2022, Mr. Chan worked as a partner
at Chan & Ho Solicitors, a law firm. In July 2022, Mr. Chan
established Joseph M.K. Chan, Solicitors, a law firm, and works
as the principal solicitor. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree
in laws from University of Sheffield in the United Kingdom in
June 2005. Mr. Chan obtained a postgraduate certificate in laws
from City University of Hong Kong in July 2011. Mr. Chan was
called to the barrister in Hong Kong in April 2012 and he was
admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in March
2015. Mr. Chan has been an independent non-executive director
of Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1645), since 4 May 2020. Mr. Chan was
an independent non-executive director of Nexion Technologies
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock Code:
8420), for the period from 31 May 2017 to 2 November 2020.
He is a member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul, aged 87, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 10
September 2021. Mr. Tong obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1963. He went to
Yale University and obtained a master’s degree in sacred theology
in July 1971. He then furthered his studies in the University of
Cambridge, England, and obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts in
June 1987. Mr. Tong was called to the bar in Hong Kong in 1989.
Mr Tong then further pursued a master’s degree in arts in the
University of Cambridge, England in February 1991. Mr. Tong was
a panel member of the Securities and Futures Appeals Tribunal
for the period between April 2009 and March 2011. Mr. Tong
was appointed as a life fellow of St. John's College, the University
of Hong Kong in 2008. Mr. Tong has been an independent non-
executive director of Ching Lee Holdings Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 3728), since 10 March 2016. He is a member of
each of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company.
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The Directors present herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024. The Management Discussion and Analysis in this
Annual Report forms part of this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year under review was derived from
its business activities carried on in Hong Kong and Australia.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2024 by operating segments is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in the paragraph headed “Business and
Financial Review” in the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 8 to 23 in this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
Risks which are relevant to the Group and its business
(i) Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

The local business risks in Australia in relation to the Group’s
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia could
have material impact on the businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects of the Group’s
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia.
The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to
different and changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory
and environmental requirements at the local, national or
international level in Australia. Also, new policies or measures
introduced by the governments in Australia, whether fiscal,
tax, regulatory or environmental, or other changes taking
place which affect market competition, may lead to an
increase in the Group’s operating expenses and capital
expenditures, an increase in market competition, a decrease
in the overall investment return of the Group’s businesses
and may delay or disrupt the commercial operation of a
business resulting in a loss of revenue and profit, which may
adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects.
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(ii) Money lending business

The money lending business of the Group is exposed to
possible default from the customers, which involves the risk
of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of customers
to meet their contractual obligations. If the customers of
the money lending business of the Group fail to meet their
contractual obligations, the Company may need to incur
additional costs to realise the collaterals for the relevant
secured loans, if any. The risks of losses will be higher for
unsecured loans in the event of default. However, the
Group has adopted prudent credit procedures in customers’
acceptance so as to minimise the credit risk of the Group.

(iii) Assets investments business

For the Group's assets investments business, the Group
aims at maximising the profits of the Company for the
Shareholders and will revamp its investment strategy
and explore investment opportunities with due care and
diligence. Due to the volatility and uncertainties of the
securities market in Hong Kong, the Group may suffer
losses on securities trading in the future if the investment
strategy the Group has adopted does not fit the then market
conditions. The Group will regularly review its investment
portfolio and determine a suitable investment strategy to
cater for the changes in the market conditions.

Risks which are relevant to the industry and market in
which the Group operates

The Group may face risks and uncertainties posed by local
political, regulatory and religious environments and failure to
comply with country-specific regulatory restrictions may expose
the Group to fines, penalties and liabilities. There is no assurance
that the current government policies, economic and social
conditions in the regions where the Group’s business operates
will not undergo significant changes in the future. Any new
rules and regulations introduced and implemented in the future
which regulate the business in hospitality and related services in
Australia, money lending and assets investments, may adversely
affect the business, international expansion and growth prospects
of the Group. The Group will from time to time obtain updates
on relevant rules and regulations from external professionals to
review and ensure the Group is in compliance with the applicable
regulations and requirements.
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Foreign Currency Risks

The results of the Group are reported in Hong Kong dollars but
its subsidiaries may receive revenue and incur expenses in other
currencies. Any currency fluctuations arising from the translation
of the accounts of these subsidiaries, and the repatriation of
earnings, equity investments and loans may adversely affect the
Group's businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects. A depreciation or fluctuation in the currencies
in which the Group conducts its operations relative to the Hong
Kong dollar could adversely affect the Group’s businesses,
financial conditions, results of operations and growth prospects.

The Group is in the process of implementing its strategy of
achieving a diversified business portfolio to reduce its reliance on
revenue and income generated from one single major segment
or geographical location, so as to minimise the risks related to
fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates. The Group may also
consider to use appropriate hedging instruments, including
futures and forward contracts in the management of exposure
caused by fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.

Financial Instrument Risks

The Group is subject to market risks, such as those in relation
to currency fluctuations and volatility of interest rates, price
risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk in the normal course of the
Group's business. Particulars of the nature and extent of financial
instrument risks of the Company are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Directors are not aware of any significant event after the
reporting period for the Group and up to the date of this Annual
Report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the consolidated financial results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years are set out on page 300 in this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year under review are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 129 and 130. The Board does
not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 9.4% of the total sales for the year under review,
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
approximately 3.6%. Purchases from the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 67.7% of the total
purchases for the year under review, and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
20.1%.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders (whom to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest at any time during the year under review
in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$49,000 (2023: HK7,000).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s acquisitions and disposals during the
year under review and the particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in notes 34 and 45 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year under review are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 133 in this Annual Report and note 33
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024. the Company had no distributable
income.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable reserve
of approximately HK$19,092,000 including accumulated losses
of approximately HK$1,169,018,000. Under the Company’'s
memorandum of continuance, the Bye-Laws and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies Act”), details
of the contributed surplus and share premium of the Company
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed on the Stock
Exchange during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this Annual Report, there was no matter
required to be disclosed in accordance with Rule 17.50A(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules in relation to the changes in the information
relating to the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors who held office during the year under review and
up to the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Chairman)

Executive Directors:
Ms. Lam Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer) (resigned with
effect from 1 January 2025)

Mr. Fong Chak Kiu
Mr. Zhang Hongju (appointed and resigned with effect
from 26 April 2024 and 1 January

2025, respectively)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chan Ming Kit
Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul
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In accordance with Bye-Law 84 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Ng Ting Ho
and Mr. Fong Chak Kiu will retire and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

None of the Directors who are being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Each of Mr. Ng Ting Ho, Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, Mr. Wong Siu
Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul, had
been re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing from 1
January 2025 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to the requirement of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has received an annual written confirmation of his
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers that all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save for disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting
during or at the end of the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, a non-executive Director, is a director of each
of Way Union Finance Limited and Delight Sky Finance Limited,
which are principally engaged in the money lending business in
Hong Kong, that are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Demeter.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
Shareholder of the Company or their respective close associates
had an interest in any business, apart from the businesses of
the Group, which competes or may compete either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year under
review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during or at the end of the year under review was
there any arrangement where rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouse or
minor children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors of the Company
had, or was deemed to have, any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of
dealings by the Directors as referred to in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Substantial Shareholders — long position in the shares of
the Company
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Substantial shareholder
FERE
Ng Ting Kit (“Mr. Ng") Beneficial owner 497,180,000 9.64%
REGE(REE)) BmEAA
Interest of a controlled corporation 260,800,000 5.06%
(Note 2)
PR 2 (MY 5E2)
Other person
HEMAL
King's Group Capital Limited ("KGCL") Beneficial owner (Note 2) 260,800,000 5.06%
REAERR A PR A S (TRERIER ) BEnEa A (ME2)
Notes: PEE

1. This is based on the total issued Shares as at 31 December 2024, i.e.
5,156,035,108 Shares.

2. Based on the notices of disclosure of interests of Mr. Ng and KGCL
each filed with the Stock Exchange on 27 March 2024, such Shares
were held by KGCL, which is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ng.
As such, Mr. Ng is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
KGCL by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, there were
no Shareholders or other persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company recorded in the
register as required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the emolument policy of the Company are set out in
the paragraph headed “Employees’ Remuneration Policies” in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 32 to 33 in this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board is authorised, at
its absolute discretion, to grant options to eligible participants
including any eligible employee, any directors (including non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of
the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any invested
entity; any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any invested entity, any customer of any member of the
Group or any invested entity, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any invested entity, any shareholder of
any member of the Group or any invested entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
invested entity, any professional adviser, consultant, individual or
entity who in the opinion of the Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the Group, and
any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
the Group. Following the amendments to Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules which came into effect from 1 January 2023, the
Group will only grant options to such eligible participants which
are permitted under the GEM Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards for
eligible participants’ contribution to the Group and/or to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested
entity.

The maximum entitlement of each participant would not exceed
1% of the aggregate number of shares for the time being issued
and issuable in any 12-month period under the Scheme.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option and an offer of the grant of option may be
accepted within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the date of offer).
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The exercise price will be determined by the Directors, but may
not be less than the highest of the closing price of the shares on
the GEM on the date of the grant of the option or the average
of the closing price of the shares on the GEM for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant of the
option or the nominal value of the shares.

The Scheme shall remain in force for the period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date of the Scheme which was 9
June 2020.

The number of options available for grant under the existing
Scheme limit as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 and
the maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 533,623,510 shares of HK$0.01 each
(representing approximately 10.35% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this Annual Report). During the
year ended 31 December 2024, no options have been granted
under the existing Scheme limit.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 10 years from the date of grant but subject to
the early termination of the Scheme.

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held or
no performance target which must be achieved before any of the
options can be exercised.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, there were no
share options outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Scheme.

Details of the Scheme are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE LOANS

In December 2021 and January 2022, Endless Foison Limited
("EFL"), a subsidiary of the Company and an investment holding
company that holds 48.33% equity interest of Luck Key, issued
convertible loan notes (“Convertible Notes”) in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$7,600,000 to parties independent of the
Group, for funding the general working capital of the Group.
The Convertible Notes will mature on 31 March 2024 (“Maturity
Date”) and do not carry interest. The Convertible Notes may be
convertible into fully paid ordinary shares of EFL at the option of
the holders of the Convertible Notes (“Noteholders”), based on
the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes, the
agreed valuation of the Company and the then number of issued
shares of EFL in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Notes. Based on the outstanding aggregate principal
amount of the Convertible Notes of HK$7,600,000 and the
number of issued shares of EFL as at 31 December 2023 and the
terms and conditions of the Convertible Notes, the full exercise of
the conversion right of such outstanding Convertible Notes will
not result in issue of more than 5% of the existing issued shares
of EFL. The Noteholders may also request for early redemption
of the Convertible Notes by EFL at 105% of the par value of
the Convertible Notes during the period from the first business
day immediately after 31 March 2023 and the date which is 10
business days immediately before the Maturity Date.

The gross proceeds of the issue of the Convertible Notes of
HK$7,600,000 received by EFL were fully utilized as general
working capital of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Convertible
Notes of approximately HK$694,000 (2023: HK$Nil) were repaid
and the maturity date of the remaining Convertible Notes were
renegotiated with the corresponding Noteholders which agreed
extend to 31 March 2026. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the remaining Convertible Notes were derecognised
following a substantial modification when the maturity date of
the Convertible Notes was extended and the option to convert
them into fully paid ordinary shares of EFL was expired. As a result
of the substantial modification, the remaining unpaid portion of
these Convertible Notes was reclassified as other borrowings.

Save as disclosed above, there was no conversion or redemption
of the Convertible Notes during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save that the related party transactions as disclosed in notes
(v) and (vi) to note 37(a) and note 37(b) to the consolidated
financial statements constituted continuing connected transaction
or connected transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules of the Company, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements do
not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director and the Director’'s connected party
or a controlling shareholder had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year under
review.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to its employees.
The Group has adopted paperless systems and practices in its
daily operations, such as human resources and procurement, as
appropriate. Creating a paperless working environment not only
alleviates environmental damages but also fits the commercial
goals of the Group, which saves physical space, facilitates
information sharing via IT networks, and reduces complicated
documentation procedures for the Group. Moreover, duplex
printing and copying have become the norm within the Group,
greatly reducing paper consumption and saving costs. Data on
printing is regularly collected and assessed, in order to monitor
the efficacy of the Group’s paperless environment. Details of
the Group’s commitments and efforts are summarised in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this Annual
Report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees are valuable assets of
the Group. The Group ensures all employees are reasonably
remunerated, and continues to improve, regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. Employees are encouraged to
devote their time to participate in local fund-raising activities.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and business partners to
meet its immediate and long-term goals. Based on the Group's
business nature, most of the customers are occasional and non-
routine. To minimise credit risk, the Group in general does not
allow credit sales for individual customers. On the other hand,
credit terms ranging from 30 days to 180 days are given to
sizable corporate customers and major customers with long-
term business relationships with the Group. The Group values the
feedback from its customers and always tries to understand their
needs through regular communication and business updates.

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS") 9 “Financial
instruments” the expected credit loss model requires an ongoing
measurement of credit risk associated with a financial asset.
Under this model, the Group recorded provision for impairment
loss of approximately HK$1,581,000 (2023: HK$175,000) on
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables and provision
for impairment loss of approximately HK$2,459,000 (2023:
HK$280,000) on deposits and other receivables for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such
as the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”), the GEM Listing Rules, and
other applicable local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of
the Group.

In addition, the Group is subject to the requirements under
various laws in relation to its different business segments. The
laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the business
and operations of the Group are as follows.
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Australia including the relationships between
suppliers, wholesalers, retailer, and
consumers by promoting fair trading and
competition and through the provision of
consumer protections.

QOI0FHRFRBEEER) RERMNEE
ﬂ?iﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ » EIE B AERS -
HER TEBROHEE ZBRRIE
E!T_'f/@i_/l-_\\”,\%&ﬁﬁ% » WA HBEE
RMHIRE

ERBERZERERAR | — T -HNFFR 51



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTHRSE

Business

e

Primary legislation/regulations

TEERRER

Implication

Provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia

PN (HB S e AR R AR TS

Money lending business

Australian Consumer Law
(Australia)

CRNHE B 7E) CEM)

Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

Qi INC D)
(BFEREAFIFE1635)

The Australian Consumer Law covers general
standards of business conduct, prohibits
unfair trading practices, regulates specific
types of business-to-consumer transactions,
provides basic consumer guarantees for
goods and services, and regulates the safety
of consumer products and product-related
services.
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The Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (i) provides for
the control and regulation of money lenders
and money-lending transactions and the
licensing of persons carrying on business
as money lenders; and (i) provides
protection and relief against excessive
interest rates and extortionate stipulations
in respect of loans. The Group has to carry
on its money lending business in compliance
with this ordinance, such as the
requirements on entering into loan
transactions and the restriction on the
interest rates of the loans.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision that meets the requirements
specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year under review. The Company has taken out
and maintained directors’ liability insurance during the year under
review, which provides appropriate cover for the directors of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this Annual Report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float under the GEM
Listing Rules as at the date of this Annual Report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

AUDITOR

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited will retire and being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited as
the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Ting Ho
Chairman

31 March 2025
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BIE  HEREARS

INTRODUCTION TO THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance report (the “Report”)
provides an overview of the initiatives, plans and performance
of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
the "Group” or "We", together with its subsidiaries) in
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG"”) and demonstrates
its commitment to sustainable development.

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures
taken by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period”, “Year”, “2024", "FY2024").

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers the Group’s business activities in relation
to the provision of hospitality and related services in Australia,
money lending business, and asset investment business in Hong
Kong. Therefore, this ESG Report encompasses the operating
locations of these businesses, including the Balgownie Estate
Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley (“Balgownie”) and a general
administrative office in Hong Kong.

It conducts operations in three primary business sectors: (i)
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia; (i) money
lending business; and (iii) assets investments business.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied
the Reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as
follows:

o “Materiality” — A materiality assessment was conducted to
identify material issues during the Reporting Period, thereby
adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus for the
preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was
reviewed and confirmed by the Board.

o “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
quantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report to explain any
standards, methodologies, and source of conversion factors
used during the calculation of environmental KPI.

o “Balance” — This Report aims to provide a holistic and fair
view of the sustainability performance of the Group and has
not omitted any information related to material ESG topics.

o “Consistency” — The approach adopted for the preparation
of this ESG Report was substantially consistent with the
previous year, and explanations were provided regarding
data with changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation
methodologies.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This ESG Report contains forward-looking statements which
are based on the current expectations, estimations, projections,
beliefs, and assumptions of the Group about the businesses
and the markets in which it operates. These forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance and are
subject to market risks, uncertainties, and factors beyond the
control of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes may differ from
the assumptions made and the statements contained in this ESG
Report.

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

This Report was endorsed by the ESG Working Group and
approved by the Board in March 2025.
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CONTACT US

Your feedback is valuable to our continuous improvement, and
we welcome any comments and suggestions you may have on
this Report or our future ESG strategy in general. Please share any
comments or suggestions regarding the Group’s ESG performance
writing to 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group adopts a top-down management approach towards
its ESG issues. The Board carries the primary responsibility for
overseeing the Group’s ESG affairs and remains vigilant about
emerging ESG challenges that could influence the Group.
It supervises the Group's ESG performance, formulates ESG
strategies, and periodically evaluates the Group’s progress in
meeting ESG objectives. Additionally, the Board determines the
priority of the Group’s sustainability initiatives and ensures the
efficacy of the Group's risk management and internal controls.

Specific individuals within the Group are assigned to systematically
identify and tackle ESG issues. These designated personnel ensure
the successful implementation of the Group’s sustainability
measures. They also gather and analyse pertinent ESG data,
compare it against set targets, and present their findings to the
Board. The Board will review the results and provide feedback and
assess whether a follow-up plan and additional effort should be
devoted in attaining the ESG goals.

THE BOARD STATEMENT

The Board, being ultimately responsible for monitoring the
Group's ESG issues, including ESG management approach,
strategy, and policies, holds a crucial role in ensuring effective
oversight. To comprehensively manage the Group's ESG
performance and proactively identify potential risks, the Board
conducts materiality assessments, when necessary, with the
assistance of the ESG committee. These assessments evaluate and
prioritise material ESG-related issues, considering the opinions
of stakeholders. Additionally, the Board reviews the progress
made against ESG-related goals and targets, establishing a direct
connection between these goals and targets and their relevance
to the issuer’s businesses.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group is dedicated to fostering a sustainable approach within
its ESG strategies to enhance performance in environmental
protection and social responsibility. Valuing the input from
stakeholders, the Group actively seeks to understand, respond to,
and address the primary concerns of various stakeholders through
close communication. To facilitate effective communication and
incorporate stakeholder feedback into sustainable management
and ESG strategy development, a wide array of communication
channels has been established.

When formulating operational and ESG strategies, the Group
considers stakeholders’ expectations through diverse engagement
methods and communication channels. These methods and
channels are outlined below:

Stakeholders Communication channels

Rig s 1B RERAWRS

FnESH

REERINAERE - £ REARBEDHA
AREEREAH > BILRSERRERERLE
SEHENKRE - AEBEEREAFNENR
R ZBRRYER > TFTH  DEKREER
MENTEMEIEE - BT AVBERRFD
ENREMATFEEERIRE %iAEZE/u
SREEBVHIE - HFIBRIULZTEREE

ERFTEERIRE - T EREAREE » A&
EEgUZTENBBESIRERRE » TRE
REFMENIE - LUNEHIBREEES AR
[N

Expectations

FEERAS 28755 HAZE
Employees e Employee Activities e Health and Safety
== (FE=VEE) EREZE
e  Professional Training e Equal Opportunities
B | TERE
e Performance Appraisal e Compensation and Benefits
AT # & R AE A
e On-site meetings and discussions e  Career Development
R L HEZE
e legal rights and interests
pZ e K
Customers o Customer Satisfaction Surveys o Quality Services
eSS BERRRERE BER
e Customer Service Center e Personal Safety
B RARFEHL BAZZE
o Complains Review Meeting ° Compliant Operation
RiFrEEER aREE
e  Hotline e Privacy Protection
HIRET NG
e Emails and Website e  Seamless Communication
BE R L mERE
Suppliers e Supplier Meetings and Events e  Contract Performance
HAERS HEE G HENEE BHETT
e Business Ethics
[EES 3L
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Rig » 1B REARS

Stakeholders
M AERE A

Communication channels

287N

Expectations

HAZ

Investors and Shareholders

KREEMRE

Government and Regulators

BN B E S

Community, NGOs, and Media
& ~ JFETAEAAN IR RS
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e Annual General Meeting
REBFARE

e Special Report
1S5RS

*  Financial Reporting
HmRE

e Announcements and Circulars
N GYSFET

° Written or electronic
correspondences

SENEFEN

e Public and Community Events
NENT &GS

o Community Investment Programs

HERETE
o ESG Reports
RIE - HEKRERRS

e Compliant Operation
aREE

e Information Disclosure
Bl E

o Financial Performance
AAF5HER

° Corporate Governance
TEER

o Involvement in the decision-making
process
SHELRTRIERE

e Compliance with Regulations
BTER

o Security Operations
ZE2EE

e Transparent information disclosure
FEHANERRKE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A materiality assessment in the form of surveys was conducted
during FY2024, where the Group’s stakeholders evaluated the
materiality of different ESG issues of the Group based on several
criteria, including but not limited to direct financial implications
and the level of impact the Group's activities may have on the
environment and society. Sustainability factors that were material
to the Group’s business operations have been reviewed by the
Board, management and employees, who are responsible for the
key functions of the Group.

The following matrix is a summary of the Group’s material ESG
issues:

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
IRIE s S RERERG

EBIT(S

RN E > BPIUBREHNETEEN
HE o SEEFDERESEREN GRER
TERE - HEREAFENEERYE > B1EE
NRNERU B ERAEEBIE A SEHIR
BRAGELRXENEE - EFg - BEEK
BEAEEZOBENEECERN XS
ZEMEBEANAFEERAR -

UTERERAEEERRE - tEhEREE
AUBEER :

MATERIALITY MATRIX OF THE GROUP

High
= REEEEMIEMRE
Data and intellectual property
rights protection
° PR RARERRE
Climate change adaptation Anti-corruption
and risk mitigation 5
BRI E R R bk Customer health and safety
BRRENZS .
n Product quality and safety Supply chain management
S u EREERER i) ° o
2 %ﬁm Community engagement
< Y [} HEem [ ] [ J Business ethics
g N _ Employees' rights and welfare [EESEE
g ﬁg Greenhouse gas emissions %I}g%”&@%] Customer service and
g E TRERBEHER ° Y PS complaint management
85 BRRBREHEE . N
£ qual opportunities and
® Waste management ® antidiscrimination
BEYER Occupational health FERE KRR
° and safety
Use of resources REAEARS
EEEH Employees' training and
development
BTHERER
Low Impact on Business High
18 EES vd 7 Tl =
1 Business ethics 9 Supply chain management
HEER HrEREIE
2 Customers health and safety 10  Data and intellectual property rights protection
ERERAZE IR R A HEEIRE
3 Customer service and complaint management " Community engagement
BRIRG R HFEE HEsH
4 Employees’ rights and welfare 12 Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination
(S SYSEE TEME RIS
5 Anti-corruption 13 Waste management
R&5 BEEY)EIE
6 Occupational health and safety 14 Climate change adaptation and risk mitigation
BEREHEATY T FE R R G e R B AR
7 Employees’ training and development 15 Use of resources
EEEIHERE BIRfEA
8 Product quality and safety 16 Greenhouse gas emissions
EnBERER B E R ARHIN

ERBERZERERAR | — T -HNFFR
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BIE  HEREARS

ENVIRONMENTAL

In line with our commitment to environmental protection, the
Group consistently prioritises and promotes the principles of
green development. We recognise the significance of minimising
the environmental footprint of our operations and strive to
implement sustainable practices at every level. Our dedication
to environmental management drives us to continually refine
and optimise our existing measures. We proactively develop
and implement relevant systems that adhere to stringent
environmental standards. By enhancing our energy efficiency and
adopting innovative technologies, we actively reduce pollution
emissions.

Environmental Targets — Our Progress

In order to support global efforts to address climate change,
accelerate the pace of transition to a green and low-carbon
economy, resolutely achieve the “2050 carbon neutrality”
goals, and assess the effectiveness of the Group’s strategies and
measures to mitigate the impact of climate change, we had set
environmental targets of the Group, using FY2020 as baseline and
keeping our figures as the same as or lower than the baseline, as
below.

815

REHRIFRENKE > AEE—BEBRILE
B e RRA o JPITHERAREM R
EETNRREETNEEMN » WEHERER
EEMAIFEZERIBEL - HARONIRIREE
o (R TECCENBCIRBIE © ?JafF'ﬁ
BB ERRERTSBBREEENHEREZR
i o BBIRBIERE R A RIFTHAM > Ff
AR TS R o

RIEAR-HMANER

ARFEIKEHRGEEEMNEN  MREEE
BESEBEND X« BREBRI—TRTF
B A BRI R S EERERIEEER
EVRERIBMAAN > RAEREREERN
RIFEER LT ZHEREE > TREFK
PR FEAEERRERERE > W0F -

2020

Environmental Aspects Units (baseline) 2024 Progress

“BIEF
RIGEE B (B#E) ZTZ@WE ERE
Greenhouse Gas emissions intensity tCOze/miIIion revenue 30.76 14.03 1 54%
BEREHREE WE_SEREE BEWA
Energy consumption intensity kWh/mllllon revenue 36,387 23,485 135%
SERHERE TRE BEWA
Water consumption intensity m3/million revenue 202.96 134.71 1 34%
RKZE THKSBERA
Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/million revenue 0.43 1.84 1327%
BEBRYBE WEEEUA

Setting these objectives, it provides guidance for the Group’s
business strategy. The steps taken to achieve these goals are
detailed below.

o UNEFI A
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A1. EMISSIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with environmental-
related laws and regulations in relation to exhaust gas
and greenhouse gas (“GHG"), emissions, water and land
discharge, and the generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste that would have a significant impact on the
Group. Such laws and regulations include but not limited to
the Road Traffic Ordinance, the Waste Disposal Ordinance,
the Water Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
State Environment Protection Policy (Ambient Air Quality)
and the Environment Protection Act 2017 of Victoria,
Australia.

AIR EMISSIONS

To align the global development of the low-carbon economy,
the Group pays attention to its air emissions arise from the
daily operations. The principles sources of air emissions are
the combustion of diesel for company vehicles.

Rig s 1B RERAWRS

A1 BER

RIEME > AEBTAMBEFREKN
BRAERKEAERE (NRAEREE)) B
ok s THBFRUREERERES
BREYVAERMETERBEEARZENIER
IBHEBERER - 2FAREAREEE
NRPREBENERZERG) - (BEYR
BIRAF) ~ CIOTREBURA) ~ BN A
SR DM (RIBRERRRRERE
B))R(ZE—tFIRIRFREZE) °

BEmBFR

mEaENERCESER > ~EEBT
HEEERELNRERIFM - BRI
M EZRIRE AT EMBIAMMANE ©

Type of Air Pollutants Unit 2024 2023
ERSRYER B ZEZNE T =F
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) kg 34.2 5.17
K[|1EY(NO,) NS
Sulphur oxides (SO,) kg 0.14 0.09
BRE1E4(SO,) YNy
Particulate matter (“PM") kg 3.16 0.33
gk (FPM) /N
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A1. EMISSIONS (CONT'D)

62

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions were
generated from the combustion of petrol from the use of
vehicles (Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2) and paper

Al BER4) (&)
B RARH K

AEBRERBEFBNETEZRIRTLKE
fE BRI TR (BEE1) ~ SMEE
71 (8BE2) MU i IR IR IR 5 B B BE A (88

waste disposal at landfills (Scope 3). E3) o
Summary of GHG emissions performance: BERBHMXEME :
Types of GHG Emissions’ Units? 2024 2023
BEREHEHER B2 —TomE T =fF
Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions
HET - BERRERETN
e Petrol, Diesel and Natural Gas tCO,e
Consumptions 34.233 15.99
FUH S SRR RAARERE W —|ICIREE
Scope 2 — Indirect GHG Emissions
HE2 - ERRERETNR
e Purchased Electricity tCO,e 920.77 1,418.15
SNEBEE ] M —S(EIREE
Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions
HE3 - AR = RASHEN
e Paper Waste Disposed at Landfills tCO,e 5.44 5.23
IERLIR IR i ER B B EEAR Wbk EE
Total GHG Emissions tCO,e 960.45 1,439.37
RERBHRES MR ICIREE
Intensity* tCO,e/million revenue (HK$) 14.03 22.32
zE ME—EERESE BEWA

B7T)
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A1. EMISSIONS (CONT'D)

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS (Cont'd)
Summary of GHG emissions performance: (Cont’d)
Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions

To reduce fuel usage and thus air emission, the Group has
implemented the following measures:

o Switch off the engine when the vehicle is idling;

e  Plan driving routes ahead of time to optimise fuel
consumption and reduce air emissions; and

o Provide regular maintenance service for the vehicles to
ensure to optimal engine performance and fuel use.

Scope 2 = Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounts for the largest indirect GHG
emissions within the Group. The Group has implemented a
series of measures to reduce electricity consumption, such
measures will be mentioned in the section headed “A2 —
Use of Resources”.

Scope 3 = Other Indirect GHG Emissions

We report on the emissions from the use of paper under
Scope 3. Measures for handling paper and other non-
hazardous waste will be mentioned in the section headed
“Non-Hazardous Waste Handling Method”.

Rig s 1B RERAWRS

Al HER)) (&)

= RASHEK (48)
BEREHRRAHE (&)
BEF1 — B ERAETIK

75 R D R R R 8 b (R IR R /D BE R R
W AEBE BB ER

s NEERRESIE;

o IRAVRBTRIERAR - LUBICIAKEH
R BERI ; K

o  DEWRMHEEHMERT 0 IR
RIERVEBNIR M RERIRIHER ©

BIE2 - BIZR EREEDIL

BENHEGEAERRNRANBZEER
RRENE - AEBEBHR—RIELE
JUBFEREN c BRAERENIA2 -8
RER ) — B -

BB[E]3 ~ AfthATr R = R AE K
FFITE s 3 ¥Rk S A ATSRFT E £ R HF

Mo RIBARREMEZSERYBE
BN EEERYRIER X —
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A1. EMISSIONS (CONT'D)

64

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS (Cont'd)

Summary of GHG emissions performance: (Cont’d)

Notes:

1.

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited to,
“The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG report — Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the
Stock Exchange, the Global Warming Potential Values from
the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), the CLP 2023
Sustainability Report issued by published by CLP Holdings Ltd.
and the National Greenhouse Accounts Factors issued by the
Department of the Environment and Energy of Australia.

tCO,e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

In FY 2024, the increased use of vehicles in Australia led to a
corresponding rise in the overall number recorded.

During FY2024, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$68,482,000 (FY2023: HK$64,482,000)
under the reported segments. This data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.

SEWAGE DISCHARGE

Given the nature of its operations, the Group’s business
activities do not generate any substantial discharge.
Instead, the Group ensures that all wastewater generated is
appropriately channeled to local sewage treatment plants for
thorough treatment via the municipal sewage network.

Al BER4) (&)
B = RAEHEK ()

BEREBHRRAHUE - (&)

MI5E -

1.

BERBHEREEEZE _aLtHREERE
F) o WL (BARRRY) 1 5R &R ZEFT A2
HROFESEEIRESITENCR
ERBERETETE  CEIHHERSEE
) ~ B FR TSR (A EBIRE ~ 1T
BRERKRE — Bﬁﬁ-z IRIZRAREN
IEEERIES) - T2 —NEFEBFBER
ﬂi“ﬁﬁﬁﬁéaE.<|PCC)%£:%WE$E
H(ARS)B M2 IRFHRBRE[E] ~ PEER
BREABEHGN(ZE = F o] iFE%
RS RoBIMNIRIE B e R B SRRV (E
KAEREHRAREER)AEE

M SEHREER
EO

AW S b

RZE OB E » PN EEFEA
FEFRSERSTEELF o

MBI E > KEBRSHET
RIS A £968,482,00058 70 (ZE - =81
F 1 64,482,000 7T) o ILEIRISBIEST
HHEHMZESE

BIKEER

ERHEHE

BME  AEENEFIH

GEEEAEARFN - Bk » EEEE
T%%EE’JFEE}%}G’TL%@HFEZ’?R%%E

HEwH X

EEO
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A1. EMISSIONS (CONT'D)

WASTE MANAGEMENT
Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the nature of its business, the Group did not
generate any hazardous waste during the Reporting Period.
The Group has established protocols for the handling
and disposal of hazardous waste in accordance with the
Hazardous Waste (Regulation of Exports and Imports) Act
1989 of Australia and the Waste Disposal Ordinance of
Hong Kong. If any hazardous waste is generated, the Group
must engage qualified chemical waste collectors to treat
such waste to comply with relevant environmental laws and
regulations.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The majority of the non-hazardous waste generated by the
Group was cans and bottles. Hotel operations generates a
substantial amount of single-use disposable wastes, such as
plastic bottles, boxes, containers, glass bottles and cans. The
Group has therefore incorporated sustainability measures
into the daily operations of Balgownie by introducing a
robust recycling system. The Group has engaged one of
Australia’s largest recyclers to recycle the plastic bottles and
paper generated by the Group’s operations. The Group is
also planning on transitioning away from single-use plastic
items, and replacing them with more sustainable alternatives
in the future. A policy on reducing wastage is included in
the respective Employee Handbooks of the Group’s Hong
Kong head office and Balgownie. It reminds employees
to take extra care during normal duties when handling
tools, equipment, supplies and food so that the Group can
minimise its non-hazardous waste production.

We actively encourage our employees to participate in
waste recycling initiatives and emphasise the importance
of reducing, reusing, and recycling waste throughout our
operations. By integrating these practices into our day-to-
day activities, we aim to minimise our environmental impact
and contribute to the development of a sustainable business
model.

Rig s 1B RERAWRS

Al HER)) (&)

BEEREYEE
BEBERYEEL %

MREHBMNE > AEERRSHBILE
EERABESERY - AEBTERE
BN N\NFESTERYELOE
HR) RERA(BYEERIDHIES SE
FYRENEERS c WEEERES
BEEY) > AEBYUREFSERNES
BREYWEEREZSEREY > LIBT
HRRRIBI AR BOER o

HEERYEET L

rEBELENEEBERYARE D RET
RifLF o BEEEGEERE—RNME
Y MBE -2 B WEAK
Y o AEERNLEEEREEAREEE
SIATHEER AR ARG - ZEBEZE
SN R AR BN E 2 —BIAEEE
BEENBERER - ANEBITFIEE
RERUEEFNAFESE RS AH
R—REBBRR - ZEBE BB K
BHEAEREN(EIFMBIAERPEE
FUREERECR - IREREEA R TIFH
RETH - RE - BRRBYERLRINN
Do EMEREEEABERVHEES
BERYINVES -

HPEBEEEZSEERY OIS
g TaATEREEERRERAL B
MBAMEWEREYNERY - BBERZ
ZEAMAZMEEZTED > IR
BRERAREMB DHIRGENTE
WP FREmERANERFHER °
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A1. EMISSIONS (CONT'D)

66

WASTE MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

Al.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method (Cont’d)

Summary of major non-hazardous waste discharge

HEm (&)
BERMEE ()

BERRYEET L (&)

TEETEEVIIERREE !

performance:

Categories of Waste Units 2024 2023
BEEY 45! Bl —EBmE T T=F
Office Paper kg 1,134 1,090
MR T

General Waste kg 17,160 15,513
—RREEEY) T

Cans and Bottles kg 99,000 96,800
i KR F T

Wasted Packaging Materials kg 8,880 8,160
BEE A EME T

Total Non-hazardous Waste kg 126,174 121,563
mERBERYRE F5

Intensity kg/million revenue (HK$) 1,842 1,885
ZE T2/ BEWA )
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A2. USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has implemented policies and measures to
efficiently manage resource utilisation, aiming to enhance
energy efficiency and minimise the consumption of non-
essential materials. Our resource management policies and
procedures ensure effective control over resource usage.
Additionally, we prioritise the management of high-energy-
consuming equipment, regulating their operational processes
to maximise energy efficiency.

WATER CONSUMPTION

As the Group recognises the prevailing global water scarcity,
we proactively implement strategies to address this critical
issue. We promote a culture of water conservation among
employees and have implemented a range of measures to
mitigate water usage. The following are some of the water
conservation initiatives we have established:

e  Water collected from the roofs of Balgownie will be
reused for various purposes to reduce reliance on
external water supply;

o Effluent treatment systems are installed at Balgownie to
capture and treat all waste on-site, water is then reused
on irrigation of the vines and landscaping;

e  Water-saving slogans and posters are displayed as
reminders; and

o Dual flush water cisterns in toilets and faucet aerators
in sinks are installed in washroom:s.

Rig s 1B RERAWRS

A2. BR{EH

FEEBERBENEREE R AIBERKR
Bt 0 EERBIERNEIL & AIRE M
HRAOFERI LT - HANEREE
BERAMZFEARAMIERIERMER o It
Sh 0 RFIBREESFEERE > HEBHE
BIEARE » RAREMIESIERUE o

IKIFIHFE

ARAEERHI 2 REEFTEKER
FEEREIRE » B PIRR R B B SR B 2R AR R UL
FSERE - HFIMEEREIMQRK
XAE > W ERE— F 51 35 B 2R 2D A K
£ o DITEIFIHIERIED D B KHE I

s RIEWMEEEBREWERNNREIRA
RZIEEE > LU H IR KBy
R#8 ;

e BHEAEERESKEERS W
EREERZMARY)  BERESE
BRNKAREGEENERNSE
=16 ;

o REEINAKIVRERBHRUFER
BT, &

s MEEBRELMKKERIRATF
B EIKBETRR R A o

Summary of water consumption performance: F7KRIBME

Indicator Unit 2024 2023
518 =i —TomE I =fF
Total water consumption m?3 9,225 10,632
HEFEIKE K

Intensity m3/million revenue (HK$) 134.71 164.62
HE YK BEEWAGET)
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A2. USE OF RESOURCES (CONT'D)

68

ENERGY CONSUMPTION

The Group has implemented key policies and programs
focused on energy conservation to oversee and enhance
its energy efficiency. All employees are promptly informed
about the enforcement of these policies and actions. Periodic
evaluations are carried out regarding the organisation’s
energy goals to ensure ongoing enhancements in energy
consumption performance. In cases where energy
consumption at any of the Group facilities rises significantly,
reminders will be distributed via email to alert the pertinent
departments about the importance of energy conservation.

In the office, a number of green measures have been
encouraged:

o Purchase energy-efficient equipment to replace retired
equipment;

e Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use; and

e Set all computer screens and printers to standby mode
after a certain period of idling.

At Balgownie, the Group stresses the importance of
environmental sustainability, sustainable designs can be
observed throughout Balgownie. A number of elements
have been incorporated to reduce energy usage, as shown
below:

e  Power-saving devices have been installed to all units
which automatically de-activate all air conditioning and
lighting when the units are left unattended;

e Appropriate insulation and shading to the building
have been added to optimise temperature control;

e  Skylights and glazing are installed to bring more natural
light into the facilities;

e Solar heating systems are installed to complement gas
heating systems and electric efficient heat pumps; and

e Natural flow through ventilation to all units reduces the
reliance on air-conditioning usage.
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A2. USE OF RESOURCES (CONT'D)

BRig » B REAWRS

A2. BiRER (&)

ENERGY CONSUMPTION (Cont'd) REIRHFE (49)
Types of Energy Unit 2024 2023
AETRARE By “EBImE T -F
Direct Energy Consumption kWh 134,937.26° 102,762.95
E?ﬁﬂbﬁ/#ﬁ% T REF
Diesel kWh 17,703.15 3,103.94
o U&7 FEF
e Petrol kWh 89,402.78 55,499.02
o SH FREF
e Natural Gas kWh 897.99 44,160.00
o XAR T RUBF
e Town gas kWh 26,933 44,160
. B TEE
Indirect Energy Consumption kWh 1,473,344.00 1,470,319.00
RIERE IR IHFE TR B
e Electricity kWh 1,473,344.00 1,470,319.00
e E] T RUEF
Total Energy Consumption kWh 1,608,281.26 1,573,081.95
JSJI:,/ /Jﬁ%%?‘!% :FEE%
Intensity kWh/million revenue (HK$) 23,484.73 24,395.68
HE FEREBEWACET)
Note: BI5E
5.  Due to the increased gasoline consumption by company 5. HRABNSENSIREFEIL K E B
vehicles and the higher diesel usage for generators in FOEMASSHERE EA > WEENE
Australia, the overall direct energy consumption has risen BEERHFERRS L o
significantly.
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A2. USE OF RESOURCES (CONT'D) A2.

70

USE OF PACKAGING MATERIALS

The Group possesses a vineyard located in Balgownie and
has outsourced its wine production to a third-party entity.
Packaging materials are used when the Group sells wine to
its customers via its Wine Club.

Summary of packaging materials consumption performance:

BRfER (&)

B HEHER
AERUEEEREDEE > LED
BEEENOF—BE=) o AEEE
BHEEEREBEE L HEBEBEH
EEAEEE -

BEMEEHRERIEME -

Indicator Unit 2024 2023
iy Efu ZEINE T =F
Total packaging materials consumptions kg 934 1,405
B MELHFEE F5

Intensity kg/million revenue (HK$) 13.64 21.79
ZE T/ B8RWA )
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A3. THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL

RESOURCES

The Group prioritises minimising the environmental impact of
its business operations and actively implements best practices
for environmental protection. In addition to complying with
environmental laws and international standards to safeguard
the natural environment, the Group integrates principles
of environmental and natural resource conservation into its
internal management and daily operational activities. The
Group continually enhances its environmental monitoring
and early warning system and has established an emergency
response system to effectively address environmental
emergencies.

USE OF OTHER RESOURCES

During the procurement of furniture and amenities, the
Group prioritises sustainability by favoring suppliers that
provide responsibly sourced products. In delivering hospitality
services in Australia, the Group aims to reduce the reliance
on single-use disposable items, evaluate the environmental
effects and longevity of purchased goods, and seek out eco-
friendly alternatives.

NOISE CONTROL

The Group recognises that entertainment venue noise may
be generated at Balgownie. The Group abides by the State
Environment Protection Policy (Control of Music Noise from
Public Premises) No. N-2 which is incorporated in the venues'’
current liquor licences. Balgownie actively controls the music
level and limits loud music at the prescribed hours to ensure
that guests and neighbours will not be severely disrupted.
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A4. CLIMATE CHANGE
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Frequency of extreme weather conditions is on the rise, with
their devastating effects impacting a growing number of
people worldwide. The interconnectedness and complexity
of the modern world mean that climate disasters have far-
reaching consequences, affecting lives across the globe.
These profound climate impacts necessitate immediate
action towards decarbonisation. Necessary steps have been
taken to identify and assess the potential climate risks and
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opportunities, to maximise the positive impacts and minimise Ao

the negative impacts.

Climate risks and opportunities Potential impacts Mitigation Strategy
REEBREE BETE RIRTR R

Physical Risks  Increased frequency and o Decreased revenue due to extreme o Undertake precautionary measures

ERRER severity of extreme
weather events such as
strong typhoons rainfalls,
and extreme temperatures

s@ 5 e B P pR At s SRR
Fhin K REHBVERN
BREREEN

weather events that reduce customer
traffic and delay projects.
ARBRXR BB RS R
IBE » BRERD o

Increased capital expenditures for the
implementation of mitigation measures
required.

BT RERERNER S HEMm o

Increased operational costs due to
health and safety incidents.

BREZESHEHEEMAEM -

Reduced asset value due to the o
exposure of continuous climate risks.
ARFEEERIERR  EEBET

B o
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for all employees and workers during
typhoon and rainstorm season, such as
developing operation continuity plans
and conducting emergency drills.
RITEEER T ARBERENZRE
ENEAR AR R AIHIEEEEE
B BIRETERRS °

State working instructions to give
directions on preventive measures and
operational procedures.
SATIFET » ARMERRIRERE
FiRsE o

Carry out climate risk assessment and
incorporate climate-resilient designs in
new projects.
ETRERRME LS REBRER
STATRIER °

Promote the use of energy-efficient
systems
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A4. CLIMATE CHANGE (CONT'D)

Climate risks and opportunities

RIERKHE
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Potential impacts
BETE

Mitigation Strategy
IRARTREE

Transition Risks ~ Tightened requirements
BRERK and regulations on
energy efficiency and
green standards
BRENAERMEI GG
REERIER

Increased implementation
and application of
technology

NaEE 1T HY B i 2 FE P

Increased expectation from
stakeholders (including
banks, investors, among
others)

R E (BIERT  REE

F)NBERS

Increased capital expenditures for
the procurement of energy-efficient
equipment

RBMAER BB RSN o

Increased risks of non-compliance with
the requirements of green standards
BT R EBREZRIRBIEM o

Increased capital expenditures for the
procurement of new technologies and
R&D.

MR EREB AR B RO B A ST IR

Long-term opportunities to embrace
technology to improve efficiency and
branding.
RN S M EN iR R

@ o

Potential negative impacts on share
price and investor demands due to
lack of climate risk governance and
disclosure.

ARRZ RIEERAIERRE » 75
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Possible lowered cost of capital through
green finance.

BB BTRAERBERME -

o Commit to Government's schemes to
impose energy-saving measures and
procure energy-efficient equipment.
AARBNEEIAE A IR HaE &
EEE B

o Source and introduce technological
applications.

SHISIABMER -

¢ Include climate risks and opportunities
disclosure in sustainability Reports.
ERFEE RRETHARBGR R
HERE o

o Actively engage stakeholders including
government authorities, NGOs, and
professional institutes to understand
their expectations in key sustainability
areas including climate change.
BRI HEER « FFRFAASNE
ERBERHESE TRESHR
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R
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EMPLOYMENT

The Group values its relationship with all of its stakeholders.
Creating a shared value for stakeholders provides a
competitive edge for sustaining the Group’s long-term
prosperity. The Group prioritises the health and safety of
its employees through comprehensive health and safety
guidelines. To effect positive impact on the communities in
which the business operates, the Group supports impactful
social initiatives to address the needs of the underprivileged.

In FY 2024, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance that would have a significant impact on the
Group, with reference to employment-related laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Fair Work Act
2009 and the Workplace Gender Act 2012 of Australia, the
Equal Opportunity Act 2010 of Victoria, Australia and the
Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance, the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance and the Disability Discrimination Ordinance of
Hong Kong.
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2024 2023
T TET=F
Total number of employees BE4EH 110 117
Gender 451
Male B 44 43
Female % 66 74
Age Group FHe4ER
Below 30 years old 30U 42 58
30 - 50 years old 30 — 505% 44 41
Over 50 years old 50 24 18
Geographical Region &
Australia B 94 104
Hong Kong 58 16 13
Employment Type fEfEsEE
Full-Time g3 51 47
Part-Time TR 59 70
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B1.

EMPLOYMENT (Cont'd)

During FY2024, the Group recorded an overall turnover rate
of 54.63%?°. The breakdown is as follows:
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2024 2023
—E-E BT

Gender 451
Male B
Female gegd
Age Group FHhe4A R
Below 30 years old 305 LA T
30 - 50 years old 30 — 505%
Over 50 years old 50
Geographical Region &
Australia B
Hong Kong 58

Note:

6.  Employee turnover rate = Total number of employees left/
Average number of employees in the year x 100%

Talent Attraction and Retention

The Group's employees are recruited via a robust,
transparent and fair recruitment process based solely on
their experience and expertise, without regard to their age,
ethnicity, origin, gender identity, marital status, sexual
orientation and religion. Employees are assessed by their
abilities and potential to fulfil the Group’s current and future
needs. All employees responsible for the recruitment process
will periodically review the selection criteria to ensure that
existing policies remain relevant and that the policies do not
unlawfully discriminate. Recruitment interviews will also be
carried out by more than one person where possible.

64.4% 58.0%
48.6% 30.2%
56.0% 50.5%
65.9% 28.9%
28.6% 51.3%
41.4% 48.5%
56.6% 20.7%
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6. REBERIE-BRESELEAH KEE
BEFHAHxX 100%
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EMPLOYMENT (Cont'd)
Talent Attraction and Retention (Cont’d)

Promotion and advancement will be based on merits and
are in line with the Recruitment and Selection Policy that
is formally documented in the Employee Handbook. The
Group will conduct an annual performance and salary review
to determine any salary adjustments and/or promotion
opportunities. Written and verbal performance evaluations
will be given to all employees at least once a year, such
evaluations are intended to give recognition of the hard
work of the employees and provide them with comments for
improvement.

Employee Rights and Welfare

The Group’s basis for remuneration is job-related skills,
qualifications and performances. Remuneration packages
include annual leave, maternity leave, compassionate leave
and community service leave, among others. Also, the
Group has formulated policies in determining the working
hours and rest periods for employees according to local
employment laws.

Compensation and Dismissal

All compensation made by the Group is given based on
the provision of Workmen'’s Injury Compensation Insurance
Policy under the Workplace Injury Rehabilitation and
Compensation Act 2013 of Victoria, Australia and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong, which
cover the rehabilitation of injured workers and compensation
in relation to injuries or deaths arising out of accidents and
diseases in the workplace. Unreasonable dismissal under any
circumstances is prohibited. A detailed list of major offences
regarded as justifiable reasons for immediate dismissal can
be found in the Employee Handbook.
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EMPLOYMENT (Cont'd)
Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group is committed to strict compliance with all
national and local governmental laws and regulations.
We uphold a fair, equitable, and transparent recruitment
process, establishing policies that prevent discrimination
in recruitment. Our aim is to ensure that no individual
experiences discrimination based on race, social status,
religion, nationality, disability, age, marital status, gender,
pregnancy, sexual orientation, trade union membership,
or political association. We strive to provide equal and fair
treatment to all employees, encompassing areas such as
recruitment, remuneration, training, promotion, dismissal,
retirement, and other aspects of employment.

If an employee faces intimidation, humiliation, bullying,
or harassment, including sexual harassment, they are
encouraged to report the matter to their designated
employee representative or directly to the general manager.
The Group takes such complaints seriously and will employ
appropriate measures to address and resolve these issues
promptly upon receipt of the complaint.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group has intensified its dedication to maintaining a
secure and healthy workplace for its staff members. An
occupational health and safety policy has been established
to protect employee well-being. As part of the induction
process, employees will receive detailed explanations and/
or documentation of relevant policies and procedures to
prevent accidents. These policies are subject to annual review
or prompt reassessment following any incidents to ensure
their ongoing relevance and effectiveness in safeguarding
employees.

During FY2024, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance that would have a significant impact on the
Group, with reference to health and safety related laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Occupational
Health and Safety Act 2004 and the Occupational Health
and Safety Regulations 2007 of Victoria, Australia and the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY (Cont'd)

No work-related fatalities happened during the past 3
consecutive years:

g (&)
2. RERZR(®

BABEIFIEEERNTILTSEN

Fiscal Year Unit 2024 2023 2022
MEFE B “EIWE T =f 0 TICF
Fatalities due to work Cases 0 0 0
AT T (EES

Fiscal Year Unit 2024
M EE (i —E_NE
Lost days due to work injury Days 229
A THEBENTIERE H

Work Injury Rate % 78.86
THEX %

Note: MftsE -

7. Work injury rate is calculated by number of work-related
injury Lost days/(number of Employee x 22 x 12 (working
days)) x 100%. The Group has subscribed employees’
compensation insurance for all employees, and it has covered
the compensation required due to work-related injury.

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group recognises that employees are its most valuable
assets, therefore the Group is keen on providing a safe and
pleasant working environment to retain talents and ensure
that their well-being is taken care of. Relevant health and
safety policies are indicated in the Employee Handbook, said
policies are regularly reviewed and/or reviewed upon trigger
events to ensure that the provisions continue to provide
protection to its employees. At Balgownie, a front office
training session has been held to familiarise its employees
with various emergency scenarios such as gas leaks, wildlife
or bomb threats. Uniform and/or personal protective
equipment are provided for relevant employees.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY (Cont'd)
Safety Training and Inspections

The Group utilises safety training and inspections to
emphasise the significance of adherence to safety protocols
among employees. Each employee receives induction training
on pertinent health and safety policies tailored to their role
at the outset of their employment, aiming to reduce the
occurrence of workplace accidents or injuries. All personnel,
whether directly or indirectly affiliated with the Group, are
obligated to comply with all relevant laws, regulations, and
safety standards mandated by the pertinent government
authorities.

Regular occupational health and safety meetings are
convened to promptly address concerns and explore
potential solutions. Meetings were conducted routinely
throughout FY2024, with detailed minutes documented
during each session. These meetings are deemed critical
for safeguarding the health and safety of both guests and
employees, as they facilitate direct issue resolution and
the assignment of responsible individuals to oversee the
implementation of actions or plans.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Investing in future leaders is essential for ensuring the
Group’s long-term success and resilience. The Group intends
to nurture its talent pipeline to retain high-performers
and be equipped with leaders for tomorrow. In view of
this, the Group provides them with the right tools and
an environment in which they can grow professionally.
Employees are continuously motivated to improve and
contribute their knowledge and experiences towards shaping
the future.

Structured skills development programs are in place across
the Group for all employees, who play an integral role in
operations. The Group's targeted learning activities aim to
address the skills development needs of each core business
as well as employees’ career development aspirations. The
content and structure of its learning programs are continually
refreshed to keep pace with market developments and
digitalisation requirements.
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B3. TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT (Cont'd)

During the Reporting Period, the Group provided around
881 hours of training, with an average training hour of
approximately 8.01 hours per trained employee. The
breakdown of the employees trained by gender and
employment category is as follows:

g (&)
B3. SELUEHI ()

PR SRR - AR EEIRE HIEIIA881/)
Fr » SUXIEEFIHEIREL8.01
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Percentage of
Employees
Trained (%)
ZillEEB DL

Average
Hours of
Training (hour)

T 5/RF

(%) (/I\BF)
Gender 451
Male B 77.27 12.31
Female gegi 119.70 5.14
Employee Category =
Senior Management =i EIRE 150.00 35.25
Middle Management Rk BEIEfE 10.53 1.28
General Staff —fMRET 769.23 53.00

Notes:

8.  Percentage of employees trained in a category = Number of
employees attended the training/Number of employees in

that category at the end of the year x 100%

9. Average hours of training = Number of training hours in that
category/Number of employees in that category at the end of

the year x 100%
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B4. LABOUR STANDARDS

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group has zero tolerance and strictly prohibits the use
of child labour, forced labour and hiring of illegal immigrants
in our operations. Below measures have been taken to avoid
these illegal employment practices.

Prevention of
child labour

During the recruitment process, the human
resources department will verify the
applicant’s identity documents and
ensure that they have reached the
minimum age for employment.

Prohibition of
forced labour

The Group specifies overtime
compensation provisions in the
Employee Handbook. The Group
carefully monitors the employee working
time and working schedule to ensure
they work voluntarily and freely.

In case of any illegal labour practice is discovered, the Group
will stop their employments immediately. An investigation
will be carried out subsequently and report the case to the
relevant authorities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with child and forced labour-
related laws and regulations, that would have a significant
impact on the Group including but not limited to the Child
Employment Act 2003, the Fair Work Act 2009 of Victoria,
Australia and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

During the supplier selection process, the Group takes into
account the supplier’s job references, prevailing market
price, delivery time and reputation. In addition, the Group
also considers suppliers who incorporate ESG issues into
their policies and general business development strategies.
Preferential consideration will be given to suppliers who
utilise recycled or reused materials in their production
process. Furthermore, the Group is keen on supporting the
local economies, where possible, the procurement is sourced
locally in Australia and Hong Kong.

During FY2024, the Group engaged 340 suppliers, and the
following breakdown illustrates their distribution:

Location No. of Suppliers
Australia 326
Hong Kong 14

Procurement policy is present within the Group. Where
possible, competitive quotes should be obtained from at
least two suppliers. For procurement of a higher value, an
additional analysis should be run through beforehand, such
as its cost and benefit, presence of other alternatives and
implications if the said purchase is not made. The Group
strives not to over-rely on a specific supplier in order to
ensure the stability of the supply chain.

To monitor the continuous efforts from the suppliers in
minimising their environmental and social impacts, regular
supplier selection and assessment will be conducted on
existing suppliers to ensure compliance with the Group’s
expectations. The Group monitors the performance of the
selected suppliers on environmental and social impacts to
ensure that they meet the expectation of the Group and
deliver the expected goods or services. Contracts with
suppliers may be terminated if the expectation of the Group
is not met.
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B6. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to providing the highest quality of
service to its customers, not only because it is crucial to the
health and safety of its customers and clients, but also for
the purpose of attracting future business opportunities. The
Group was not aware of any material non- compliance with
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact
on the Group, including but not limited to the Privacy and
Data Protection Act 2014, the Liquor Control Reform Act
1998 of Victoria, Australia and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance of Hong Kong, concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services and methods of redress during FY2024. During
FY2024, the Group did not receive any cases of product or
service-related complaints.

Business Ethics

The Group advocates ethical practices and is determined to
mitigate any potential misconduct or poor services in all its
business segments. Therefore, the Group has established
different policies to better guide its employees and nurture
them the importance of upholding ethical practices from the
beginning of their professional careers.

Product Quality and Safety

To uphold the quality of products originating from the
Group’s vineyards, stringent standards govern the storage
conditions and production facilities. As wine production is
outsourced, the Group undertakes quality control inspections
upon wine receipt from its subcontractors. Given the
nature of the Group's operations, details regarding product
recall protocols and quantities of products recalled are not
applicable.

Customer Health and Safety

The Group prioritises customer health and safety by
implementing comprehensive policies and guidelines to
ensure that employees deliver top-quality and secure services
to customers and guests. By adhering to these protocols, the
Group aims to prevent unfortunate accidents or illnesses.
Employees engaging in activities that jeopardise the health
and safety of stakeholders, colleagues, or others will face
disciplinary measures.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Cont'd)
Marketing and Labelling

The Group conforms with wine labelling guidelines pursuant
to the Wine Australia Act 2013. As for alcohol marketing,
the Group abides by the requirements set out in the ABAC
Responsible Alcohol Marketing Code. Relevant guidelines
have been provided to the relevant employees. As the
Group sells its Spa Partner’s products at its hotel to generate
additional income, it requires its Spa Partner to include
sufficient labelling on all products being sold.

Advertising Management

Guidelines on the special requirements in money lending
business advertisements are formally documented.
In addition, the Group abides by the stipulated legal
requirements that pertain to the Money Lending License
under the Money Lenders Ordinance.

Customer Services and Complaint Management

The Group fosters a culture of openness and receptiveness
to feedback and complaints from customers and guests,
considering them valuable avenues for service enhancement.
Comprehensive procedures for managing complaints are
outlined in the Service Handbook for the guidance of
pertinent employees. In the event of receiving complaints,
the Group is committed to promptly addressing and
resolving issues through effective corrective measures.
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B6. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Cont'd)

Customer Services and Complaint Management
(Cont’d)

The Group’s Code of Conduct mandates that employees
uphold the confidentiality of information obtained during
their employment. Access to sensitive data and the Group's
network is granted based on necessity. Employees are
prohibited from transmitting highly confidential data via
electronic communications due to its lack of complete
privacy. The Code of Conduct is regularly reviewed and
updated to comply with relevant privacy regulations. Internal
audits and reviews are conducted routinely to ensure the
protection of confidential information. Monitoring practices
are in place to detect unauthorised access to sensitive data,
particularly concerning customer information. The Group has
implemented and consistently enhances firewall, antivirus,
and antispam solutions for its IT systems to fortify the
security of confidential data.

Protection of Intellectual Protection Rights

Fair and unbiased information is being emphasised in all
marketing publications. All promotional materials must be
examined by the management to ensure they adhere to all
applicable advertising and intellectual property rights laws.
To prevent infringement and infringement upon, the Group
follows patents and licensing restrictions. The Group has
also implemented registration to safeguard its intellectual
property rights. During the Reporting Period, there were
no incidents of non-compliance concerning marketing
communications occurred within the Group.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Board sets a tone of zero tolerance towards fraud
and corruption. The Group's Employee Handbook states
guidelines that require employees to comply with all
applicable rules on conflicts of interest, insider dealing, anti-
competition and anti-corruption. It demands strict adherence
from every employee to applicable laws, rules, and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The Anti-corruption Policy provides guidance for employees
on recognising and avoiding unethical behaviour in a range
of business contexts, including procurement of goods
and services, accepting and offering corporate gifts or
hospitality, and making political or charitable contributions.
Any solicitation or acceptance of an advantage, any form
of bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering are strictly
prohibited.

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Financing of
Terrorism

As the Group engages in money lending business, the Group
may be subjected to the risk of unintentionally engaging
in money laundering and financial crimes. Therefore, in
addition to the compliance with laws and guidelines set up
by regulatory authorities, the Group has set out guidelines
to safeguard the interests of the Group, such as conducting
background investigation, due diligence and loan approvals
for loan financing applications.

Whistle-Blowing Mechanism

The Group encourages its employees and other stakeholders,
including customers and suppliers, to raise concerns about
suspected improprieties, misconduct, or malpractice.
A confidential channel is in place for employees and
stakeholders to report any suspected incidents.

Following the guidelines outlined in the Whistleblowing
Policy, the Group treats every reported incident with utmost
confidentiality and ensures that whistleblowers are protected
from unfair dismissal, victimisation, or unwarranted
disciplinary action. Incidents related to fraud and corruption
will be thoroughly investigated.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION (Cont’d)
Whistle-Blowing Mechanism (Cont’d)

In December 2021, the Group adopted the whistle-blowing
policy by amending its Employee Handbook and provided
the Group’s employees (including directors of members
of the Group) with training on the whistle- blowing policy
and anti-corruption practices of the Group. During 2024,
the Group hosted a training delivered by representative
from professional to the Directors and employees of the
Group in regard to anti-corruption and integrity to maintain
employees’ awareness of the best practices on anti-
corruption.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Demonstrating a dedication to adding value and enriching its
community, the Group actively engages in social involvement
and financial support initiatives. With a commitment to
instilling a culture of social responsibility throughout its
organisation, the Group has outlined specific guidelines
for community engagement, prioritising contributions to
address societal requirements. Employees are motivated to
partake in the Group’s philanthropic endeavors, emphasising
sectors like health and education through financial
donations, with associated expenses covered by the Group.
The Board conducts regular assessments of its community
engagement initiatives and is content with the current level
of involvement.

To strengthen the connection with society, the Group
has made charitable donations worth of approximately
HK$49,000 (FY2023: HK$7,000) in the form of vouchers
redeemable for the services at the hotel during FY2024.

In addition, the hotel operations actively supported youth
development in the region where it operates. Balgownie
partners with local schools to provide work experience to
students. Students can learn front line hospitality skills or
understand how a hotel operates from the back end. It also
gives them a taste of what career they would like to achieve
when they finish school. During FY2024, the hotel hosted
10 students from local schools and the TAFE (Technical and
Further Education), a local system providing education in
vocational areas, in its work experience program.
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG B4R FR(IRIE -t € R E QR EIS

REPORTING GUIDE SDABRS
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Section/Declaration
BEIRERE =3 0P 1

Governance Structure Introduction, Board Statement
BERRIE A~ EEEEH

Reporting Principles Reporting Framework

FERRA HEER

Reporting Boundary Scope of Reporting

FEREE HREEE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TEHE - BE - —RINERBARERIER

Indicators Description Section and Remarks
iy it S RkEE

A. Environmental
A.IRIR
Aspect A.1: Emissions
BEA.1: BB
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(@) The policies; and
(b) Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx, and other
pollutants regulated under national laws and
regulations.

Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide,
methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons,

perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.

Hazardous wastes are those defined by national

regulations.
—RRIRER ERBRAORERBEIN ~ MK R TBEE BB

5 BEREEREEYNELSH
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(b) BFHETABEARZENBEREZER
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TEHE - BE - —RIKRERMRERIER

Indicators Description Section and Remarks
SR ik SEiRkEE
KPI AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions  Emissions = GHG Emissions,

B SR IR IRA 1

KPI'A1.2

FATRAEISIZAT.2

KPI'A1.3

RASEAEIEIZEAT.3

KPI A1.4

RS IEIRA1 .4

KPI'A1.5

FATRAEWISIZEAT.S

KPI' A1.6

RASRAEMIEIZAT1.6

data.
BE TR LB R ABREHE B ©

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).
B EE) REREZEE2) R=ERE

Hrm e (LT E) K (M AR) 2 & (0L

SEBEN - BERME) °

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).

FRELEASEEYEE CUEETE) R NER)
REMNUSESEN - BEREHE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per

unit of production volume, per facility).

FRELEZSEEYEE CUIEETE) R NER)
REMNUSESEN - BEREFHE) o

Description of emission target(s) set and steps

taken to achieve them.

HIFRET MBI E R R AETIBLERR

PTEREXBYZD BF o

Description of how hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes are handled, and

a description of reduction target(s) set and

steps taken to achieve them.
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Waste Management

B —REREIIN - BERYER

Emissions — GHG Emissions

P — R E RS HF

Emissions — Waste Management

HE) —BEEYEE

Emissions — Waste Management

) —BEEYEE

Emissions — Air Emissions,
GHG Emissions, Waste Management
P — BE R~ RERBBHEN
BEERYEE

Emissions — Waste Management

) —BEEYEE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TEHE - BE - —RIKRERMBERIER

Description
st

Section and Remarks

Sk

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 . BEER

General Disclosure

—ARIRER

KPI' A2.1

FATRAEWISIZEA2.1

KPI A2.2
RATREIEIZEA2.2

KPI'A2.3

R ISIRA2.3

KPI' A2.4

RS EMISIRA2.4

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, waste and other raw
materials.

Note: Resources may be used in production, in
storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic
equipment, etc.

BRBEMERER(BEER
JFATED BYECR o

s KRR E A

EE © FORAT AR B
FHHES o

B 2REY B

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
%:*Eﬁ”(tlﬂaﬁ RICH BlIDNEREK R ERE
RABFEE CUKE R 5t 5) M2 E (M1
é%%ﬁ ~ BIERMETE) ©

Water consumption in total and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

KERHEREREE MUSESE
FIERMETE) o

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

M PE] L RRERIE AN & B R R R E
B 1RFTERERBY 2 B ©

Z§| Lﬂ:b

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

R BCERACR A BEAEE 0 Uk
FrE] i AK M B R R A ERELEER
FrEREXBY 27 B ©
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

FTEHE - BE - —RIRBRFARENIER
Indicators Description Section and Remarks
51T it SEiRkEE
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Use of Resources —
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with Use of Packaging Materials
reference to per unit produced.
RASRAEIEIZA2.5 UL on Pl A B EM IR S (LIRS E) & BIRfEA— S EMEHER

MnBER)BEEBMGE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEA3 : IRIERRAER

General Disclosure

— AR EE

KPI'A3.1

RERAAWIEIZA3.1

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant The Environment and Natural Resources
impacts on the environment and natural
resources.

BRABEEITAHRIERRAEREMEK
T ERBER o

BRIBERRAER

The Environment and Natural Resources
— Noise Control, Park Greenery

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and
the actions taken to manage them.

IR R HIRR R RABERNEARER
ERNERFRAZENTH o

RIBRRAER—IREESH « RERE

Aspect A4: Climate Change

[BEA4 : mIREME

General Disclosure

—RRIREE

KPI A4.1

B RRE IS RAL1

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

BB REHERKAIEEHETAEE KEE1L
FENEARGHEBEERIEER °

Climate Change

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them.

BB KRAIEEHETAEERENER
RIEEMAEE > REHITE

Climate Change — Physical Risks,
Transition Risks

RiFE—BRER - BEEAR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TEHE - BE - —RIKRERMBERIER

Indicators Description Section and Remarks
B it SEiRkEE

B. Social

B. 1%

Employment and Labour Practices

BIERSE TER

Aspect B1: Employment
[EHEB1 : (&%
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@) The policies; and
(b) Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest Periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
—Re i ER BRI e ~ BB RS -~ TR R EE
Hi~ TERE -~ Lot~ RIBERMUREMRFS
FfEFB
(@ BR; K
(b) BFHBEITABEARTENEREERE
REVERL o

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type Employment
(for example, full- or part-time), age Group
and geographical region.

RASRAR M TEATB1.1 MR BEEE (e B RE) - FieEh  BE
&2 e EE AR o

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age Group ~ Employment
and geographical region.

RASRAERIETRB1.2 R~ FlAER it & B D BIEE TR 21
HL o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TEHE - BE - —RIKRERMRERIER

Indicators Description Section and Remarks
SR it SEiRkEE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmEB2 : @FERA%ZE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
(@) The policies; and
(b) Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

—Re i ER BRRMZETFRERFREREEHCRETE #REZE
fEER !
(@ R K
(b) BTHETABEAXENEMERERE
REE K} o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety

occurred in each of the past three years
including the Reporting year.

BRI AR 51T B2.1 BEZF(BEERFEFE)BFRITHNAY RBEEAZS
FetbZE o

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety

RASR AR A 512B2.2 RAITEBEIEEH - Rz S

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and Health and Safety —
safety measures adopted, and how they are Occupational Health and Safety
implemented and monitored.

RGN FE1EB2.3 HPRER MBI B ZE (R R B 2 48T > LURAERE BEREZ 2 —HERREHEL S
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TEHE - BE - —RIKRERMBERIER

Indicators Description Section and Remarks
B it SEiRkEE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FEEB3 : & EEIEN

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge Development and Training
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It
may include internal and external courses
paid by the employer.
—Re i ER BRARAESRIT LFRERNANMRKAERNE R xIE
2R o HMIEIIES)

PysE AR S > PESEREEZXANA
R IMERERAR ©

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by Development and Training
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

RASRAE AE1RB3.1 MR kEEER SR EERRE ~ PR ERERIE
BEE) A NZIIRERDL -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and Training
employee by gender and employee category.

RASRAERIE1RB3.2 MR kEEERNE D > BREETHAZIIN EREKE
TR o
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Indicators Description Section and Remarks
SR it SEiRkEE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[ETEB4 : % T #8|
General Disclosure Information on Labour Standards
(@) The policies; and
(b) Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

—AR BR BREPLEE T3 RGI55 T ! %5 T 2R
(@ BER; K
(b) BFHEITABEARLENERERELR
BINER o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  Labour Standards
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
RGN FE1EB4.1 Mg sHB B NEEU B e E T KRG TR
BT o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards
practices when discovered.
RS E XN FE1EB4.2 H T S IRER B R EOERE BB EREsY 55 T %8
T ER o

Operating Practices

SEEN

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
JEMEBS : (HFEHEEIR

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management
risks of the supply chain.

—RR I ER ERAEEMEENIRIERTE RGBS HIEREE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
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ERBERZERERAR | — T -HNFFR 95



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

i s 18K

RS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TEHE - BE - —RIKRERMBERIER

Indicators Description Section and Remarks
51T it SEiRkEE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain Management

RE S AE WIE1EB5.2

KPI B5.3

B RIS E1RB5.3

KPI B5.4

B RIS E1RB5.4

suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

B A RS AR RIES 0 mERNITHER
BHINMHEEEEE » UUAERRITRER

J3E ©

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the

supply chain, and how they are implemented

and monitored.

L7 R S ) (4 FE B 5 (BIR R
FEBRAIER > URABRMIT R ERSE o

FIRIE KAt E

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

HHAEREHE R RS BIRFRER KRR
BYER > LU ARRA T R B 5

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : ESREE
General Disclosure

—RRIREE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls
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Indicators Description Section and Remarks
51T it SEiRkEE
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product Responsibility

B B2 AR 5 1%B6.1

KPI B6.2

RS2 AR 15 1%B6.2

KPI B6.3
RS AR XI5 1RB6.3
KPI B6.4

RS AR5 1%B6.4

KPI B6.5

RASR A FE1ZB6.5

subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEREEEERBHMFRL 2 HARREIER

MZREIUWEIE D EE -

Number of products and service related

complaints received and how they are dealt

with.

BRERMNERKRRFGRRFEE URES

F375 °

Description of practices relating to observing and

protecting intellectual property rights.
Tt B 4k 5 R AR IS RN B EE HE B REIRV BB o

Description of quality assurance process and

recall procedures.
i E S8 E B2 K E m Bl WA o

Description of consumer data protection and

privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

HHUH B EBRMRERLRBBIR » MUk ER

HITRERTTE -

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BmB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—BRE

Information on:
(@ The policies; and
(b) Compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,

fraud and money laundering.
BRI LEERER ~ #1R ~ IREFROE R ¢
@ R K
(b)
BIEIE K} o

BTHBETABERTENERERKRR

EmaE

Product Responsibility

EmaE

Product Responsibility = Protection of
Intellectual Property Rights
EmEE—HEERE
Product Responsibility —
Product Quality and Safety
EmEat-—EmEEREE

Product Responsibility —
Customer Data Protection and Privacy

EmBE-EFREERERLE

Anti-corruption

RES
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Indicators Description Section and Remarks
51T it SEiRkEE
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption

B AR E1RBT 1

KPI B7.2

RE SR A WIE1ERT .2

KPIB7.3
RSB AR XI5 1RBT.3

Community

&

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the Reporting Period and
the outcomes of the cases.
RERAANHETANEEERBET EEEN
B REARE MG B MR E R

o

Description of preventive measures and

whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

LM R BRI » MURBRRAITR

BRI

Description of anti-corruption training provided

to directors and staff.

BmEERE TRHENRESE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[ETEBS : ttEKRE

General Disclosure

—RRIREE

KPI B8.1

RASRAE RIS 1EBS.1

KPI B8.2

RER AW IEIZERS.2
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Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the

communities interests.

BN ES ERT BEEFELETEMN

BREEXZLZBEEBHLEN @

aBYER e

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

environmental concerns, labour needs, health,

culture, sport).

WEEAREHE  BAFE S TER

2~ X1E~ BR) °

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to

the focus area.
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Anti-corruption

k&5

Anti-corruption

k&5

Community Investment

HeiE

Community Investment

HeRE

Community Investment

HEerE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to achieving and upholding good
corporate governance practices that promote greater transparency
and quality of disclosure as well as more effective internal control.

During the year under review, the Company had adopted the
code provisions (“Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules then in force as its code of corporate governance.
The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
duties including (a) developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (c) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; and (d) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions. The Board had
carried out the said corporate governance functions during the
year under review. The Company complied with all the Code
Provisions then in force throughout the year ended 31 December
2024.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
taking into account the recommendations of the remuneration
committee of the Board, having regard to merit, qualifications
and competence of the Directors.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors who are also the senior
management of the Group and the five highest paid individuals
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 13
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had also made specific
enquiry of all Directors, that the Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
the Directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board composition

From 1 January 2024 to 25 April 2024, the Board comprised six
members, one of which was a non-executive Director, namely Mr.
Ng Ting Ho, two of which were executive Directors, namely Ms.
Lam Ching Yee and Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, and the remaining three
members being independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum
Paul.

From 26 April 2024 to 31 December 2024, the Board comprised
seven members, one of which was a non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Ng Ting Ho, three of which were executive Directors,
namely Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Mr. Fong Chak Kiu and Mr. Zhang
Hongju, and the remaining three members being independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr.
Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul.

From 1 January 2025 and up to the date of this Annual Report,
the Board comprises five members, one of which is a non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Ng Ting Ho, one of which is an
executive Director, namely Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, and the remaining
three members being independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr.
Tong Hin Sum Paul.

Mr. Zhang Hongju, who was appointed and resigned as an
executive Director with effect from 26 April 2024 and 1 January
2025 respectively, obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 26 April 2024, and he had
confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of a listed
issuer.

The members of the Board, who come from different
backgrounds, provide a diverse range of business and professional
expertise to the Company. The biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the “Directors Profile” on pages 34 to
36 in this Annual Report. All Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company at least once every three years in accordance with the
Bye-Laws. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover for the Directors. As at the date of this Annual Report, save
as disclosed in the “Directors Profile” in this Annual Report, none
of the Directors has any relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.
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Roles and responsibilities of the Board and delegation to
the management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions
and performance, and is responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. In
practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decision making
in all major matters of the Company which include approving
and monitoring all policy matters, overall strategies, material
transactions, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to
the senior executives who are responsible for implementing the
decisions of the Board, the coordination and direction of day-to-
day operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to the
entering by the Group into any significant transactions. These
senior executives provide full support to the Board in order for the
Board members to discharge their responsibilities.

Practices and conduct of board meetings

The company secretary (“Company Secretary”) of the Company
is responsible to the Board for providing Board papers and related
materials, for ensuring that all Board procedures and all applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed, and for reporting to the
Chairman on governance matters. All Directors have unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The
Company Secretary also keeps minutes of all meetings of the
Board which are available for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice given by any Director.

The Board meets regularly and held 29 board meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2024. The Directors attended
the meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-Laws. During the
regular Board meetings, the Directors discussed and formulated
the overall strategies of the Group, reviewed and approved the
annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discussed and
decided on other significant matters of the Group. All Directors
have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view
to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.
The Company will, upon request, provide separate independent
professional advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge
their duties to the Company.
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In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial
Shareholder or a Director, such matter will be discussed
through an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict
of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict
issues. The Board committees, including the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee,
have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used
in Board meetings for all committee meetings. If considered to
be necessary and appropriate by the Directors, they may retain
independent professional advisors at the Group's expense.

Individual attendance records of each Director at the respective
Board and committee meetings are set out in the table on page
110 of this Annual Report.

Directors’ continuing professional development

All Directors have been updated from time to time on the latest
developments and changes in the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure the Company’'s
compliance and to enhance the Directors’ awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors understand the
importance of continuous professional development and are
committed to participating in any suitable training or to studying
relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills.

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, Mr.
Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum
Paul have confirmed that they had complied with Code Provision
C.1.4 during the year ended 31 December 2024 by participating
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. During the year under review, the
Company has provided trainings and relevant materials regarding
the GEM Listing Rules to the Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board, manages the
Board and oversees the strategic planning of the Group, whereas
the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the Group’s business
development and daily management generally. According to
Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Ng Ting Ho has become the Chairman
with effect from 17 September 2021 and Ms. Lam Ching Yee has
become the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 5 June 2019
and resigned as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1
January 2025.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2),
and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review,
with the appointment of the three independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom having appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence,
and the Company considers such independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the
various guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin
Sum Paul were appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive)
and has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the Company is required to have at least three independent non-
executive Directors and has adopted a policy (“Independent
Views Policy”), pursuant to which the independent non-
executive Directors are required to, among others,

(i)  keep up-to-date with the Company’s business affairs and
be involved in scrutinising the Company’s performance
in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and
monitor performance reporting;

bring independent judgment to bear on the Company’s
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conduct,
help review some of the Board’s major decisions and the
Company’s performance in relation to corporate goals,
monitor the Company’s performance reporting; and

(iii)

take the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise.
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Further, the independent non-executive Directors shall make
sufficient time available to discharge their responsibilities and
should not accept an invitation to serve as an independent
non- executive Director on the Board unless they can devote
adequate time and effort to the work involved. Independent non-
executive Directors sitting on multiple boards of directors of listed
companies will need to ensure that they can dedicate adequate
attention to each board and board committee.

In addition, the independent non-executive Directors shall at
least annually attend meetings with the Chairman without the
presence of other Directors to express their opinions openly. The
Company also provides the Directors, upon reasonable request, to
seek independent professional advice at the Group’s expense. The
Company will provide separate independent professional advice to
Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the Company.

The Company is required to review and has reviewed the
Independent Views Policy and its implementation and
effectiveness on an annual basis.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

During the year under review, Mr. Ng Ting Ho was appointed
as the Chairman and a non-executive Director for a term
commencing from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both
days inclusive) and has been re-appointed for a term of 12
months commencing from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2025
(both days inclusive).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, and the nomination
committee, each with its specific terms of reference. Their terms
of reference have been approved and reviewed by the Board and
have been posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. During the year under review, these committees have
adhered to their principles, procedures and arrangements set out
in their respective terms of reference. The respective committee
secretaries took full minutes of the meetings of these committees
and the work of these committees was reported to the Board
regularly during the year under review.

Audit Committee

An audit committee of the Board (“Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and Code Provision
D.3.3 in force during the year under review. The Audit Committee
must consist of a minimum of three members, all of whom must
be non-executive Directors, at least one of whom must have
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are mainly to review the Group's financial information,
reporting process, internal control procedures, risk management
system, audit plan, relationship with external auditors and to
review arrangements to enable employees of the Group, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in the
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Group.

From 1 January 2024 to the date of this Annual Report, the Audit
Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr.
Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe has been the
chairman of the Audit Committee during the year under review
and as at the date of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
held 4 meetings to review and provide supervision over the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and to review the Company’s annual report and accounts,
and half-year report and to provide advice and comments to the
Board as to whether such reports were prepared in accordance
with the applicable accounting standards and requirements. The
Audit Committee also met with the external auditors to discuss
auditing, internal control, statutory compliance and financial
reporting matters of the Group before recommending the annual
financial reports to the Board for approval.

The Group’s half-yearly and annual results for the year under
review have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee of the Board (“Remuneration
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2. The principal
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure in relation to the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management of the Company and to review and approve
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
goals and objectives set by the Board for the Company.

From 1 January 2024 to the date of this Annual Report, the
Remuneration Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Remuneration Committee during
the year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held 4 meeting and adopted the approach under
Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. The Remuneration Committee
had reviewed the policy for the remuneration of the executive
Directors, assessed the performance of the executive Directors
and had reviewed and approved the appointment letters and/
or the service contracts of the Directors and the terms thereof
as well as the remuneration and the discretionary bonus of the
Directors during the year under review. No Director was involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

A nomination committee of the Board (“Nomination
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with Code Provision B.3.1. The principal responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

From 1 January 2024 to the date of this Annual Report, the
Nomination Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Nomination Committee during the
year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held 4 meeting to review the policy for the nomination
of Directors, the procedures, process and criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship, the structure, size and composition of the Board,
to recommend candidates for directorship and to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The process for the nomination of Directors, which is on merit
basis, is led by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy (“Policy”) which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board in order
to ensure good governance.
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In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on ensuring
a balanced composition of skills and experience at the Board level
in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights and challenge
that enables the Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities
effectively, support good decision making in view of the core
businesses and strategy of the Company and support succession
planning and development of the Board. For achieving an optimal
Board, additional measurable objectives/specific diversity targets
may be set and reviewed from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness.

Selection of candidates will be based on the Policy and will take
into account this Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the
Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing on a
single diversity aspect.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors on the Board
came from various background and bring different business and
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service to
the Company and had contributed to the diversity at the Board.
For details of the Directors, please refer to pages 34 to 36 of this
Annual Report. Diversity at the Board has enabled the Board to
discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, supporting
good decision making in view of the core businesses and
strategy of the Company and support succession planning and
development of the Board. In the future, the Company continues
to seek to enhance the effectiveness of its Board by embracing
the benefits of diversity in the Board.

During the year under review, there was one female Director on
the Board. Following the resignation of Ms. Lam Ching Yee as
an executive Director with effect from 1 January 2025 and up
to the date of this Annual Report, there is no female Director
on the Board. With effect from 1 April 2025, Ms. Sun Xiao will
be appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the
Board will have one female Director.

The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender
diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices, with the
ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity.
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The Nomination Committee reviews the Policy at least once
annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions to the Policy that may be required and
make recommendation to the Board for approval. The Nomination
Committee also monitors the implementation of this Policy by
conducting review of the Board’'s composition at least once
annually taking into account the benefits of all relevant diversity
aspects and adhering to the Policy when making recommendation
on any Board appointments. The Nomination Committee also
ensures that Board diversity is considered as part of the evaluation
of the Board's effectiveness. During the year ended 31 December
2024, relevant trainings were provided to the Directors from time
to time to equip themselves with the attributes and competencies
required for the Board in light of the strategic needs of the Group
and the environment in which it operates.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the
workforce level. As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the
workforce of the Group (including senior management) was 1:1.5
male to female.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT =SEHESELE
MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of BHE_Z_WNE+_BA=1+—HIEFEREE
the Board and its respective committees and general meeting of FEREFGAEZZETEENMERAEREK
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as @ HFECHEFHBUT ¢

follows:

Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Committee Committee Committee General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
attend attend attend attend attend
HE/&&% WE/GER LE/&ER
HE/ EEE HEE% R HERSE LR/ AER
HEEEE ZEGEE FEEEE ZEBEE UHERRAS

Name of Directors EE4 FERY R RE R R

Number of meetings held during the REHHFERNETZ 29 4 4 4 1
financial year BEIH

Non-executive Director EHTER

Mr. Ng Ting Ho REELE 27129 0/0 0/0 0/0 11

Executive Directors RITESR

Ms. Lam Ching Yee MEELL 29/29 0/0 0/0 0/0 1/1

Mr. Fong Chak Kiu HERLE 29729 0/0 0/0 0/0 11

Mr. Zhong Hongju (appointed with RERTEMZEINE 3129 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/
effect from 26 April 2024) M=+ HEZE)

Independent non-executive Directors BIEHMITES

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BlkBEE(ZEEER) 27129 4/4 474 474 7N
(Committee Chairman)

Mr. Chan Ming Kit BRERfLE 28/29 4/4 4/4 4/4 1/1

Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul mEaARRE 2829 4/4 4/4 4/4 1/1
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable
to the Group’s external auditor, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong)
CPA Limited, for the audit and non-audit services provided
to the Group amounted to approximately HK$700,000 and
approximately HK$120,000 respectively. The total amount of fees
paid/payable to other audit firms for providing audit and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted
to approximately HK$223,000 and approximately HK$229,000
respectively. The non-audit service fees incurred consist of
fees for professional service in relation to the Group’s major
transaction, taxation services, advisory services, and company
secretarial services of approximately HK$120,000, HK$137,000
approximately HK$74,000 and approximately HK$18,000
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under
the GEM Listing Rules, and management will provide information
and explanations to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company’s external auditor, McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities
is included in the Independent Auditor’'s Report in this Annual
Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Group and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Group's affairs. The Company Secretary
is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board procedures are
followed and that the Board is briefed on legislative, regulatory
and corporate governance developments. During the year under
review, the Company Secretary has taken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training as required by the GEM Listing
Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the
Group’'s systems of risk management and internal control
and for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to meet
the particular needs of the Group and to mitigate the risks which
it is exposed to. By their nature, however, such risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board has engaged
an independent advisor to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material financial, operating and compliance controls for
the year ended 31 December 2024. Such review is conducted
annually. The scope of the review has been previously determined
and approved by the Board and the Audit Committee. The
independent advisor has reported major findings and areas of
improvement to the Board. All the recommendations have been
properly followed up by the Group to ensure that they will be
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board is of
the view that the Group’s current risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective.

As might be expected of a Group of its size, a key control
procedure is the day-to-day supervision of the business by the
executive Directors, supported by managers responsible for
operations and the key central and divisional support provided by
the Group’s financial information systems and human resources.
Key elements of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group as described below have all been in place
throughout the year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report and are reviewed regularly by the Board:

e clearly defined management structure, lines of responsibilities
and delegation of authority;

e high recruitment standards and formal career development
and training to ensure the integrity and competence of the
staff;

e regular and comprehensive information provided to
management, covering financial performance and non-
financial measures;
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procedures for the approval of capital expenditure,
investments and acquisitions;

detailed budgeting process in which top management is
involved in budget setting, constant monitoring of key
statistics and review of management accounts on a monthly
basis, noting and investigating major variances; and

consideration of progress made against significant business
risks at monthly management review meetings, with
quarterly briefings to the Board.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

Considers the impacts of the risks on the business caused
by the adverse events associated with the risks and the
likelihood of occurrence of these adverse events.

Response to Risks

Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessments; and

Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid and mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place and resolve material internal control defects (if any);

Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

Reports the results of risk monitoring to management and
the Board regularly.
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Inside Information

e The Group has in place, as an element of its risk
management and internal control systems, a policy on
disclosure of inside information, to ensure that inside
information is handled and disseminated properly and in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
finance manager of the Company and the department heads
within the Group are responsible for monitoring the changes
and developments in their respective areas of operation and
report any potential or suspected inside information events
to the Board. Based on the information obtained through
internal reporting, the Board assesses whether any of the
information constitutes inside information which needs
to be released to the public. Should public disclosure be
required, the Board will determine the scope of information
to be disclosed and the timing of disclosure. If and when
appropriate, the Board may seek independent professional
advice to ensure that the Company complies with the
disclosure requirements.

The Board has considered the need for an internal audit function,
and concluded that, given the size of the Group and its risk
management and internal control systems in place, it is not
necessary at present. The Board will review this issue on an annual
basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy with effect from 1
January 2019. Dividends may be paid out by means of cash or by
other means that the Directors consider appropriate. Declaration
and payment of any dividends would require the recommendation
of the Board and will be at its discretion. In addition, any
dividends for a financial year will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders. A decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of any dividends, depends on a number
of factors, including the financial performance and future funding
needs of the Company and other factors the Board may deem
relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject
to compliance with the Bye-Laws and the laws of Bermuda.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in
any particular amount for any given period.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with the Shareholders is given a high priority by
the Company. The Company aims to provide the Shareholders
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency
through the publication of annual and interim reports,
announcements and circulars made through the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange.

The Board also maintains an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and use general meetings to communicate with
the Shareholders. The Company encourages all the Shareholders
to attend general meetings of the Company which provide a
useful forum for the Shareholders to exchange their views with
the Board. The Chairman and members of the relevant Board
committees and senior management of the Company are also
available to answer the Shareholders’ questions in the general
meetings.

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially independent issue
at general meetings of the Company, including the election
of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings of the Company will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting of the Company.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of its shareholders’ communication policy during the year under
review.

The Company has established different communication channels
with the Shareholders. Shareholders may raise their enquiries in
general meetings. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company held the annual general meeting of the Company on 27
June 2024 which was attended by members of the Board and the
Company’s auditor to answer questions from the Shareholders
attending the meeting.

In addition, the Company endeavours to disclose all material
information about the Group to the Shareholders as effectively
and timely as possible, including the publication of annual and
interim reports, announcements and circulars, notices of general
meetings, monthly returns on movements in the Company’s
securities for each month, and terms of reference of the
committees of the Board. Shareholders may at any time make
a request for the Company’s information to the extent such
information is publicly available. Shareholders may also at any
time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s office in Hong Kong.

In view of the above, the Company considered its shareholders’
communication policy effective.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing Shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
significant change in the Company’s memorandum of
continuance and the Bye-Laws.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT
Procedures for Shareholders to convene a general meeting

Pursuant to Bye-Law 58 of the Bye-Laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or
resolution specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in accordance with the provisions of
Section 74(3) of the Companies Act.

Such written requisition (i) must state the object of business or
resolution to be transacted at the meeting; (i) must be signed by
the requisitionists; and (i) must be deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong in hard copy form for the
attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The requisition
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of the requisitionist(s).

REHEMIE
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EEMEKR > EREFSEHREFIAZ > U
BRIEAMERPIEENTAERIRE ; BZ
AGERNEESEHREREMQ)ER RNEIT o
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Putting forward proposals at general meetings

Save for the procedures for the Shareholders to convene a general
meeting as set out above and for the Shareholders to nominate
a person for election as a Director pursuant to Bye-Law 85 of the
Bye-Laws, there are no other provisions allowing the Shareholders
to put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company
under the Bye-Laws or under the laws of Bermuda. Shareholders
may follow the procedures set out above to convene a special
general meeting of the Company for any business or resolution
specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. Questions about the procedures
for convening or putting forward proposals at an annual general
meeting or a special general meeting of the Company may also
be put to the Company Secretary by the same means.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RERRAE LIRZEZ

R EX P8R R B RRRA S MR RREMEA
BeSIFE R ATGEEST ZREFIN > RIEMEE
WIREAREER  TEAEMFESCAFFRER
AABREAE LREEE - RRAIKRBLEX
PRERVIZF LA B S m E KPS BRI ER SR
FRECARERBDRRFHIARE o

RERES

RRAIBRELZEDNTEERNARZEBLTE
EEME  EAREMER > BAABRES
g BB AT RRBEREHRERKH
AEEIRAG LREEZZRBFZEN > Fa
BBR—HEFETATME °

EHRBERZRERAR | —S-MEEH 117



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HANG TAI YUE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and re-domiciled and
continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited liability)

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 129
to 299, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined the matters described below
to the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. The
key audit matters we identified are:

(i)  Allowance for impairment of loan and interest receivables,
deposits and other receivables; and

(i) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment
relating to the provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia.

ERBERZERERAR | — T -HNFFR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter

FRELEER

PREEZEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BPINBZM A RIERRBEZEER

(i) Allowance for impairment of loan and interest receivables, deposits and other receivables

RBERKRFE « BT REMBURIEZ RERE

Reference is made to notes 4(l), 4(m), 4(bb), 5(c) and
5(d) to the consolidated financial statements for the
disclosures of the related accounting policies, critical
judgements and estimates and notes 22 and 23 to
the consolidated financial statements for further
information.

FH2REEMHEmRRMTEL) ~ 4(m) ~ 4(bb) ~ 5(0) &
S(A)EEREETEER - EXFIET KRGS ZIREREGS
MR R 22 %232 EE—H B o

The net carrying amounts of the Group’s loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables were
approximately HK$41,405,000 and HK$50,091,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2024.

RIE_MNE+"A=+—H> SBSEBEBKREN
RAE s BEREMBWARIEZ RAFED AL
41,405,000 71550,091,000 7T °

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment of
allowance for impairment on loan and interest receivables,
deposits and other receivables included:
MEREEHRKREMRA R ~ 5 K E i EUCRIE Z R
ERETL > RAORTHEFREE !

— Obtaining an understanding of control and
procedures over the allowance for impairment on
loan and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables and evaluating the historical accuracy of
the impairment estimation by management, including
revision of the loan agreements, validating the
controls over the approval, recording and monitoring
of loan and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables and assessment of the collectability of the
debtors and the borrowers;

- TEREBRBERRNE - B2 REMBUWRIEZ HE
BENRZERER > U HEERBBEFEIEE
L (BRI ERInE - REHHE « O REE
FEWE R F] R ~ 2 K B FE W RIERY &I A B2
L ER R AR A B M) ~ ZEREM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RBEZEEGE)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
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R EZSEE (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BPIB BN AR IERBREZFIEGE)

(i) Allowance for impairment of loan and interest receivables, deposits and other receivables (Cont’d)

R ERRFE - 2 RE MBI Z B{E & # (8)

During the year, the Group recognised impairment
loss on loan and interest receivables and deposits and
other receivables of approximately HK$1,581,000 and
HK$2,459,000 respectively, in accordance with HKFRS 9.
FrR> BEECREBEEBUBREEAFEIRD 5
LB E R A B MU 3 & Fe HL A FE W AR IR FE SRR (B
E518#[E1491,581,0007 7T 522,459,000/ 7T °

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's impairment
allowance on loan and interest receivables and deposits
and other receivables amounted to approximately
HK$2,218,000 and HK$4,069,000, respectively.
R_ZTNFE+"A=+—H> &EEENBKREN
e B A e ¥ Fe ELMFE U R IE 2 IR B 1 20 Bl 7 49
2,218,000 7T 524,069,000 7T ©

Working with the auditor’s valuation specialists to
assess the reasonableness of the Group’s expected
credit losses (“ECLs"”) models, including the model
input, model design, model performance for
significant portfolios. We assessed the reasonableness
of the Group’s criteria for impairment by assessing
if there has been a significant increase in credit
risk that allowances for impairment of loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables
should be measured on a lifetime ECLs basis. We
also assessed whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of the
recent losses incurred in the portfolios and assessed
the reasonableness of forward-looking adjustments;
BERMZEEERGFME EEEBEREER
HUAREEREEXANSEN  8EEE24ES
MR A B ~ BARST ~ BRI o HAET
s BEEEFBRAEENRESSE » HiERTE
SERBESERELM  MEBERKER A
B EReERHEMBWRIEZ BERERZRE TR
EEBEEEETSE - WATHEELERES
BEERAREANBE R U KB ERAHRBRER > kT
LRI AENSIEN ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RBEZEEGE)

R EZSEE (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BPIB BN AR IERBREZFIEGE)

(i) Allowance for impairment of loan and interest receivables, deposits and other receivables (Cont’d)

R ERRFE - 2 RE MBI Z B{E & # (8)

The measurement of allowance for impairment loss,
based primarily on ECLs, requires the application
of judgement and estimation by the management.
The Group's policy for recognition of allowance for
impairment on loan and interest receivables, deposits
and other receivables is based on the evaluation of
recoverability, ageing analysis and on management’s
judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is
required including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of the debtors and the borrowers.
FERBBRAEEHBEETRESEBRENGTEEXK
EIEEERYIE RS o BEEBRAERKERKT
B BReEhEMBWHRIEZ REREESBERLER
I [E 4 5THE ~ BRI DT R EIEEBHIEIMETE © FrH
K BB BT (A R A A ORI 15 8 R B 1 WO
SO o

For this reason, we have identified the allowance for
impairment of loan and interest receivables, deposits
and other receivables as a key audit matter.

AL > HPITRFEWER R E ~ #2E kEMERRIE
ZREEES AREEEZEER -

122

Assessing the basis of management’s assessment
of recoverability of loan and interest receivables,
deposits and other receivables with reference to
the management’s evaluation of the debtors or
borrowers’ creditworthiness, debtors or borrowers’
credit history including default or delay in payments,
debtors or borrowers’ settlement records, subsequent
settlements from debtors or borrowers and ageing
analysis of each individual debtor or borrower;

ML EIEEMEREREAE ~ S kEMBEUGR
H2 ]I FHHENEE » T2EEREHE
BARBRANGEE - EHABERANEELE
(BREHERIEMTRIR) « EFARERARNGEET
i s EBARERANEBERF R - KEEHN
B KA RS D AT 1R L 2 574

Recalculating the amount of the allowance for
impairment under ECLs approach on loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables
and assessing the sufficiency of the allowance for
impairment as at 31 December 2024; and
BREBERRESEBEEAZENSTERRERKFE
BEREMBERRIBZ BEZESLE » LTERZ
Z_MFE+_A=+—HREREBEESE s &

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements in
relation to the Group’s credit risk exposure.
ERMAER SEBREERRNGESMBIMRMIE
NIRBESBEE °
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RBEZEEGE)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
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R EZSEE (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BPIB BN AR IERBREZFIEGE)

(ii) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia

BRI R MBS RBRRFE A MBI E - BB k& B ZREE

Reference is made to notes 4(aa) and 5(a) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures
of the related accounting policies, critical judgements
and estimates and note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.
FHRREGEV B HRFRMNT4(aa)5(a) B BRI E 5T
ﬁ BEARFE R A2 IRBERGEMBIRERMET152
E—HER o

As at 31 December 2024, included in the carrying
amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$164,814,000 was allocated to the
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia,
which is considered by the management as cash-
generating units (“Hospitality CGU").
RZZEZWF+"A=+—H > st ASEEYE - K
R 2 IREEAY164,814,0008 70 2 DB E T RN
REEERERRT > MEEERZRAREELE
(GBEREEEEN) o

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of the property, plant and equipment allocated
to the Hospitality CGU included:
MBREEHPEEAEREELBUNYE BEKRR
EZREREL - PIRITRREF e

— Assessing the appropriateness of managements
assessment on identification and allocation of assets
to the Hospitality CGU,;

— MLBEEN#EAEREEEBEREESLEN

_TIEE

—  Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation approach
and methodology;

— HEEERBIUGEM U T BEE R AR
BYEZE ;

—  Evaluating the objectivity and competency of the
independent valuer;

—  AHMEEUGEMNEFRERES ;

=  Challenging the management and the independent
valuer on the adoption of the assumptions and
estimations in the valuation;

— WEERRANRR G EBEEEEREIIGEE
Bl 5

= Challenging the independent valuer to ensure proper
comparables were used;

— BEREBIUGEMNEREAEENIELERAER ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RBEZEEGE)

R EZSEE (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BPIB BN AR IERBREZFIEGE)

(ii) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia (Cont'd)

BRI R HAE RABRIRFE B R « BB Rk B ZR(ET il (48)

The recoverable amount of the Hospitality CGU was
determined based on higher of value in use and fair
value less cost of disposal, which requires significant
management’s judgements and estimates concerning
the estimated future cash flow and other key inputs.
BERTEFEUZ PR RENHRBEABERR
TEERSERLENAMEE » JHARB s KRR
REREREMTZEH A BURFH ERNEIERE F
f&ist °

For this reason, we have identified management’s
impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment relating to the Hospitality CGU as a key
audit matter.

FULEME > RPIREEEMEBIEREELBHRH
ZME S BMERREZAETEHSAEEZE
I8 o

Working with the auditor’s valuation specialists to
review the valuation methodology, approach, the
accuracy of the calculations in the valuation model
and other key inputs used in the valuation;
Bz EEEREF BRAEMGELE &
T HEREPAER E 2 EEE REERRAZ
Ht T ZHAZE ;

Recalculating the amount of the impairment on the
property, plant and equipment and assessing the
sufficiency of the impairment as at 31 December
2024; and

BWMstEYE BEAREZRESBRTENRZ
T_NMFE+"A=+—RHBzRAETRE" ; &

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.
BRNGEVBRENIKBEEHESSE -

124 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises all of the information included in the
Company’s annual report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

ZE ML B IR S M B R R A
’Z2EHME

HPNERA S EREERGROVYBERRES
NFEBRREGFRERMERNEMERIER
BRI > W EHHAHMRROVZBEIRS ©
BARBEAERE-NN—FRFEFI0RE
[ ETFREE ERIMANER Ktz
Sh > BEBERFEMAR - AT ERERS
NRBREFEMA LTS THEEERSE -

GEREBSENILE » ETERFRRESE
BT RERETEZ TIFBAEEIRRA FER
BERFEERMERA o SEERMRI PRI HREFEEEER
HERHEEN S ERRBER NI EERE
RIBGREMBREFHVEERER » AIRE
FERIERRAL ©

RIEEBEAERNETEZR  HAEREXE
Hi > RBESZERPRIFERREEE -
IR -

o HAIKEHEAR S M BRI RFFIIER
MHRERERRIAVER > HEILE
R st RAITEZRER  BRERRER
BEBZERIRRMANERBMHEHER -
ARMEF Y R ERBE ~ RE - MRE
m o RGN R SRR A B ES 0 AL
oK AE 35 27 R L 45 PR BY 28 K 85 SR FR /& B
BORAE AN ERMENAERER
BRIt ERES o

s THEEVZABBWIBIES
ENERRER > BUIFEEH
REMERIB A ERER -

MR EHA
SHEH

126 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT'D)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT'D)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number — P06633

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

PN =
:Zn/T\IZI Hm

REMEENET

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ENE —ET=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5T F#ET FHETT
(Re- presented)
(RET)

Continuing operations FBREER
Revenue WA 7 68,328 64,530
Cost of sales & Bl A o (10,890) (9,613)
Other income and gains or losses H AR A R W im S ES 18 7 7,431 2,289
Administrative expenses TS ) (83,759) (83,721)
Impairment loss on accounts FEUTARAR ~ FEIRE TR

receivable, loan and interest MEZ BERE

receivables . 22(c) (1,581) (175)
Impairment loss on deposits and 7E R EMBERERIEZ

other receivables BRI 23 (2,459) (280)
Gain on deemed disposal of BIEHENB AR 2 W=

subsidiaries 34(a) - 72,145
(Loss)/gain on disposals of financial &R AF(EBEE TSR

assets at fair value through profit (RATEZEBRERR))

or loss (“FVTPL") Z2E=MEEZ (BE) Wm (1.333) 335
Fair value loss on financial BAHEDBER YR 2 Rk

assets at FVTPL, net HEZATERESH (29,567) (8,558)
Fair value gain on derivative financial {T4&M&E2 AFEWE

liabilities 29 - 402
Share of results of associates paN(slid=UNCIES 19 (20,573) (14,692)
Finance costs AL E A 9 (7,334) (6,493)
(Loss)/profit before tax Br#0a (B518) im A 8 (81,737) 16,169
Income tax FriSiR 10 - -
(Loss)/profit for the year from REFBEERHIAFE

continuing operations (B518) /&) (81,737) 16,169
Discontinued operations BRI 2 \
Loss for the year from discontinued ~ RE B ERE £ AFE

operation 518 14 (5,799) (3,717)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (B518) mF] (87,536) 12,452
Other comprehensive (loss)/ Hthzm (558) W

income, net of tax AR IE
Items that may be reclassified HiERH fﬁﬁﬁ/%? lﬂ REEFT R

subsequently to profit or loss in E18as

subsequent periods: .
Exchange differences arising on MEBINNB AR IR RE

translation of financial statements S ERERE

of overseas subsidiaries o R (5.642) 1,514
Reclassification of translation reserve IR 1E L& @A B R =8

upon deemed disposal of $EE R

subsidiaries - (3,712)
Items that will not be reclassified %7 & E/ 3 EEHat

to profit or loss: HEH
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial BN EZEBEMEE NS

assets at fair value through other k(AT EEBHMED

comprehensive income W3 BRR 1) > RIS E 2 A

("FVTOCI"), net A ( ? )/ W PR (885) 28,054
Share of other comprehensive loss of Mk E A B Ht 2 HEE S

associates (141) -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income — AFEEHMMEME

for the year, net of tax (B518) W > 3FRIRIE (6,668) 25,856
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for AFEE2mE (§518) Wz 42%8

the year (94,204) 38,308
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

roBEnkEMEER@ R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

2024 2023
ko 11} 3 “EB=HF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ET FHET
(Re-presented)
(FREF)
(Loss)/profit for the year THANTELEEE (EE),
attributable to: wmH
Owners of the Company KABIHEB A
Continuing operations FEREE (81,732) 16,173
Discontinued operation B IERE TS (5,830) (3,529)
(87,562) 12,644
Non-controlling interests FEER
Continuing operations B EET (5) 4)
Discontinued operation BRI ST 31 (188)
26 (192)
(87,536) 12,452
Total comprehensive (loss)/income T ATEEREEZE
for the year attributable to: (B518) MRz 48%m :
Owners of the Company KRBHEB A
Continuing operations FREEEED (88,400) 42,029
Discontinued operation BAR IR E TS (5,830) (3,529)
(94,230) 38,500
Non-controlling interests R
Continuing operations FEREET (5) (4)
Discontinued operation BRI E T 31 (188)
26 (192)
(94,204) 38,308
(Re-presented)
(Loss)/earnings per share i (&i8) &7 12 (RRET)
For continuing and discontinued FRER A IERE R
operations
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B AR 58 (GB1L) (1.70) 0.24
From continuing operations REFBREER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B AR 58 (GB1L) (1.59) 0.31
From discontinued operations KE B IEREER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B AR 85E (BL) (0.11) (0.07)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e RBIRTR

At 31 December 2024

RZEZMFE+—"H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME —_E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B st FET TETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BERRE 15 167,922 172,287
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 669 4,982
Goodwill EES 17 - -
Other intangible assets HihmL & E 18 - -
Interests in associates REENB 2 #m 19 52,511 86,237
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATESEAEMEEEE
R SRAEE 20 - 2,887
Financial assets at FVTPL BN EEBIERmYIRES
EMEE 24 - 29,190
Deferred tax assets FIEFRIEE & 30 1,059 1,169
Total non-current assets EREFEERLE 222,161 296,752
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Inventories 78 21 3,712 4,696
Accounts receivable, loan and FERERRR ~ FEWE R KT B
interest receivables 22 41,455 54,255
Prepayments, deposits and other TEIE ~ e R HAM
receivables FEW R I 23 53,501 46,723
Financial assets at FVTOC]I BAFEEBEMEE NG
TR SRAEE 20 1,426 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BN EEBERYRZ
EMEE 24 36,167 32,507
Cash and cash equivalents RWERERRSIER 25 10,987 6,569
Total current assets MENEEARE 147,248 144,750
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENaE
Contract liabilities HH8E 26 9,076 10,190
Trade and other payables, accruals B 5 K ELfthfE(ITRIE
and provision FESHE AR 27 33,131 34,372
Lease liabilities HES®E 16(b) 768 4,629
Interest-bearing bank and FFEIRITREMBEE
other borrowings 28 95,546 38,439
Convertible loans AR ER 29 = 8,328
Total current liabilities BB EAERE 138,521 95,958
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEPER 8,727 48,792
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEMLERTEBAR
LIABILITIES 230,888 345,544
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

eI
At 31 December 2024
R-EZmF+—F=+—H

2024 2023
—TE B4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bzt FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Interest-bearing bank and sHERITRAMES
other borrowings 28 7,545 27,520
Lease liabilities HEaRE 16(b) 71 1,044
Total non-current liabilities IEREN S E4BEE 7,616 28,564
NET ASSETS BEEEE 223,272 316,980
CAPITAL AND RESERVES AR &
Share capital [ 31 51,560 51,560
Reserves =i 33 171,716 265,946
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE IR FE (LR
SHAREHOLDERS 223,276 317,506
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS eI (4) (526)
TOTAL EQUITY RS 223,272 316,980

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”) on 31 March 2025

and signed on its behalf by:

Ng Ting Ho

BEE
Director

EF

132

KARRER(EFNE(EFE )N
FFEZR=+—BHEREETIE > TR T

ATREREE

Fong Chak Kiu
FiEE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUlTY

For the year ended 31 December 2024

n\7|_ /| 71(

BE_E_NFE+_FA=+—HIFFE
Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company
FAFREMES
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets
at FvTOCI Non-
Share Treasury  Contributed  Translation Other (non-  Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares surplus* reserve® reserve® recycling)* losses* Total interests equity
RATEE
BHEMEE
a5z
SHEEZ
ATERE
23 BEERR BEREH ER Hitfife*  (RRE)* RitisiE &5t kiR i 4+
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhr FEr Fhr THn Fhr FEn THEx THr FhEr FEn
At 1 January 2023 RIZZ=5-F-H 53,362 - 1,203,541 (2,786) 4733 (225,582) (737,029) 296,239 (334) 295,905
Profit for the year KEERR - - - - - - 12,644 12,644 (192) 12,452
Other comprehensive (loss)income for the year: FEERMREHE) /KE
Exchange differences related to overseas EEMIBATERNERER
subsidiaries - - - 1,514 - - - 1514 - 1,514
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary BIELE—RIBAR - - - 3712) - - - 3712) - (3712)
Deemed disposal of investments in listed equity REELERATERBEMZERE
securities at FVTOCI SRz LRAESRE - - - - - 158,554 (158,554) - - -
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVTOCI BATEEREMZARGTR
2EREEZATENE - - - - - 28,054 - 28,054 - 28,054
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year FEERE(GR) / WREE - - - (2,198) - 186,608 (145,910) 38,500 (192) 38,308
Repurchase of shares EE&H - (17,233) - - - - - (17,233) - (17,233)
Cancellation of shares SR (1,802) 17233 (15,431) - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
51,560 - 1,188,110 (4,984) 4733 (38,974) (882,939) 317,506 (526) 316,980
At 1 January 2024 RIZZME-E-H 51,560 - 1,188,110 (4,984) 4733 (38,974) (882,939) 317,506 (526) 316,980
Loss for the year FEEFR - - - - - - (87,562) (87,562) 2% (87,536)
Other comprehensive (loss)income for the year: FEERMREEE) /KE
Exchange differences related to overseas ERINBATEMNERZR
subsidiaries - - - (5.642) - - - (5.642) - (5.642)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTOCI BRATEFBEMRERRIIRZ
THEENATESS - - - - - (885) - (885) - (385)
Disposal of financial assets at FVTOCI BRATEFREMRENRIIRZ
EMEEZHE - - - - - 38,824 (38,824) - - -
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates DHMEMEAT M RESE - - - - - (141) - (141) - (141)
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year FEEREBE)  WaeE - - - (5,642) - 37,798 (126,386) (94,230) 2% (94,204)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHRAG = = S S S = S o 496 496
At 31 December 2024 RZE-MFE+ZA=+-H 51,560 - 1,188,110 (10,626) 4,733 (1,176) (1,009,325) 223,276 (4 223272
ZEHBROEGR MBI NRAFTY

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves *
of approximately HK$171,716,000 (2023: HK$265,946,000)

in the consolidated statement of financial position.

RS

=

i ==

FEE#171,716,0008 0 (22

265,946,000 7T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A AN E=
,anrx mfﬁi/ﬁgﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mE _EC=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk FAT TETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KREKEXHZIREHE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax bR AT (E548) & F|
Continuing operations HEREER (81,737) 16,169
Discontinued operations BRI ST (5,799) (3,717)
(87,536) 12,452
Adjustments for: P FIRIEEHRE
Interest income ) BWA 7 (305) (52)
Finance costs GE= %N 9 7,334 6,493
Depreciation of property, M~ BBERZRBINE
plant and equipment 15 8,768 8,055
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 16(a) 3,802 3,864
Share of results of associates DMEBMERBEE 19 21,122 16,994
Loss/(gain) on disposals of HERATEEBEDY
financial assets at FVTPL R EMEECEE/
(Yz) 1,333 (335)
Fair value loss on BN EBEEBIEmYR
financial assets at FVTPL EREEZANFE
K58 29,567 8,282
Fair value gain on derivative il =Pl
financial liabilities N ERTE 29 - (402)
Impairment loss on loan and FEWE R &
interest receivables B ZRERE 22(c) 1,581 175
Impairment loss on deposits e REMEWRIEZ
and other receivables RERTE 23 2,459 280
Gain on deemed disposals BIEHERBASZ
of subsidiaries U 34(a) - (72,145)
Gain on deemed disposal of BEHE—RBBREABZ
an associate & 7 - (149)
Loss on disposal of an operation HE—IEERFZEBE 14 6,145 -
Loss on disposals of property, HEYZE - BERREZ
plant and equipment 518 7 152 -
Gain on early termination of RRARITMEE 2 WmE
lease 7 (16) -
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2 W 14 (846) -
Gain on substantial modification AMRERBE KRBT Z
of convertible loans g 7 (267) =
Gain on substantial modification HtEEE BT 2 Wm
of other borrowings 7 (727) =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
malRTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

2024 2023
—ENE _EC=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B st FET TETT
Operating cash flows before EESESEHAIZ
working capital changes KEIRERE (7,434) (16,488)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD (8 583 (267)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts FEWRR T ~ BB R K
receivables, loan and interest F 2R, ()
receivables 14,536 (13,546)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments,  FE{IFIE ~ EfEINFIE R
other receivables and HahE 2 g m)
other assets (22,809) 5,563
(Decrease)/increase in contract BHREE0RLD) 1Em
liabilities (174) 2,009
Increase in trade and other B 5 R EMETEIE
payables, accruals and provision FEST & A M I 0 922 9,768
Purchases of financial assets BERATESBERYR
at FVTPL ZEMEE - (12,577)
Proceeds from disposals of HERAFEHBIERIIR
financial assets at FVTPL ZEREEMSHIE 14,057 60,558
NET CASH FLOW (USED IN)/ REEE (FRFE) PRI Z
GENERATED FROM OPERATING IREREFEE
ACTIVITIES (319) 35,020
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KREREBEZHZIRER=
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYE  BEKMXREER
plant and equipment 15 (21,382) (23,382)
Interest received BUWHE 305 52
Proceeds from disposals of financial HEZRAFEFZBEMEE
assets at FVTOC| Wy iRz EMEES
FrigmIE 393 -
Capital injection to investment m—EBEABRRETE
in an associate - (3,500)
Dividend received from an associate ~ WEN—RIBE AT ZIRE 19 - 9,666
Net cash outflow from deemed BIEHERB AR Z
disposal of subsidiaries REMH P48 34(a) - (11)
Net cash outflow from disposal of REHEWBAS 2
subsidiaries IR FRE 34(b) (1) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEY%E - BEKRKREZ
plant and equipment FrigmiIg 384 -
NET CASH FLOW USED IN KREGEMERESREFEE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (20,301) (17,175)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A AN E=
,anrx mfﬁi/ﬁgﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mE TET=F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B = FAET TETT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING KREBMEZHZIRERE
ACTIVITIES
Repurchases of ordinary shares EAEI PN ]
of the Company - (17,233)
Repayment of interest-bearing bank  BiE5t EIRIT R EMBEE
and other borrowings 34(d) (11,253) (18,734)
Interest paid BT E 34(d) (6,311) (5,512)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ EfJfAEZ EAZD 34(d) (4,306) (3,804)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ BffEE 2 BZH 34(d) (173) (368)
Inception of interest-bearing bank 1 uﬂ%fﬁﬁ&ﬂ@%g
and other borrowings 34(d) 47,909 25,154
Repayment of convertible loans BEPRREMN 29 (694) -
NET CASH FLOW GENERATED REEEIFTE (FrE) e
FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING MEFE
ACTIVITIES 25,172 (20,497)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN RE/RERREER 218N~
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (REi‘L):3%8 4,552 (2,652)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REVZREKRZERHEEIER
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,569 9,313
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE  EXREH 2 &
RATE CHANGES (134) (92)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RMELXZREXZERTLIER
AT END OF YEAR 10,987 6,569
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERERRSIBEBEGROW
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances IRe KIRTT4HER 25 10,987 6,569
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was redomiciled
and continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited
liability. The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda. The principal place of business is 31/F, Tower Two,
Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). HKFRS Accounting Standards comprise
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards; Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"); and
interpretations. The consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
discussed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

—RRER

EEBEBIZERERABD (AT H
RHEEEFMEIIITN _S—HF+
“R—HBMEEBREABREFE
ZERRE c AAB MM ERM
It A Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda > = E2& ¥
AT EIFRENMEEISRERES
E311E o RRBIRNDETAMESRZFN
BIRAE (THEZZFR)) GEM LT ©

TRBH/EEEZERAR > HNB AR Z
FEXEBHNIR G BRERM LS o

AR EE

e BRRDIBESESHAAE(H
BEHAAT ) EHG2EBHHFRE2E
BlEstERRE - ERMBREED T
sHAER| B FEFR A B A A E B (B B 75 R
HEAN)  (BFEEAER) ((EBTHE
B K28 o i BB IRR I AT S 3
GEMZEBH EmHRA (TGEM LA >
BRANREEYXREBABEAZHKER
o RERRMNEETSHRENTX

515 ©

BAGSMAGERMETRNAERE
GBI EREMA P RRERNZEE
MBS ER G ST ERNER] o MisE3H5
HERERAKRRTREWNBAE (T4E
B ) BRI RAEESTERIFRSIERE
A RBEEsStHBENE A S5t BERED
WEK > ZFEHENREMBRERK
BR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(a)

138

Application of new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards and interpretation (“Int"”)
issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Hong Kong Int 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Adoption of Amendments to HKAS 1
“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current” and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants” (Collectively the "HKAS
1 Amendments”)

As a result of the adoption of the HKAS 1
Amendments, the Group changed its accounting policy
for the classification of borrowings as below:

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless,
at the end of the reporting period, the Group has a
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with, on or before the end of the reporting period,
are considered in classifying loan arrangements with
covenants as current or non-current. Covenants
that the Group is required to comply with after the
reporting period do not affect the classification.

This new policy did not result in a change in the
classification of the Group’s borrowings. The Group
did not make retrospective adjustments as a result
of adopting HKAS 1 Amendments. The Group has
provided additional disclosures about its non-current
liabilities subject to covenants in Note 43(c).

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024

3.

PR ] RS T BB TS

R
(a)

%EIE\IJ D-I-_'_I\IJ

SR AT E BB R 2R
3t 2L

AEEEMFNGEEMBREER

ﬁ’%ﬁHLX"FEE*%DJrEﬁV&@ﬁE%jﬁ

N ZE_NE—RB—Hs BRI

WEEERGERNE BT

%%EEU@%Z%EM@ET&%%U%
0

FAGHENR S ARNEATEA

il EISi0E)
5;51&%2?*—5\‘]%1%2 (e =L
&3]

EENTREER ERBEsHESR
F16582187]

BEEREEST HBRRERARAY
(Z2Z%5H) HARBREERNZ
(#43]) BHERZNE

EASHENEIRR  HEERERH
EAYBRSER
FIR2 BT

BRANEBETERFE1H KT E

ERERREHHRE IREBE
ERIFE15EZ ST B 75 Rt 2 FE
BEE|HBIEBEAERER
ZIEET )

HRRAB B EE 1R E
EI $$IB#ET&‘A‘%+EZED+

BaESsEARTERE  BRIENKRS
HAR > $$lﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ REIR
LHRBE/D12EBEE

B ELENERLHDEA R
WIEREEF > TEBAEB BN
FHARY ZAIE T o ZEE
BRBEHEETHNRELGEE

parp Il

ZMB R RENAEREE 2D
HHIRGE - ZXEBWERRNE
/% D+EE|J%15ﬁZ1|§DTﬁﬁT/E&L/¢H
HE REBEMENME43()X
%%Wﬁ@%%m%%ﬁkﬁﬁ%
Eé o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONT'D)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRS Accounting

(b)

Standards (Cont’d)

Except for the above, other amendments listed above
did not have any material impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in

issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied any new and amendments
to standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January
2024. The new and amendments to standards include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1
= Lack of exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
- Classification and measurement of
financial instruments

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
= Contracts referencing nature-dependent
electricity

HKFRS 18 = Presentation and disclosure in
financial statements

Amendments to HK Int 5 = Presentation of
Financial statements — classification by
the borrower of a term loan that contains
a repayment on demand clause

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
— Sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint
venture

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

1 January 2025

1 January 2026

1 January 2026

1 January 2026

1 January 2027

1 January 2027

To be determined by
the HKICPA
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONT'D)

(b)

140

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

The directors of the Company are in the process of
making an assessment of what the impact of these
new and amendments to standards and interpretation
is expected to be in the period of initial application.
Except for the below, so far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments —
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

The HKICPA issued targeted amendments to HKFRS
9 and HKFRS 7 to respond to recent questions arising
in practice, and to include new requirements not only
for financial institutions but also for corporate entities.
These amendments:

e  clarify the date of recognition and derecognition
of some financial assets and liabilities, with a
new exception for some financial liabilities settled
through an electronic cash transfer system;

e clarify and add further guidance for assessing
whether a financial asset meets the solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) criterion;

° add new disclosures for certain instruments with
contractual terms that can change cash flows (such
as some financial instruments with features linked
to the achievement of environment, social and
governance targets); and

e update the disclosures for equity instruments
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS 3. BREAFNE] RAMES ] B AT
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONT'D) wEEANGHER ()

(b) New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in (b) BEEMIE R REMBIFTET R ERIEET

issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of
financial statements”, introducing new requirements
that will help to achieve comparability of the financial
performance of similar entities and provide more
relevant information and transparency to users. Even
though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the consolidated financial
statements, HKFRS 18 introduces significant changes to
the presentation of financial statements, with a focus
on information about financial performance present in
the statement of profit or loss, which will affect how
the Group present and disclose financial performance in
the financial statements. The key changes introduced in
HKFRS 18 relate to (i) the structure of the statement of
profit or loss, (i) required disclosures for management-
defined performance measures (which are referred
to alternative or non-GAAP performance measures),
and (iii) enhanced requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of information.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing
the impact of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation
and the disclosures of the consolidated financial
statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONT'D)

(b)

142

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture”

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is
a sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the
amendments state that gains or losses resulting from
the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain
a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method,
are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses
resulting from the remeasurement of investments
retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using
the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the
former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or
joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the material accounting policy information
below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are measured
at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(a)

144

Consolidation (Cont’'d)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity
within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Cont’'d)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

ERBERZRERAR | S -NEER

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

#BE = i+ _—H=+—HIFFE
4, BRGFHERER (@)

(a)

(b)

REARGE)

NEERRRBREEFI R B
NEFTAEEm S ARIFED
X7 BB AS I BEBE NETH
R5F) o ERMIFERERNREE
T LU EE DU I BR S B B8 A ) 4B R A
mAVEE) o FFIERERAVEETER
HENHBERAEBAFEZENE
P EBERN EmiET > TEER
KABIHEAN o

B\ EERR

RAERBZHMHBRRER > KB
NBEZERERLAE BB EREES
iR BRIFRREDESFIELE (H
SEADEARFHEZHEMER) -
ABEEREBERERE (1B
NEREETIAARAEREWEE
W ESEZEARK -

Hig SBHNB AR EIKKRSHE
R mARER  WIHBILEHRE
PREREDEBLGSHBHREMR
TRENSEEFEEBEBE)N
IREME > AR BZFREWEK
BB HRNZEMNBLARANKEE
TTRERE -

145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
reh

TSR AL

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

146

(c)

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and any contingent consideration. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods
in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the sum of the consideration transferred is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the
consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(c)

(d)

Business combination and goodwill (Cont'd)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs") or groups of CGUs that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill
is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as
an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint
control over those policies. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held
by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right are not
considered.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(d)

148

Associates (Cont'd)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values as at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits,
the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(d) Associates (Cont'd)

(e)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents
the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the
Group's entire carrying amount of that associate
(including goodwill) and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in
an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture,
the Group continues to apply the equity method and
does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), which is the Company's functional and
presentation currency.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)
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(iij) Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains
and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREFHBERER (B8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
(e) Foreign currency translation (Cont'd) (e) SMEIBE ()

(iii) Translation on consolidation (iii) ZHEANRERE

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

= All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)
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()

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual value over its estimated useful life on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Freehold land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Not depreciated

40 years

The shorter of remaining
lease term and useful life

Plant, machinery and 3to 10 years

equipment

Office and other equipment 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 10 years
Motor vehicles and yachts 5 to 6 years

4. BRGFBERER ()

()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

()

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(g) Leases (Cont'd)

(i)

154

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the lease liability. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party
financing was received;

e uses a build-up approach that starts with
a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit
risk for leases held by the group companies,
which does not have recent third-party
financing; and

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(g) Leases (Cont'd)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is
available to the individual lessee (through recent
financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group
entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)
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(g) Leases (Cont'd)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16
and recognised the change in consideration as if it
were not a lease modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(9)

(h)

Leases (Cont'd)
(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end. The following intangible assets
with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their useful lives are as
follows:

Wine membership 5 years
Copyright 10 years
Domain name 15 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)
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0]

()

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed
for expected credit losses (“ECL") in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(bb) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREFHBERER (B8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
BRI ST A

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial (k)

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)
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(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial

U]

instruments (Cont’'d)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial
assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREFHBERER (B8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(I) Financial assets (Cont'd) () TMEEGE

Debt investments (Cont’d)

- FVTOCI = recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

=  FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made
on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other income.
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4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

162

TSR AL

(m) Accounts receivable and other receivables

(n)

(o)

(p)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flow. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless,
at the end of the reporting period, the Group has a
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Borrowings (Cont'd)

Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with, on or before the end of the reporting period,
are considered in classifying loan arrangements with
covenants as current or non-current. Covenants
that the Group is required to comply with after the
reporting period do not affect the classification at the
reporting date.

Convertible loans

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert
the loans into equity instruments, other than into
a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed
conversion price, are regarded as combined instruments
consisting of a liability and derivative components.
At the date of issue, the fair value of the derivative
components are determined by using an option pricing
model; this amount is carried as derivative liability
that is subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss until extinguished on conversion or
redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated
to the liability component and is carried as a liability
at amortised cost using the effective interest method
until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
liability component is classified as a current liability
when the conversion option, which is classified as a
liability derivative, can be exercised at the option of the
holders at any time or within 12 months from the end
of reporting date.

Transaction costs, if any, are apportioned between the
liability and derivative components of the convertible
loans based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and derivative components on initial recognition. The
portion related to the derivative component is expensed
immediately.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

164

(s)

(®

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of each reporting period.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid
contract that also includes a non-derivative host — with
the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined
instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone
derivative.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with a
financial asset host within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured as either amortised cost or fair
value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with hosts
that are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS
9 are treated as separate derivatives when they meet
the definition of a derivative, their risks characteristics
are not closely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

If the hybrid contract is a quoted financial liability,
instead of separating the embedded derivative, the
Group generally designates the whole hybrid contract
at FVTPL.

4. BRGFBERER ()
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREFHBERER (B8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
LN

(u) Revenue recognition (u)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the promised
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.
For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)
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(u) Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Provision of services through network media

Revenue from retail commerce through network
media is recognised at a point in time when
control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the promised
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia

Revenue from hotel accommodation and other
ancillary services is recognised over time in the
accounting period in which the control of the
products or the services are transferred to the
customer because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as it performs.

Revenue from sales of hotel supplies and food
and beverage in hotel business and food and
restaurants operation is recognised at a point
in time when the control of the products or the
services is transferred to the customers, being
when the products are delivered to the customers,
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products and
the customer has obtained the physical possession
or the legal title of the products and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection
of the consideration is probable. The Group
controls the products in these transactions and,
therefore, the Group is the principal and revenue
is recognised on a gross basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(u) Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

(v)

Revenue from other sources
Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised at the time when the
shareholders’ right to receive the dividend have been
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(v)

168

Employee benefits (Cont’d)
Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when it made contribution to the
MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in
Australia are entitled to benefit from the employee’s
complying superannuation plan on retirement, disability
or death. These subsidiaries are responsible for making
contributions to the plan at a certain percentage of
employees’ wages or salaries. The subsidiaries’ legal or
constructive obligation is limited to these contributions,
which are recognised as an expense as they become
payable. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in future years.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offsetted
as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and
it is measured on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(v)

(w)

Employee benefits (Cont’d)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of
the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

170

(w) Share-based payments (Cont'd)

(x)

(y)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants
are measured at the fair value of the services rendered
or, if the fair value of the services rendered cannot
be reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the
date the Group receives the services and is recognised
as an expense.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match
them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(y) Borrowing costs (Cont'd)

(2)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable
to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset. Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(2)

172

Taxation (Cont’'d)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

4, BKG

(2)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREFHBERER (B8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(z) Taxation (Cont'd) (z) FIE(EE)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as
a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net
basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of
lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(aa) Impairment of non-financial assets

174

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed for
impairment annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the
case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is
being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit
and then prorate amongst the other assets of the
cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are
credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse
the impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREFHBERER (B8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
(bb) ERHEERSHVEERE

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, contract assets
and bank and cash balances. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if
the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses
that will result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

4. BRGFBERER ()

(bb) TR BEEREGNEERE ()

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREFHBERER (B8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
(bb) ERMBEEREGNEERE ()

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)
Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets
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(Cont'd)
Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating
of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past due
amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREFHBERER (B8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
(bb) ERMBEEREGNEERE ()

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont’'d)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

= significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

= the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
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INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Cont’d)

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

—  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information
as described above. As for the exposure at default, for
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down
in the future by default date determined based on
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the
specific future financing needs of the debtors, and
other relevant forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE —ENFEf —H=4+—HIFFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHABEKRER (8)
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets (bb) TREERSNEEREE)
(Cont'd)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d) FRIEEE BT ERER (HE)
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated MEMBEEMS > MAEEHER
as the difference between all contractual cash flows BRIESENRNEAEBENMAEESL
that are due to the Group in accordance with the REMERAEEBRIWENAE
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects RERERERREETERFERLIR) 2
to receive, discounted at the original effective interest BN ELEGE o st ERWFRIEM
rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for EBAREEHEMAEEGENRS
determining the expected credit losses is consistent mEBHERREBMBREERNE16
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease SErEMERINARERERNIRE
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16. ME—E °
For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is MV BEERESOMES > ARAER
required to make payments only in the event of a IRIFFTHE R TRNRREBRER
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of NENFER R > WTEHAEIEE
the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss HABEBRFEAMRZEERIEN
allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the BHNFH > EFRNRAAEETERE
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts FEA ~ BB ASEREM A WER
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the HYfE(RIERE ©

debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a A ER LERSHABZAER
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL SHERCEERENTETETM
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the TENEGEREE > BERERRSEH
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime HEEArBRTEEATEIBEERIE
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss R > BIREER BRI RS H A
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at EHEEFR12EREREEHENS
the current reporting date, except for assets for which BEEtEEEEE > MERABERZE
simplified approach was used. BB ERRSD o

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss AEERETEIMEEMIAN
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a BEW@SEE > LEBEEEE
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount IREHREEFLERERE » %
through a loss allowance account, except for NREEBEBHMEEWGS RS2
investments in debt instruments that are measured at NEFTAKERI > HEEEE
FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in REMEEWGEEBENIEESEG
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the EERE > B Emp BRI R
investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce REMEERNREE °

the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
statement of financial position.
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BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(cc) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

(dd) Events after the reporting period

182

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end
of the reporting period are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024

4. BRGFBERER ()

(co) BERHAGR

HAEEBAMREEENFTHRER
TARRIEESE > METZER
BIREEEHACEN m IR » W] fF
R EREE > EEMEEREN
HETENERTIRER - WEK
WEREEEEKX  AIREETE
EPTE X HAVIREFHR AR -

B OB M m SRR AT BE S BUE - 5
BANABMBEREL I EME 2 Al
GRZEERBERUREE > ML
B = SR BY BT BE IE B AR BRI o 2B
RIEREFHERAREHREHE
TREREFEETGHEETEME > 77
TREAHNAERE » BN = I
B R] SEIEMBRAR BRI ©

(dd) HRERIREIE

RHBRATERENRSHARK T Z
BINEHPNRENREERBERES
B WHREGMBRRARER o I
FHBEEFHRZBEHEFEUE
BEX AIRGREMBHRERMERR

E o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(bb), ECL under general approach
are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for
stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets.
An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not
define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In
assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly
increased, the Group takes into account qualitative and
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information.
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5.

184

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.
(CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
other non-financial assets and rights-of-use assets

Determining whether property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other non-financial assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use and
fair value less cost of disposal of the cash-generating
units to which the property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other non-financial assets have
been allocated. The calculation of value in use requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating units and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

Calculation of fair value less cost of disposal approach
requires valuation techniques which used prices and
other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical and comparable group
of assets and liabilities or business, a suitable discount
rate and marketability discount rate. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates
or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment, rights-of-use assets and other non-financial
assets as at 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$167,922,000 (2023: HK$172,287,000),
HK$669,000 (2023: HK$4,982,000), and
HK$52,511,000 (2023: HK$86,237,000) respectively.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(b) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

(c)

The Group determines the estimated useful lives for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and management'’s long-term
strategic development. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$167,922,000 (2023: HK$172,287,000) and no
impairment loss for both of the years.

Impairment of accounts and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for debtors by
assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of estimates
and judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the end of the reporting period. Where
the estimation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will affect the carrying amounts of
receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period
in which such estimate will be changed. The Group
keeps assessing the ECLs of debtors during their
expected lives.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
accounts and other receivables were approximately
HK$50,141,000 (2023: HK$45,519,000).
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(d)

186

Impairment of loan and interest receivables

The Group reviews its loan portfolio to assess whether
there is any objective evidence that the loan receivable
is impaired at least on a yearly basis. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
Group makes judgements as to whether there is any
observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of loan receivables before the decrease can
be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio.
This evidence may include observable data indicating
that there has been an adverse change in the payment
status of borrowers in the group, or national or local
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the group. Management estimates based
on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics and objective evidence of impairment
similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its
future cash flows. The methods and assumptions
used for estimating both the amount and timing of
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experienced.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
loan and interest receivables were approximately
HK$41,405,000 (2023: HK$50,829,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B E i+ —H=4+—HIFFEFE
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. BARYETREEME (BB
(CONT'D)
GEHFEBEET X EXRE ()

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(e) BRAFEZEBRMPENZIIKRZ

(e) Fair value of the unlisted equity securities at

FVTOCI and unlisted equity investments, unlisted
fund and derivative financial assets at FVTPL

The fair value of unlisted equity securities, unlisted
equity investments, unlisted fund and derivative
financial assets that are not traded in an active market
is determined by using valuation techniques. The
Group use its judgement to select a variety of methods
(such as asset-based approach, discounted cash flow
method, Black Scholes Model) and makes assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions are disclosed in Note 42(c). Changes in
assumptions could affect the carrying amount of the
FVTOCI and FVTPL.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s unlisted equity securities at FVTOCI
and unlisted equity investments, unlisted fund and
derivative financial assets at FVTPL were approximately
HK$1,426,000 (2023: HK$1,971,000) and
HK$22,747,000 (2023: HK$48,566,000) respectively.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONT'D)

5.

188

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

("

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based
on the current market conditions and the historical
experience of selling products with similar nature. Any
change in the assumptions would increase or decrease
the amount of inventories write-down or the related
reversals of write-down made in prior years and affect
the Group's net assets value. The Group reassesses
these estimates at the end of each reporting period.

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s inventories
of approximately HK$3,712,000 (2023: HK$4,696,000)
were stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal report provided to the chief operating
decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, as
have been identified by the Directors.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

Continuing operations:

=  Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia
= Money lending business

—  Assets investments business

Discontinued operation:

= Provision of services through network media

The Group's reporting segments of provision of services
through network media has been presented as discontinued
operation following Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Limited,
an associate of the Company, engaging in the Group’s
reporting segments of provision of services through network

media, was disposed on 30 August 2024. Details are set out
in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6.

190

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(CONT'D)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s chief
operating decision maker monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following basis:-

—  Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments.

—  Assets and liabilities are allocated to the reportable
segments excluding unallocated corporate assets and
liabilities.

—  The measure used for reportable segment profit/(loss)
is adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit/(loss) before tax except that bank interest
income, finance costs, dividend income from the
Group's financial instruments, gain on deemed disposal
of subsidiaries as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group's chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are set out below:~
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. EPEER (8)

(CONT'D)
(i) Segment results (i) PEEE
Year ended 31 December 2024 gE_ZT_MFE+ZHA=+—HL
FE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
RREELH BRIEBEEE
Provision of
hospitality and Money Assets Provision of
related services lending investments  services through
in Australia business business network media Total
RN R - BARLER .
RimmH fEEEH BERELE R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$000
T TEn Tén Tén Tin
Segment revenue REHBA 62,126 6,164 3 s 68,328
Inter-segment revenue ARRRA - - - - -
Revenue from external customers HMIERBA 62,126 6,164 3 . 68,328
Segment results piEiES
Segment loss S5 (383) (4825) (50,592 (5799) (65,049
Unallocated head office and ANEEHERER
corporate income and expenses rEUARER (8724)
Others (note) Hif(H) (6,735)
Bank interest income RTHEMA 305
Finance costs HERA (7.334)
Loss before tax KRiEIBE (87,536)
Income tax expenses RS -
Loss for the year KFERE (87.536)
Amounts included in the HADHEGHEZHE !
measure of segment results:
Depreciation and amortisation NERER (6,438) (.73 - - (9172)
Others At (3,070)
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation &R ITER & (328)
Total depreciation and amortisation ERBReE (12,570)
Share of resuls of associates HMERERTEE - = (2057) (549) (21122)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBLT 2k - - - 846 846
Loss on disposal of an operation HE-REK 6B - - - (6,145) (6,145)
Fair value loss on financil assets at RATERBER R 2/
FVTRL EE/NTEFE - - (29567) - (29567)
Impairment loss on loan EUEARRISZBESS
and interest receivables - (1,581) - - (1,581)
Note: Others represent operating segment of medical sk : HMERERA RS DEE1E
business which does not meet the quantitative RENEBEEFLEDEL o
thresholds of reportable segment.
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. EDEER (B
(CONT'D)
(i) Segment results (Cont'd) (i) DEEEGEE)
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE_Z_="F+"H=+—HI
FE
Re-presented
]
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
RETEZR ERILAEEE
Provision of
hospitality and Money Assets Provision of
related services lending investments  senvices through
I Australa busingss business nework media Total
PRNREER ) s FRERER \
RIS EEXH BERERH AR st
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TiEn TEn TEn Tén Tén
(Re-presented)
(i #5)
Segment revenue ABYA 58,773 5,709 18 57 64,587
Inter-segment revenue ABRRA - - - - -
Revenue from external customers  5MIEEIMA 58773 5,709 18 57 64,587
Segment results e
Segment loss piE 37 2919 (805) (31,631) (3717) (39,072)
Unallocated head office and RNRENZRR
corporate income and expenses CEARE (6,487)
Others (note St (3t) \ (769
Gain on deemed disposal RIFHE-BRBARZ
of a subsidiary R 7,145
Bank interest income BHENA 3,
Finance costs HENA (6,493)
Profit before tax ATl 12,452
Income tax s -
Profit for the year KEERA 1245
Amounts included in the AANBEEHE B
measure of segment results:
Depreciation and amortsation ERES (5,639) (2,755) - - (8.394)
Others o (3,144)
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation KA TEREsH (381)
Total depreciation and amortisation i (11919
Share of results of associates MBEAREE - - (14,692) (2,300 (16,994)
Far value gainfloss financial assets st~ AT EEE SRRk 28
ATRL EEZATENG/ (B8 - - (8,558) 276 (8.262)
Impairment loss on loan and interest ~ EWEFRFIE 2 HEHE
receivables - (175) - - (175)

192
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. REDHER (B
(CONT'D)
(i) Segment assets and liabilities (i) PEHEEKRERE
31 December 2024 —EMmE+"A=+—H
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
o BRIEAEEH
Provision of
hospitality and Money Assets Provision of
related services lending investments  services through
in Australia business business  network media Total
RENEREE - BARLER .
RiEmRHS fEEEH BERERH R it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
Tin Tin TR Tn T
SEGMENT ASSETS NHEE 196,815 51,068 87,286 - 335,169
Others At 4m
Comorate and other nallocated assets ~ CEREMKIEEE 29,968
Total assets BElE 369,409
SEGMENT LIABILITES ni&k 98,359 EAVE 2,464 - 103,9%
Others At 379
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMFNESE
liabilities 38,349
Totalliabltes &F4E 146,137
Amounts included in the measure  HANHEEHEZIE:
of segment assets:
Investments in associates REEARE - - 52511 = 52,511
Amounts regularly provided tothe BRI ELEARERE
chief operating decision maker: ZHE:
Adaitions to property, plant and equipment FEHE « BERR(E 21,382 - - - 21,382
Total additions to property, RENE  BERRELE
plant and equipment 21,382
Additions to right-of-use assets TEEREEE 86 - - - 86
Total additions to right-of-use assets REFAEEELE 8
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONT'D)

(ii) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont'd)

194

31 December 2023

6. ENHEKR (B

(i) PBEEREREE)
—E=Ft+-RA=+—H

Re-presented
e
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
RETEEH ERIEAEEH
Provision of
hospitality
and related Money Assets Provision of
services in lending investments  services through
_Australia business business  network media Total
PENRERE \ - FBEER \
RIS BEXH  BERERR R )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEn TEn TERL TEL
SEGMENT ASSETS NHEE 181,932 56,806 153,020 24,987 416,745
Others Hftr 7137
Corporate and other unallocated assets  SEREMKNEEE 17,620
Total assets EELE 441,502
SEGMENT LIABILITIES PHak 85,828 2,925 1412 3,205 93,370
Others = 3926
Corporate and other unallocated rERAMKAREE
liabilites 27,226
Total liabilties BEEE 124522
Amounts included in the measure  SFANTEEEZHE |
of segment assets:
Investments in associates BRI RE - - 73,25 13,012 86,237
Amounts regularly provided to the  EHiRF B Rk R
chief operating decision maker: ~ Z3UE
Additions to property, plant and RENE  BERZME
equipment 23382 - - - 23382
Total additions to property, TENE  BERZELE
plant and equipment 23382
Additions to right-of-use assets HEFREEE 5 - - - 5
Unallocated additions to AARAEERESE
right-of-use assets 1276
Total additions to right-of-use assets ~ FEFFHEEERE 1,328
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONT'D)

(iii)

(iv)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong
Kong and Australia. The following table sets out
information about (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers; and (ii) the geographical locations of the
Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial assets
at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL and deferred tax
assets) (“Specified Non-current Assets”), based on
the place of domicile of the relevant group entity.

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

6. ENHEKR (B

(iii) tEFE

FEEEBETBZUNEARBEMN -
TREHEBOFTEEIIEDEF U
A RNVAEBIERBEE (T EE
BRATEEBEMEERmSIRZ
TMEE BATEZBEIK
ZEMBERMEENBEE) (HE
JERBEE)) 2 HIBABERE R
RIARAEEBR ZPREME| 7 o

Revenue from

continuing operations Specified
from external customers Non-current Assets
REFEREXEREZ
ShERE B IRA HEERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023

BN | o= | ZBDNE | =85
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT FHETT

Hong Kong A 6,202 5,814 56,195 97,145
Australia BN 62,126 58,773 164,907 166,361
68,328 64,587 221,102 263,506

Information about a major customer

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
there was no customer, whose transaction amounted
exceeding 10% of the Group's revenue.

(iv) BR—REEZRZEN

REE_Z_NER_E_=F+
“BA=t+—HLEEE  TEERLZ
RS BBAREBWAZ10% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

7.

196

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR 7. WA~EMUA KU A
LOSSES
The principal activities of the Group were (i) provision of REEZ TEXFEREEE | ()RR
hospitality and related services in Australia; (i) money HOAE R ABRIARTS 5 (NEEZER 5 i)
lending business; and (jii) assets investments business. BEREXRT
Revenue represents the aggregate of the net invoiced value WA FEREBBEE SmIVERZF
of goods sold and net amounts received and receivable from BRI AEBPTRHRBEWRKREWRSE
third parties for the services rendered by the Group during —HRIEFE BT c AEE W
the year. An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income A~ HtIWA RS BB T @ -
and gains or losses is as follows:—
2024 2023
—EZE .
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
(Re-presented)
(R&E7)
Continuing operations FRBREER
Revenue from contracts with customers & B &4IU A (FisE(a)) -
(note (a)):
Provision of hospitality and related RS K AR AR TS
services 35,169 34,473
Sales of food and beverage in hotel OBIE =S E B R
business 26,957 24,300
62,126 58,773
Continuing operations FREREER
Revenue from other sources: REHMARRAIUA -
Loan interest income BERF B A 6,164 5,709
Dividend income arising from financial REBE AT EEBEGR
assets at FVTPL IR EMBEEN
Bz BULA 38 48
6,202 5,757
68,328 64,530
Continuing operations REKEER
Other income and gains or losses: HAUG A B W am s 518
Interest income A2 UA 305 52
Income from provision of administrative 12 HER EIER TR &
and management services transferred BIER 2 WA (FiEE(a))
overtime (note (a)) 4,834 1,228
Gain on deemed disposal of an RIEHEME AT 2 W am
associate - 149
Gain on substantial modification of R EREAET 2 WG
convertible loans 267 -
Gain on substantial modification of HiEEEARET 2 W
other borrowings 727 -
Gain on early termination of lease RERIFHE 2 W&
(note 16(a)) (MzE16(a)) 16 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEVE - BERREZ
equipment E5i8 (152) S
Other income HA A 1,434 860
7,431 2,289
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR 7. WA~NEMUEA KUz e e 18

LOSSES (CONT'D) (48)

Notes: MisE -

(@) Revenue and other income within the scope under HKFRS 15 (a) BEAMBERESERZFE SEFEE@WE’J%U\
were approximately HK$66,960,000 (2023: HK$60,001,000). &H@Llﬁz)\f%iﬁ% 960,000/8C(ZF =

=4 : 60,001,00057T) °

Revenue from contracts with customers SRS IN
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WAEBEHBEAH
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RELERE BRIEEEEH

Provision of hospitality
and related services Provision of services through

in Australia network media Total
TR (A e AR AR ERMBERRARE s
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECME | CBRCCE| ZBORME | CECcE | ECPE | CBCCE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tén ThEn Tén Thn Thn Thn
Segments bt |
Type of goods or services SRARHEE
Provision of hospitality and related senvices ~ FRAEIE R ABERR 35,169 34,473 - - 35,169 34,473
Sales of food and beverage in hotel business A EE£HHEE#H 26,957 24,300 - - 26,957 24300
Provision of services through network media B4 SR (IR - - - 57 - 57
Total revenue from contracts with EREAMALE
customers 62,126 58,773 - 57 62,126 58,830
Geographical markets HEHE
Hong Kong &k - - - 57 - 57
Australia 2 62,126 58,773 - - 62,126 58,773
Total revenue from contracts with RRENRAES
customers 62,126 58,773 - 57 62,126 58,830
Timing of revenue recognition WARERZ KR
Goods transferred at a point in time RE-BEYERER 26,957 24,300 - 57 26,957 24,357
Services transferred over time REEEBRS 35,169 34,473 - . 35,169 34,473
Total revenue from contracts with ERaMALE
customers 62,126 58,173 - 57 62,126 58,830
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR
LOSSES (CONT'D)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

(b)

198

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

Revenue arising from provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia is satisfied over time when
the hospitality and related services are rendered.
Normally, payment in advance from customers is
required.

Sales of food and beverage in hotel business

Revenue arising from sales of food and beverage is
satisfied at a point in time upon delivery of the foods
and beverage to the customers and immediate payment
is required.

Provision of services through network media

Revenue arising from retail commerce through network
media is satisfied at a point in time upon delivery of
the goods to the customers and immediate payment is
required.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 such that the above
information does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contracts that had an original expected duration of
one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
PFE+_—F=+—HILFEZ

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

(Loss)/Profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):~

HE
8. BRMiAl (B518)
BT (B518), i FIR RS/ (31 ) T3

— % —

Sy 2
SN

/m

ll

KIEBIFY | -
2024 2023
—EomE| —=—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(Re-presented)
E<=pl))
Continuing operations FEREER
Cost of sales HE A
— Cost of inventories sold - HEFEMA 10,447 9,377
— Cost of services provided — AR A 443 236
10,890 9,613
Auditor’s remuneration Z 2 EME &
— Audit services - IZEBRTS 923 1,135
- Other services - HAARTS 229 291
1,152 1,426
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMEKRKREBITE
equipment (note 15) (FF5E15) 8,768 8,055
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESERE
(note 16(a)) (MIEE16(a) 3,802 3,864
12,570 11,919
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) EEME (FI5E13) 2,524 2,401
Staff costs, excluding directors’ BTHACREIEEEFH)
emoluments
Other staff salaries and benefits HME T & kEH 33,215 32,737
Retirement scheme contributions RORETEIERR 2,776 2,594
35,991 35,331
Net exchange loss (G = BT 3,716 61
Provision for litigations SRERTEE (FEE27 ~ 38(0) K (d))
(notes 27, 38(c) and (d)) = 4,819
Impairment loss on loan and interest B RFEZ
receivables (note 22(c)) REETE (F15E22(c) 1,581 175
Impairment loss on deposits and BEREMEBWRIEZ
other receivables (note 23) REETE (FYEE23) 2,459 280
Loss/(gain) on disposals of financial assets HEZAFEFEBIERYIRZ
at FVTPL TREEZEBE (K@) 1,333 (335)
Fair value loss on financial BATBEEBERYR TME
assets at FVTPL, net EZ AN EREEEE 29,567 8,558
Fair value gain on derivative financial EEMaRz AFERE
liabilities (note 29) (FFE29) - (402)
Net gain on deemed disposal of RIEHENB AR Z W F 58
subsidiaries (note 34(a)) (MzE34(a)) - (72,145)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RO M BHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 0.

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

RRE RS

RBRAZ DT !

2024 2023
—E-E “ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
(Re-presented)
(K= 22 %)
Continuing operations FHREREER

Interest on interest-bearing bank and FHERITRAMEEZFE
other borrowings 6,704 5,512
Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(a)) HEaEZFE (M5E16a) 173 368
Interest on convertible loans (note 29) AR ERZF 8 (MF5E29) 457 613
7,334 6,493
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. INCOME TAX

The Group’s entities operated in Hong Kong are subject to
the Hong Kong profits tax rate at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable income. No provision for Hong
Kong profits tax has been made for the current year since
the Group’s entities operating in Hong Kong either had no
assessable profit generated for current year or had sufficient
tax losses brought forward to set off against current year’s
assessable profit (2023: Nil).

The Company’s subsidiaries operating in Australia are
subject to the tax rates at 30% (2023: 30%). No provision
for Australia company tax has been made since the Group's
entities operating in Australia incurred tax losses for current
year (2023: Nil).

(@) The reconciliation of income tax credit for the year

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

10. FR1FHR

FEBREBKE 2 BRRAMMGTER
MU AZ16.5%(ZE_=5F : 16.5%)
EBMEBFER - ARNEEBRESR
REZERNAEETBELERRE
o INE BHAEERIEEERNIRHEA
FEZEFREN(CEZ=F 8| ' K
REENFETIE D BHGHREE -

RRBIFORMEZE 2 B AT BE30%
(ZZZ=%F : 30%) WIREHMIRIE - K
RARERRBENSEZBERNAFEE
AMIBEEE > T EGRENABRIE
(ZE=F .8/

@) XEEZFEMBEREGSED

to the (loss)/profit before tax as per consolidated 2 BERA(EE) R EERW
statement of profit or loss is as follows: ™
2024 2023
e 1= 3 “B=H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
(Re-presented)
(FREF)
Continuing operations FEREER
(Loss)/profit before tax BRAS I (B518) 8 F (81,737) 16,169
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before tax, [R¥GHI(E518) &F)z%E
calculated at rates applicable to I HABEZ R
profits in the countries concerned BRAKMKHE (14,448) 2,942
Tax effect of income that is not BAEFMBAZRBEE
taxable (9,317) (12,237)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR 2 MBEE
deductible 19,264 4,947
Tax effect of temporary difference FERERUEERCRBEE
not recognised 364 316
Tax effect of tax losses not REDRNIBEEZ MBEEE
recognised 4,455 4,248
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses FRBFRERRIERE R
previously not recognised S 2 (318) (216)
Income tax FriS18 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR MY 5T

4= AH
II\7|_ /= ~

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX (CONT'D)

202

(b)

The components of unrecognised deductible temporary
differences are as follows:

10. FrfGH (&)

(b)

RERZ A B ERMEEEZZIAR
LI

2024 2023

- 112 3 TR

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#T FAET

Unrecognised tax losses FRIER 2 MIEESIE 508,090 495,657
Other taxable temporary difference, HAFERIR I 14 = 35

net 933 2,321

Net deductible temporary differences BRI FF 14 2 2 /F 48 509,023 497,978

(i)

(ii)

No deferred tax assets have been recognised on
net deductible temporary differences owing to
the absence of objective evidence in respect of
the availability of sufficient taxable profits that are
expected to arise to offset against the deductible
temporary differences.

The unutilised tax losses accumulated in
Hong Kong and Australia of approximately
HK$443,229,000 (2023: HK$431,102,000)
and approximately HK$64,861,000 (2023:
HK$64,555,000), respectively, which can be
carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2024, temporary differences
relating to undistributed profits of the subsidiaries
in Australia were approximately HK$7,313,000
(2023: HK$15,369,000). The related deferred tax
liabilities attributable to the Group of approximately
HK$2,194,000 (2023: HK$4,611,000) as at 31
December 2024 in respect of withholding tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained
profits have not been recognised as the Group agrees
to the subsidiaries’ stated plan of not distributing these
retained profits in the foreseeable future.
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11.

12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to the shareholders of the Company is
based on the following data:

BECE S = = —HIFEE
1. IRE
EEEfAEENBE S _NE+_A
S+ P EERRRERE (B =
) o
12. §8% (E518) &7
ANE R SR AR %S (518) /
B> SRS TSR R

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FH7T
(Re-presented)
(R &)
(Loss)/profit: (E548) & #F)
For continuing and discontinued FEREARIEREER
operations
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable PNy \Tﬁxﬁﬁgfﬁzﬁfﬁr(%ﬁg)/
to the shareholders of the Company i A (87,562) 12,644
For continuing operations FEREETR
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable NATIREREILAFE
to the shareholders of the Company (E518) /im A (81,732) 16,173
For discontinued operations BARIEREETR
Loss for the year attributable NATIR R AFEEE
to the shareholders of the Company (5,830) (3,529)
2024 2023
“EIME “ET=HF
Number of shares: RHEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FtstHEERERKLE#E
shares in issue for the purpose of (B518) " BAMs 2 B%T
calculating basic and diluted BBk 2 e R (fE)
(loss)/earnings per share (note) 5,156,035,108 | 5,260,699,218

Note:

No adjustment has been made to the amount of the basic (loss)/
earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 in respect of diluted (loss)/earnings per share because there
was no potentially dilutive ordinary share in issue during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

ERBERZERARAE | =

MI5E -

—E=%+_"AH

_—1— Etfﬁfﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁﬂﬁ)/%ﬂﬁgﬁ

FHEREE (BR) BANREE  RESE
ETEMERTE=ZF£+"A=1t—H

IFFETEDBTEEHEE AR -

“TIFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R M RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

204

HE—F-

EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

mE+—HA=+—HILFEZ
13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES'

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the
Directors in respect of services as directors during the

year are as follows:

(a) EFM=E

13. EENEREENE

TEBNRKTEEMREETRBAES
S ZEEEFBET

Basic salaries,

allowances Retirement
and other scheme
Fees benefit Bonus contributions Total
BEXEE
R BREHE
ik Hit# E4 3 iagt
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
izt FEr FEr TER FHER FiEx
2024 —EmE
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Ng Ting Ho B 360 = = = 360
Executive Directors: HiTES
Lam Ching Yee EFE (i) - 1,272 = 18 1,290
Fong Chak Kiu HER = 300 = 15 315
Zhang Hongju RBER (i = 163 = = 163
360 1735 - 3 2,128
Independent non-executive Directors: B IFHITES :
Wong Siu Keung, Joe ke 156 = = = 156
Chan Ming Kit RRif 120 = = = 120
Tong Hin Sum Paul HER 120 = = = 120
396 - - - 396
756 1735 - 33 2,52
2023 ZEI=E
Non-executive Director: FHTES .
Ng Ting Ho B 360 - - - 360
Executive Directors: HITESE .
Lam Ching Yee e (i) - 1,211 101 18 1,330
Fong Chak Kiu HER - 300 - 15 315
360 1,511 101 33 2,005
Independent non-executive Directors: B FFRITES
Wong Siu Keung, Joe ke 156 - - = 156
Chan Ming Kit RBRif 120 - - = 120
Tong Hin Sum Paul HEER 120 - - = 120
396 - - - 396
756 1,51 101 33 2,401
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES'
EMOLUMENTS (CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd)
Notes:
(i) Resigned with effect from 1 January 2025.

(i) Appointed with effect from 26 April 2024 and resigned
with effect from 1 January 2025.

Bonuses are determined on a discretionary basis by
the Board with reference to the Group’s operating
results for the current financial year and individual
performance.

Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 December 2024, among the
five highest paid individuals, one (2023: one) of them
was a Director, being Ms. Lam Ching Yee.

Except for the emolument paid to Ms. Lam Ching Yee,
the emoluments (excluding amounts paid or payable
by way of commissions on sales generated by the
individual) and designated band of the remaining four
(2023: four) highest paid, non-director individuals
during the year are as follows:

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_E i+ =G — IR
13. EENEREEME (B)

(a)

(b)

EEME (B)
BisE -
0) A TETRE—F—HEE

(i) MNITE_WEFEMHB_+/HEZ
FUEPR _E_hE—RB—H#
o

BN REEG 2 S EEN AR
HFEEZEEXRBEREAREMEH
IBHEE °

mamE#FAL

HE_T_NF+_HA=+—HIt
FE > RALBREBMALTF —%
(ZFZ=F ! —2)REF > BN
FREL -

[REMMBRL T ZMEI 0 IR
FEFGRUL(CET=4F : HH)
EaFEE AL ZIE(REER
BAHEMUBE N EN BN
ZRIA) RS E R NGB EI T ¢

2024 2023

T —E=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FBT
Salaries and allowances e BoREL 2,733 2,712
Performance based bonus BEWIEAL 51 164
Retirement scheme contributions RIREHEHRR 145 138
2,929 3,014
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r e BRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES” 13,
EMOLUMENTS (CONT'D)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Cont’d)
The emoluments of the four (2023: four) non-director

individuals with the highest emoluments are within the
following bands:

ExNERESME (B

(b) EHEREHFALEE)

ME (T2 -=F . UR)FEFE
SHATZMENFUTEE :

2024 2023
—EZNE “ET=F
Numbers of Numbers of
individuals individuals
AT#EB N 4=
HK$ BT
Nil — 1,000,000 221,000,000 4 4

No emolument was paid by the Group to the Directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office during the year (2023: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive of the Company waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during both years.

Save for disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 14.

On 30 August 2024, the Group exercised the put option to
dispose its entire shares of an associate, Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings Limited (“Dynamic Indonesia Holdings”), and
the shareholder’s loans. Dynamic Indonesia Holdings was
engaging in provision of services through network media,
which was a separate major line of the Group’s businesses.
Following the disposal of the Group’s interests in Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings, the reportable segment of provision of
services through network media was ceased and accordingly
be classified as a discontinued operation as from 30 August
2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONT'D)

In light of the above, the comparative figures for the year
ended 31 December 2023 under the reportable segment
of provision of services through network media, as
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, have been re-presented
as a discontinued operation. The financial performance of

14.

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

B IEEEETR ()

ERMULERFRL  BE-Z_=F+_H
=+—HIEFE > 2VRGEEakE
fth 2 E W R 2 BB ER IR IR MR
ARG DB ZLEBAFELEEIHER
IFREEE - HE_ T _NER_TZ
ZFE+"HA=+—HLEE » BRLEE

discontinued operation for the years ended 31 December EEBUBREEINWT -
2024 and 2023 is set out below:
2024 2023
—E-mE EC=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bfg 5 FAT FAET
Revenue WA - 57
Other income Hr A 118 -
Administrative expenses THMAZ (69) (1,748)
Fair value gain on financial assets BATEBEBERIIRY
at FVTPL TMBEBEZ ATEWT - 276
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 2 W 34(b) 846 -
Share of results of associates DEBE N B EE 19 (549) (2,302)
Profit/(loss) before tax BrIATEA, (B518) 346 (3,717)
Loss on disposal of H & Dynamic Indonesia
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings HoldingsZ k518 (6,145) -
Income tax PS8 - -
Loss for the year from discontinued  ZRE BRI ES £
operations KEERE (5,799) (3,717)
2024 2023
bt ol 111 = 5 — =5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
Loss for the year from discontinued REERIERE X 2 RF
operation include the following: EEEEENTEIE .
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN & - 24
2024 2023
T mE i G
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Cash flows from discontinued operation: RE R IEKEEF 2 IRE
TE
Net cash outflows from REKLSEHBZIREMEY
operating activities FEE (5) (96)
ERBERZERBREAR | ZSNFFR 207
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE N —H=+—HIFFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% BB R

Plant, Office
Leasehold machinery and and other  Furniture and Motor vehicles
Freehold land Buildings  improvements equipment equipment fixtures and yachts Total
BB - e AR
KAEELH BF HEMERE R Hift RRREE AERER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#n Tan fEn TEn TEn TEm TEn TEm
Cost: A
At 1 January 2024 RZE-ME-F—H 11,585 90,145 81,283 19,477 4,503 2,018 1,220 210,271
Additions HE - - 17,545 2,880 39 - 563 21,382
Disposals HE - - - - (809) 21) (996) (1,826)
Exchange realignment SNERE (1,083) (8,424 (7,945) (1,992) (186) ) (75) (19,707)
At 31 December 2024 RZE_ME+-A=+-H 10,502 81,721 90,883 20,365 3,002 1,995 m 210,120
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: ~ Bzt & RifE :
At 1 January 2024 RZIZZME-A—-H - 16,568 6,386 10,233 2,330 1,078 889 37,984
Charge for the year REEMR = 2,174 334 1,944 765 3% 147 8,768
Disposals & - - - - (545) (14) (131) (1,290)
Exchange realignment ShEREE - (1,680) (376) (1,073) (90) 0] 43) (3,264)
At 31 December 2024 RZE_mE+ZA=+-A - 17,062 9,852 11,104 2,460 1458 262 42,198
Net carrying amount: SRESE
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+-A=+-B 10,502 64,659 81,031 9,261 1,482 537 450 167,922
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F-F—H 11,604 88,235 62,525 16,829 4,309 2,018 1,221 186,741
Additions HE - 2,003 18,422 2,612 345 - - 23,382
Written off bijtie} - - (17) - (17) - - (134)
Exchange realignment ShERE (19) (93) 353 36 6 - (1) 282
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=£+-A=+-A 11,585 90,145 81,283 19,477 4,543 2,018 1,220 210,271
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: & RlfE ©
At 1 January 2023 RIEZ=F—-F—H - 14,389 3,930 8449 1,707 679 766 29,970
Charge for the year KEEMR - 2,151 2,892 1,755 734 399 124 8,055
Written off i - - (17) - (117) - - (134)
Exchange realignment ShERBEE - 28 31 29 6 - 1 93
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+-A=+-H - 16,568 6,886 10,233 2,330 1,078 889 37,984
Net carrying amount: SRESE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=+-H 11,585 73,577 74,397 9,244 2,213 940 331 172,287
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONT'D)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2024, included in the carrying amount of
the Group's property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$164,814,000 allocated to the cash generating units of
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia (the
“Hospitality CGU") is subject for impairment assessment
due to persistent segment loss and deterioration economic
conditions.

The Group evaluated the recoverable amounts of the
Hospitality CGU by value in use calculation which involved
determining present value of expected cash flows as approved
by the directors of the Company. Management determined
the annual growth rate of revenue in five-year period based
on historical performance and market development plan. The
discount rate applied reflected specific risks relating to the
Hospitality CGU.

Key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projection are as
below:

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

15. M- BB Kz (1)

MI5E -

(a)

AZEINE+ZA=+—H> > #\#R
DEEEFERKERTEIE > 5T A
REEME - BEREZBZRAEY
164,814,000 T E D ECETEEMIZH
BIERERERE 2R EEEM(EE
WEEEEN)  BETHEE

FEBBB S RAABDESHEZTRER
RenEMEERESAEELREE XU
HMEEEREELE B 2 I OEEE
EEERBBTRERTHERTEE
ELFHRRAFEERR - BAMKEREX
MIRBREGBEIREELEMNBRRZEE
B o

RERERA RN FREBRROT

2024

—E_ME

Annual growth rate of revenue in five-year period ~EEHINAFEEIEER 10.0%
Long term growth rate REBEX 2.7%
Pre-tax discount rate GRS 14.3%

The Group did not recognise any impairment loss for
property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31
December 2024 as the recoverable amounts of the Hospitality
CGU was higher than the carrying amounts of the Hospitality
CGU as at 31 December 2024.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the
estate resorts attributable to the Hospitality CGU underwent
major renovation works which resulted in significant upgrades
to its facilities, enhancing its operational capabilities and
overall value. Following the completion of these renovation
works during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
revised its valuation method to discounted cash flows
approach. This method was adopted as it provides more
accurate and reliable assessment of the recoverable amount
by reflecting entity-specific cash flows generated by the
Hospitality CGU.

ERBERZERAERAE | —F

RZENEL A=+ —H > BIVE
[EREEEEUZ PN OIS REHER
TEEBUZEREESS @ BEAEER
BE_T_NF+_RA=+t—HLEFE
WERLYE ~ BB KRR B FESMERIRE
B8 o

BE_Z-FR-FNF+IAZ
+—HLEFE BERNASHREELER
Uz EHMERBNETEIEBHN TR
E%ﬁlﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁuﬁﬁ%ﬂi& ) 18258

EEENREREE - RN&FEHT
7&75?@ —EOME+RA=+—HIL
FETMRE  AEBGHEGETSAES]
MRV EREZL - MBI EDER
HEBRMBEREELEMNELEZRE
BERAEMA W CIEREHEE
FEP] SERYETE o
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONT'D)

16.

210

Notes: (Cont'd)

(a)

(Cont'd)

The property, plant and equipment attributable to the
Hospitality CGU mainly the estate resorts (the “Estate
Resorts”) with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$166,314,000 as at 31 December 2023 which recoverable
amount was assessed by an independent professional valuer
under the fair value less cost of disposal basis by using
direct comparison approach, amounted to approximately
HK$170,032,000. The fair value measurement was
categorised into level 3 fair value hierarchy.

The recoverable amount of the Estate Resorts was higher
than the carrying amount, and therefore no impairment loss
on property, plant and equipment was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

In estimating the recoverable amount of property, plant,
equipment attributable to the Hospitality CGU, the highest
and best use of these non-financial assets is their current use.

As at 31 December 2024, an aggregate carrying amount of
freehold land, buildings and motor vehicle of approximately
HK$75,611,000 (2023: approximately HK$85,162,000)
had been pledged as collaterals for interest-bearing bank
borrowings.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in
its operations. The terms of the leases generally require the
Group to pay security deposits and have average lease terms
of three years with fixed monthly rentals. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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16.
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st @ (&)
(a @&

FERNAEREESEUNYE - K
EBRZETEEEMEERN ((EME
B ER 2 =F+"F=1+—H
BUBREIEAY166,314,000/87T > Bl EE R
MBIl & 2B B I XL EMIRA
BEEIERERATFERHERAZ B4
L > £E8A%9170,032,00087C ° A
FEFEDNDEANTFEBRE=R

B E E R R A U [0l & B = i AR |
B At 8@8E"FT_=F+"H=+
—HIEFE > SIEEIYE - BERR
W2 B{ERIE -

REstRBRAEREEEEMUNY
X BERREZAIRCIESEER > %%

X <F
FEMEEZREAREREAKSER
Ry %R o

by MRIZEZNOF+A=+—H K@
E4975,611,0008 0 (ZE "= |
85,162,000/ 7T) BK A RT3 ~ 1%
%&mEEﬁﬁ¢%+%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

HE
AEEEREEA

AEBMAREEEZMAEY R
HEGH - HEFRM—REREEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

16. LEASES (CONT'D) 16. HE (B)
The Group as a lessee (Cont'd) TEEEARBEAE
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets AEBRFARBERLEYEN
and the movements for the leasing of office premises FAEEENRABRESHUT !
during the year are as follows:
HK$'000
FAET
As at 1 January 2023 nN_Z-_=F—HF—H 7,518
Additions NE 1,328
Depreciation charge ERZ (3,864)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 N_ZE_=F+"HA=+—Hk
—ZE-mE—-A—H 4,982
Additions RE 86
Depreciation charge TR (3,802)
Early termination of lease RPAILHEE (590)
Exchange realignment SPEESREE (7)
As at 31 December 2024 RIE_ME+"A=+—H 669
Lease liabilities of approximately HK$839,000 (2023: TRE&E4839,0008 T (B =
HK$5,673,000) are recognised with related right-of- E 5,673 OOO%E)EEME%%@)EW&
use assets of HK$669,000 (2023: HK$4,982,000). The }%669 0008 T(ZE =
lease agreement do not impose any covenants other 4,982,000 T) — D © B?*H&
than the security interests in leased assets that are BEENEFETAHEBEAFTAEI
held by the lessors. Leased assets may not be used as MHE WL EENERSEE - HE
security for borrowing purposes. BENSHAEEENRRR
Details of total cash outflow of lease is set out in note MEZREM AR FEH M
34(d). 5E34(d) ©
2024 2023
—EMNE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use R EEERERMS
assets 3,802 3,864
Interest expenses on lease liabilities MEaREZFEM=
(included in finance costs) (note 9) (:Hr]\nﬂ,éfﬁﬁzzli) (FF5E9) 173 368
Gain on early termination of lease REARIEAE 2 W= Gt A
(included in other income and HAA R Ui 75 55 18)
gains or losses) (note 7) (FF5E7) 16 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

16. LEASES (CONT'D)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

(b) Lease liabilities

16. THE

(%)

FERBEREMEA ()

(b)) HERMR

Minimum lease payments

Present value of
minimum lease payments

RIEHEEER RIEAEIRIRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“EomE | —ECc-g | ZEBEI@E| —E2°=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
Within one year —FR 777 4811 768 4,629
In the second to fifth years, FEFHEF
inclusive (BIEEEMF) 76 1,053 71 1,044
Total minimum finance REREHEENR
lease payments Rz 853 5,864 839 5,673
Less: Future finance charges B RRREER (14) (191) N/A N/A
RER FER
Present value of lease obligations FESEZIRAE 839 5,673 839 5,673
Less: Amount due for settlement 3 . B+ @A
within 12 months (shown NENZ &5
under current liabilities) (HrEak
THIR) (768) (4,629)
Amount due for settlement after  BR+_EABEN
12 months %% 71 1,044

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities is 5% (2023: 5%).

Lease liabilities are denominated in HK$ and Australian
dollars (“AUD") of approximately HK$743,000 (2023:
HK$5,623,000), HK$96,000 (2023: HK$50,000)

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5] PIFE+—F=+—HIFFE
17. GOODWILL 17. &
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cost %N
At 1 January and 31 December K—A—Bk+ZA=+—H 31,189 31,189
Accumulated impairment losses RetimER51E
At 1 January and 31 December K—A—Bk+ZA=+—H 31,189 31,189
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December R+ZHA=+—H - -

Goodwill acquired in a business combination was allocated
at acquisition to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that
were expected to benefit from that business combination.
Before recognition of impairment losses, the gross amount
of goodwill allocated to the following CGU is as follows:

REBEHPARBZEE D REER D
RERARBZEGOHERZREE
FTEU(REEEEN) - NEAERS
B PEEUATHREEEBEUZHE
ZHBEWNT

2024 2023
“EmE .
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHET

Provision of hospitality and related OIBINTR B I Ko A8 RA AR5

services in Australia (the “Hospitality (FBIEREEEE()

cGU") 29,453 29,453
Others (note) A (B 5E) 1,736 1,736
31,189 31,189

Note:

Others represent CGU attributable to in other operating unit which
does not qualified as a reportable segment. The goodwill of others
had been fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group tested its goodwill annually for impairment,
or more frequently if there were indications that goodwill
might be impaired.

M

HME R E AR RE D BREZ HME
EEMAZREELEM - HIZHEREE
TR THEF+"A=-t+—HILEFEEXZEH
(1=

rEBSFETHERENS > HHE
PRETHEANERER > BIBEER
BRARE o
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r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

17.

18.

214

GOODWILL (CONT'D) 17.

The goodwill for the Hospitality CGU had previously been
fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2018.

BmE (&)

BEREELBUZHERBE_T—
NE+T_B=+—HLEFEESEZHAR

Accordingly, the Group did not test goodwill for impairment B AEAEERBEE S NF R
for the years ended 31 December 2 =_F+ZA=+T—HIFELEA
2024 and 2023. S EEBREIE ©
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HthWETEE
Wine Domain
Copyright  membership name Total
KR BEEH 54 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2024 R-F_ME—A—H 4,500 2,415 2,028 8,943
Exchange realignment SMERAEE - (226) - (226)
At 31 December 2024 RZB_NFE+-A=+—H 4,500 2,189 2,028 8,717
Accumulated amortisation and Rt E#IERAE ¢
impairment:
At 1 January 2024 RZE_ME—-A—H 4,500 2,415 2,028 8,943
Exchange realignment SMEERAEE - (226) - (226)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+ZA=+—H 4,500 2,189 2,028 8,717
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 31 December 2024 {E_ME+-A=+-H - - - -
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 R _E_=F—HF—H 4,500 2,419 2,028 8,947
Exchange realignment MERREE - (4) - (4)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=#+"RB=+—H 4,500 2,415 2,028 8,943
Accumulated amortisation and ~ REH#IHRREE
impairment:
At 1 January 2023 R _E_=F—H—H 4,500 2,419 2,028 8,947
Exchange realignment SMEESEEE - (4) - (4)
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+"B=+—H 4,500 2,415 2,028 8,943
Net carrying amount: BREFE .
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=#+”"HB=+-H - - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

HE—F

19. REE AT 2 #Em

FE+—_H=+—HILFEZ

2024 2023

—EmE =

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Cost of unlisted interests in associates g ABIJE E it m 2 B 364,254 380,962
Share of post-acquisition losses FE(E U B TR (B518) a i R ko

and reserves, net of dividends received ~ BEI0FFTUL B (64,742) (47,724)

299,512 333,238

Less: Impairment loss B OREEE (247,001) (247,001)

52,511 86,237

Included in the cost of unlisted interests in associates at
the end of the reporting period was goodwill arising on
acquisition of approximately HK$242,952,000 (2023:
HK$242,952,000). Among the goodwill was approximately
HK$2,944,000 arising from the acquisition of Luck Key (as
defined below). The remaining goodwill of approximately
HK$240,008,000, arose from the acquisition of Something
Big Technology Holdings Limited (“Something Big"), which
had been fully impaired in previous year.

Set out below is the associate of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, is material to the Group as at 31
December 2024. The entity listed below has share capital
held directly by the Group. The country of incorporation
or registration is also its principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the
proportion of voting rights held. Information of insignificant
associates are not listed out.

Percentage of

RREARNRBE A ABIELTERZ N
KEFEWEBEE ZEHEL242,952,000
BIT(ZTEZ =4 242,952,000 7T) ©
Hrpl BB Luck Key(EER T EEZ
2 492,944,000 THAERFIZERE
RABlI(TKREBERENEEZHTHEN
240,008,000t E N BEFER R
e

TXHIEERAN _ZTMNF+_H
=+ —HHAEEMEBEANEER
BERTE - NMIERNRABAERER
BEA - sl ERBERTAEE
BEEMEL - MFTA B LA B PR
BRERIEAAER - FEXRBEQTHE
I EE SR o

ownership
Form of interest
business Place of Principal place held by a Group's  Measurement
Name structure incorporation of business subsidiary interest method  Principal activities
—FME A
PR
S ESPE 7 3 AR FEEHM ‘EEAL  FEEER HERE  TEEH
Luck Key Investment Limited  Incorporated British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong 48.33% 48.33%  Equity method  Provision of medical
(“Luck Key")* diagnostic and health
check services
EfRARIL EERUEE &A 48.33% 48.33% @t RUEBELHRERES

ERBERZERERAR | — T -HNFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONT'D) 19. REVE AT 2% ()
The summarised financial information in respect of the Eﬁﬁﬁ BElluck Keyl —ZE-UFE K
material associate, Luck Key, as at 31 December 2024 and S —F+"BA=+—HZHBERH
2023 is set out below: EHIMT -
2024 2023
—EBONE| —TT=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FH7T
Gross amounts of Luck Key: Luck Key42%8
Current assets MENBE 65,584 84,476
Non-current assets JEREBEE 69,335 108,668
Current liabilities ik (86,219) (102,574)
Non-current liabilities 3F};|L§b%f§ (9,387) (14,391)
Total equity Kt 39,313 76,179
Equity attributable to the shareholders Luck KeyR%ER FE{hi#EE
of Luck Key 41,377 77,265
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FH7T
Revenue WA 194,097 218,216
Loss for the year attributable to the Luck KeyRZERFEIEFAN 2
shareholders of Luck Key 518 (35,597) (25,907)
Other comprehensive loss attributable Luck KeyRe R FE(E H M2 E
to the shareholders of Luck Key E518 (291) -
Total comprehensive loss for the year Luck KeyR BRFEMEFERNEE
attributable to the shareholders of Luck Key — E53848%8 (35,888) (25,907)
Group's interest KEE B 48.33% 48.33%
Share of Luck Key's loss for the year FE{hLuck KeyF Ay E518 (17,204) (12,521)
Share of Luck Key's other comprehensive FE{ELuck KeyfER
loss for the year Hith 2 mEsE (141) -
Share of Luck Key's total comprehensive FE{hLuck KeyZ HEE51EB4E%E
loss (17,345) (12,521)
Dividend received from Luck Key W E Luck Keyf& & = 34,314
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONT'D)

19.

The dividend received during the year ended 31 December
2023 consists of cash amounting to approximately
HK$9,666,000 and dividend receivable of approximately
HK$9,666,000 and 10,650 shares of an unlisted investment
with fair value of approximately HK$14,982,000, which was

recognised as investments in associates.

The Group has not recognised loss of several associates
amounting to approximately HK$1,658,000 (2023:
HK$8,581,000). The accumulated losses of several associates
not recognised were approximately HK$15,590,000 as at 31

December 2024 (2023: HK$13,932,000).

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

REE QB 2w ()

BHE_T -+ "-HA=+—HLEE
FrUWER 2 B E B2 153 £499,666,0007%8
TTREWRE B 49,666,000 T & A
mﬁw%&ﬁzﬁiﬁﬁﬁmﬂﬁﬁ%
14,982,000 70 » 2R ERRARE
NEZKE

AEBRAFEERAME THEQDMHE
DE518491,658,0008 T (ZE - =4F :
8,581,00087T) e R_E_NE+_A
=+—H > XxEINETHZE AT R
518497 15,590,0008 T (ZE_=4F :
13,932,000 7T) ©

Reconciliation of the Group’s interests in the material FEBRMREKRBE AT Luck KeyZ
associate, Luck Key HER
2024 2023
—EmE “EB=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Gross amounts of net assets attributable Luck KeylRERIE(HE E
to shareholders of Luck Key F{EAERE 41,377 77,265
Group's interest K%lZ%# 48.33% 48.33%
Group's share of net assets of the associate  Z~ B FE(L B BEFE 19,998 37,343
Goodwill G 2,944 2,944
Carrying amount of the Group's interest NEE P Luck KeyZ HEHIREE
in Luck Key 22,942 40,287

In the opinion of the Directors, none of the remaining
associates of the Group was individually material to the

Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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r e BRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONT'D)

Reconciliation of the Group’s interests in the material

associate, Luck Key (Cont'd)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s remaining associates that are not

individually material:

19. REVE AT 2 #ExH (48)

BEBMEKRHE AT Luck KeyZ

HIR(E)

TRRPAEEERmHE L
TH A B BB SR

NERBIER

2024 2023
“EZmE .
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Share of associates’ loss for the year FEIEBE ABIEN IR
— Something Big - RERE - -
- Nuada Holdings Limited (“Nuada”) - BHEZERABRAE
(MRmE) - -
— Supreme China Group Limited -BEEEBRAB(MEHE))
(“Supreme China”) (42) 20
— French Modern Concept Limited — French Modern Concept
("French Modern Concept”) Limited (T French Modern
Concept)) - -
— Dynamic Indonesia Holdings — Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (549) (2,302)
= Starry Ace Limited (“Starry Ace”) — Starry Ace Limited
(Tstarry Ace)) 124 726
= Dignity Choice Limited = Dignity Choice Limited
("Dignity Choice”) ("Dignity Choice]) (3.451) (2,917)
(3,918) (4,473)
Share of associates’ total comprehensive FEIEHE AB 2N mABEE
income
- Something Big - RERE - -
- Nuada - REE - -
— Supreme China = (42) 20
= French Modern Concept — French Modern Concept - -
— Dynamic Indonesia Holdings — Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (549) (2,302)
— Starry Ace — Starry Ace 124 726
— Dignity Choice — Dignity Choice (3,451) (2,917)
(3,918) (4,473)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ AEERF FHEATKREZ
investment in the remaining associates REE
- Something Big - KRERE - -
- Nuada - REE - .
— Supreme China -8B 16,605 16,647
— French Modern Concept — French Modern Concept - -
— Dynamic Indonesia Holdings = Dynamic Indonesia Holdings - 13,012
— Starry Ace — Starry Ace 4,350 4,226
— Dignity Choice — Dignity Choice 8,614 12,065
29,569 45,950
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

20. HAFESZBEMEEIE

R Z TR B E

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

TF#T FHET

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong REBZ LR AFES - 916
Unlisted equity securities JE LR AEE S 1,426 1,971
1,426 2,887

Less: current portion B OmENER D (1.426) -
Non-current portion FERENEL - 2,887

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated
at FVTOCI as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unlisted equity
securities represented 7% equity interest in a private
company in Australia (the “Australian Company”). Based
on the Directors’ assessment with reference to the net
assets value of the Australian Company as at 31 December
2024, the fair value of the Australian Company was
approximately HK$1,426,000 (2023: HK$1,971,000). There
was no significant change in the fair value of the Australian
Company during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

FHRR AR E N A BEIMISE I AF
TELZ@ET’@EEH& HlER - RATASE
mR S IRERE F BB

RIEZNFE+ZHBA=+—H > £&H
JELMRAFBSFIEN —BBEMNAZEAE]
(GEMAT N7 %RHE - RIBEEES=E
BMABRIR _E_WE+_HB=+—H
Eﬁﬁéaﬂﬁﬁ'm’ﬁtﬂm;ﬁﬁ BN A B
NFEXI 51,426,000 (B _=4F .
1,971,000/87T) - REE_ZS _NFEA_
T F+ZRA=+—HIEEFE » BN
NEWATFEEEEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R M RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

20.

21.

220

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONT'D)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at
FVTOCI are denominated in the following currencies:

20. HAFESEBEMEEIE
FEIRZ ERLE E (48)

FEBRAFEEZBEMEE W@ YR
ZEMEBEEZREENDUTIEES

=

2024 2023
—E-ME — T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHEIT
HKD T - 916
AUD AT 1,426 1,971
1,426 2,887

INVENTORIES 21. 78
2024 2023
—E-ME — =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHEIT
Merchandise (Gl 3,712 4,696

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the inventories were

RIZETMFER-EB=ZF+"HA=+

stated at cost. —H > FrBFEEERMATIER
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an R AT A BTENEFESES M
expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: (I
2024 2023
“EImE | ZFT=
HK$'000 HK$"000
FHET TAETT
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEHEFENREE 10,447 9,377
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND INTEREST ~ 22. FEURBRER-FEURE = K&F 2

RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
—ENE EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHEIT
Accounts receivable within EBMHRESERFE 1558
the scope of HKFRS 15 #[E P8I FEWER R 50 3,426
Loan receivables FEIRE™R 43,343 50,897
Loan interest receivables EIERFH B 280 569
Less: Impairment B ORE (2,218) (637)
41,405 50,829
41,455 54,255
The carrying amounts of the Group’s accounts receivable, REBRBWIRER - BRERRF B ZIK
loan and interest receivables are denominated in the HEJLUTYEESHE -
following currencies:
2024 2023
—E-NE TEC=HF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
HKD BT 41,405 50,835
AUD JBIT 50 3,420
41,455 54,255
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

22.

222

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable represent receivables from travel agents
arising from provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia. The Group's terms with its customers and travel
agents are mainly on credit, except for new customers
and travel agents, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally one month, extending
up to three to six months for major customers and travel
agents. Each customer and travel agent has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. As at 31 December 2024,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk regarding
the accounts receivable balance from the Group’s business
in Australia. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its accounts receivable balances,
accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing (2023: Nil).

Loan and interest receivables

Loan and interest receivables are mainly arising from the
money lending business, which are entered with contractual
maturity within 12 months (2023: within 12 months).
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its loan
and interest receivables in order to minimise credit risk
by reviewing the borrowers’ financial positions. The loan
receivables are interest-bearing at rates mutually agreed
between the contracting parties, at a fixed rate of 12%
to 12.5% (2023: 10.5% to 12%) per annum. As at 31
December 2024, one of the loan receivables of the Group
with carrying amount of approximately HK$15,283,000
(2023: HK$19,000,000) was secured by listed shares as
collaterals.
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TZR=+—H > AEERENEHZ
EWERREFRTESEXEEERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND INTEREST ~ 22. FEURBRER-FEURE = K&F 2

RECEIVABLES (CONT'D) (#8)

(a) Ageing analysis (a) BERECOMT
Ageing of accounts receivable FEW BR 5t 2 FR e
The credit terms given to the customers vary and are MTERZEEHREETE  —&
generally based on the financial strengths of individual MEABERZMBENREE &
customers. In order to effectively manage the credit BENEBEBKERERZEER
risks associated with accounts receivable, credit b2 > ARBIEMTEEREE - &
evaluations of customers are performed periodically. WERMZ EE N F30HE180H
The credit period given to accounts receivable ranged ZEC=F I NF30HE180H) °
from 30 days to 180 days (2023: from 30 days to 180
days).
The aging analysis of accounts receivable as at the end MREEHAR > RIBZERHBAZRK
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and IR BREC DA (FOFRESE) WO T -

net of provisions, is as follows:

2024 2023
—EME —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 1 month DRER 50 175
1 to 2 months 122184 - 217
2 to 3 months 2E3MEAH - 71
Over 3 months @A E = 2,963
50 3,426

Ageing of loan and interest receivables FEWREFRFE 2 RE
The ageing analysis of loan and interest receivables as R EHARBBE S AT B &R
at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual BEBNERERER A EERE D

due date and net of provisions, is as follows: M -

2024 2023
—EOEF TEC=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FH7T
Not yet past due i8] R 1 HA 26,122 50,829
Over 3 months BB E 15,283 -
41,405 50,829
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e BRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

(b) Impairment
Impairment of accounts receivable

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure ECLs.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e. by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s accounts receivable using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

22. FEWBRTR RIS R R ] 2

(&)
(b) HfE
FEW IR 2

REEE S AEDAHEEE
BRREE R REESSEmE
7o BEEHERMBEH - A
BB B (B RS
8\ 2 EN R T RRS 5
22 BRI E © 2t B R IR
IAEAER & W BTRIE B R 4R
&I B B EE  HA
R R R AAT A R 2 2 IR
RER o

TR AEEBUBERRERERE
EENEERRER

R-E-_NE+=-HA=+—H

Past due
B8
Current  1to 3 months Over 3 months Total
bl —Z={88 =EBMUE st
ECLs rate BHEEEEE 0% = -
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREI4E(E (T8 7T) 50 - - 50
ECLs (HK$'000) RHEESEE(TET) - - - -
As at 31 December 2023 N EC=F+"A=+—H
Past due
EHi
Current  Tto3months  Over 3 months Total
B —E={8R “EAMUL ozt
ECLs rate BHEEEEX 0% S S
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREIAE(E (FHTT) 3,426 - - 3,426
ECLs (HK$'000) RHEESEE(TAT) - - - -
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND INTEREST

RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

(b)

Impairment (Cont’d)

Impairment of loan and interest receivables

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s loan and interest receivables

using a provision matrix.

As at 31 December 2024

(b)

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

22. FEWBRTR RIS R R ] 2

(&)

HAE ()

EREH R TR ZHE
TREJIAEBRBERKRF B
REmERENEERRER -

R-E-_NE+=-HA=+—H

Past due
B8
Current  1to 3 months Over 3 months Total
bl —Z={88 =EBMUE st
ECLs rate REEREE 7.74%-1.85% = 0%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREI4E(E (T8 7T) 28,340 - 15,283 43,623
ECLs (HK$'000) BEESHE(TAT) 2,218 - - 2,218
As at 31 December 2023 W_E2E_=F+"A=+—H
Past due
EHi
Current ~ 1to3months  Over 3 months Total
R —E={8R “EAMUL ozt
ECLs rate RIEEHBEE 1.18%-1.31% - -
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREI4E(E (FATT) 51,466 - - 51,466
ECLs (HK$'000) RHESEE(TAT) 637 - - 637
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

(b)

226

Impairment (Cont'd)

Impairment of loan and interest receivables
(Cont'd)

For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next
12-months (12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (lifetime ECLs). At each reporting date, the
Group assesses whether the credit risk on loan and
interest receivables has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
loan and interest receivables as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the loan and
interest receivables as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. As at
31 December 2024, except for loan and interest
receivables with carrying amount of approximately
HK$15,283,000 (2023: Nil) are classified as stage 3, all
loan and interest receivables are classified as stage 1
(2023: stage 1).

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of loan
and interest receivables amounting to approximately
HK$15,283,000 (2023: HK$19,000,000) was secured
by listed shares as collaterals which market value was
higher than the carrying amount of the loan. The
Group did not recognise a loss allowance for the loan
and interest receivables after taking into account of
these collaterals.

22. E&%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%\\ﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁ%\&ﬂ%
Il‘E

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

(c)

Movement of loss allowance

The movements of loss allowance for accounts
receivable

No movements in loss allowance of accounts receivable
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
The movements of loss allowance for loan and

interest receivables

The movements in loss allowance for loan and interest

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

22. EIRERF - -FEIRE R F B
(48)

() FEREFEED
BRIRSERREZ2E
BE_ZNMFER-Z=ZF+T
A=+—BHILEE » BEEKER
BIRREZEE -
BUREHRFCEER G EE

RERN > BRERRNEBIEEE

receivables during the year are as follow: ZEEIMT .
12-month ECLs
12BBTEHREE
SEi=|
HK$'000
FH7T
At 1 January 2023 N_E=F—H—H 462
Impairment loss recognised BB ER 18 175

At 31 December 2023 and N2 =F+"HA=+—Hk

1 January 2024 “ETHFE—F—H 637
Impairment loss recognised BB ER1E 1,581
At 31 December 2024 R-E_NFE+_"A=+—H 2,218
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e BRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

23.

228

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

23. TATRIR 1 & R H At FE UK
15

2024 2023

—EAEF B4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Prepayments TaftmIa 3,410 4,630

Deposits and other receivables & R HA BN RIE 54,160 43,703
Less: Loss allowance for deposits and B B REMERERIEZ

other receivables EiasE (4,069) (1,610)

53,501 46,723

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts.

For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12-months
(12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (lifetime ECLs). At each reporting
date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on deposits
and other receivables has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the deposits and
other receivables as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the deposits and other receivables as
at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supporting information that is available without undue
cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. Except for deposits and other receivables of
approximately HK$8,316,000 and HK$4,000 (2023: Nil
and HK$2,557,000) are classified in stage 2 and stage 3
respectively, all other deposits and other receivables are
classified as stage 1 and were neither past due nor impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

23. TATRRIR 1 & R H At FE UK

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

24,

RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

Movement in the loss allowance during the year is as follow:

IR (%8)

Lifetime ECLs Lifetime
12-month (not credit ECLs (credit
ECLs impaired) impaired) Total
2HATEHA 2HATEHA
1288 FEBE FEEE
BHEERE (BEERE) (EEHE) 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTER FTAERT FTAERT FTAET
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—F—H 908 - 422 1,330
Impairment loss recognised/ BHDAERR/ (&
(reversal of impairment loss) REEE) 698 - (418) 280
At 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ=F+"F8
1 January 2024 =tk
ZZME—-A—H 1,606 - 4 1,610
Impairment loss recognised B AERE 76 2,383 - 2,459
At 31 December 2024 RZE-m&+=A
=+—H 1,682 2,383 4 4,069

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 24, I AT EFEBEHTRZ £
PROFIT OR LOSS MEE
2024 2023
—ENE B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Listed shares at fair value LR A ESR)
(note a) (fy5Ea) 13,420 13,131
Unlisted investments at fair value JELHERE(FHRAFER)
(note b) (F35EDb) 15,949 29,190
Unlisted investment fund at fair value JELEHRERES (FRAFES
(note ) 2) (fysEo 6,798 10,797
Derivative financial assets TTEEMEE
(notes d) (f$5Ed) - 8,579
36,167 61,697
Less: current portion B ORENER D (36,167) (32,507)
Non-current portion FERENEE D - 29,190
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 24 AT EHEBIEmIIRZ &
REE ()

rEBBATEEEERIIKRZEHME
EZREESUTIEEEHE !

24.

230

PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at
FVTPL are denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023

—EME B4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

HKD BT 23,673 45,604
usD E7T 12,494 16,093
36,167 61,697

The above equity investments were classified as financial
assets at FVTPL.

Notes:

(a) Listed shares included in the financial assets at FVTPL were
mainly investments in Town Health International Medical
Group Limited (Stock Code: 3886) (“Town Health”) and
Currenc Group Inc. (“CURR"”) amounting to approximately
HK$7,724,000 and HK$5,696,000 (2023: HK$13,131,000
and HK$ Nil), respectively as at 31 December 2024.

(b) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unlisted investments
represented 2.06% (2023: 3.32%) equity interest in World
Biotech Regenerative Medical Group Limited (“World
Biotech”) including a profit guarantee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(b)

(Cont'd)
World Biotech

On 15 October 2021, Absolutely Talent entered into a
subscription agreement with World Biotech (“World
Biotech Shares Subscription Agreement”) to subscribe for
50,000 shares of World Biotech, representing approximately
4.65% equity interest of World Biotech, with consideration
of HK$40,000,000. Pursuant to the World Biotech Shares
Subscription Agreement, World Biotech guarantees that
either the average of the net profits of World Biotech for each
of the two financial years ending 30 September 2025 or the
valuation of World Biotech on or before 31 December 2025
would not be less than the agreed amounts. In the event of a
breach of this guarantee, World Biotech shall be liable to pay
compensation to Absolutely Talent.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
received a dividend from Luck Key, an associate of the
Company, additional 10,650 shares which representing
0.99% equity interest of World Biotech. As at 31 December
2022, the Group holds 5.64% equity interest of World
Biotech.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
disposed of 13,498 (2023: 25,000) shares of World Biotech
to an independent third party for a consideration of
approximately HK$9,719,000 (2023: HK$20,720,000). This
resulted in a loss on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL of
approximately HK$1,333,000 (2023: gain of approximately
HK$335,000) during the year ended 31 December 2024. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group held 2.06% (2023: 3.32%)
equity interest of World Biotech.

ERBERZERARAE | =

rEMBHRRMEE
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(b)

232

(Cont'd)
2024 valuation

Fair value of the shares of World Biotech was assessed by an
independent qualified professional valuer using the market
transaction approach. The valuation was based on the
transaction price from the transfer of the shares of World
Biotech (including the transfer of the derivative financial
assets), which occurred between arm’s-length parties near
to the end of the reporting period. As at 31 December
2024, the aggregate fair value of the equity interest and the
derivative financial assets in World Biotech was approximately
HK$15,949,000.

As at 31 December 2024, if the transaction price of market
transactions increased or decreased by 5%, the carrying
amount of the shares of World Biotech would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$798,000.

The management of the Company is of the view that the
market transaction approach valuation method could reduce
dependency on unobservable inputs by incorporating market
transaction data, and therefore enhancing the reliability of
fair value measurements.

2023 valuation

At at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the shares of World
Biotech was evaluated based on the valuations carried out by
an independent qualified professional valuer using discounted
cash flow method and Black Scholes Model, the aggregate
fair value of the equity interest and the derivative financial
assets in World Biotech was approximately HK$29,190,000.
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(b)

(Cont'd)

In applying the calculation of the fair value of World Biotech
at the end of reporting period, it was assumed that (a)
there is no material change in the existing conditions which
might adversely affect the business of World Biotech; (b) the
financial projection in respect of World Biotech was prepared
on a reasonable basis that reflects estimates that have been
arrived at after due and careful consideration by the senior
management of the Group; and (c) the economic condition
will not deviate significantly from economic forecasts.

The following is the key terms of World Biotech and the profit

guarantee in assessing the fair value:

Expiry date
e 5 HA

Valuation date

HEBH
Valuation technique

HERA

Remaining period to expiration

JiE 7 71 2 3 B A P

Discount rate

BhIRE

Probability of achieving the profit guarantee
BRaFERIBE

Weighted average cost of capital
MNIEFIIE AR A

Discount for lack of marketability

iR Z PIIEE 2 758

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
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31 December 2023
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Discounted cash flows
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50%
14%
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

234

24, MAFEE

RAE E (&)

B8

mYRZ &

Notes: (Cont'd)

(b)

(Cont'd)

Total fair value of World Biotech as at 31 December 2024
and 2023:

MI5E -

(b)

(&)
)

NTECMERZT=F+"A=+

—B BEXEMREBEREREZATE
ABER

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

R-E-mEF ATEC=g

+=B=+—8 +=ZB=+—H

The Group’s equity interest of World Biotech 2.06% 3.32%

FEERIRIKEYR BEBRIRE

Fair value of share held by the Group and the profit guarantee ~ HK$'000 15,949 29,190

REEFRFRG afERZ A TE FHT

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group, as
a limited partner, invested in a private equity fund called
Kingkey Investment Fund SPC — KKDF Selected Investment
Fund SP ("Kingkey Fund”). The Kingkey Fund invested in a
wide range of instruments, including but not limited to, listed
and unlisted equities.

The carrying amount represents interests in unlisted
investment funds. The financial assets were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
measured at fair value under level 2 fair value hierarchy.
Details of the above are disclosed in note 42(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, no derivative financial assets were
held by the Group. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's
derivative financial assets of approximately HK$8,579,000
mainly represented the fair values of (i) a put option
amounted to approximately HK$3,283,000 granted by the
vendor in connection with the acquisition of a subsidiary of
the Company by Dynasty View Limited, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Dynasty View"); and
(i) a put option amounted to approximately HK$5,296,000
granted by a shareholder of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings in
connection with a deemed disposal of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings during year ended 31 December 2022.

(@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)
Dynasty View

The derivative financial assets of approximately HK$3,283,000
represented the fair value of a put option granted by a
third party. On 2 July 2021, Dynasty View and a third party
(“Vendor"”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement
("S&P Agreement”) pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to
sell, and Dynasty View agreed to purchase 51 shares of the
total issued share capital of a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“Target Company”), representing 51%
of the total issued share capital of the Target Company, at
a consideration of HK$2,500,000. The Target Company and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in, inter alia, micro-
insurance, micro-lending, digital health care and wellness
service, employment and service referral agency, with a
keen interest on the un-banked population; in particular,
development and operation of IT fintech platform for the
retail customers in Hong Kong.

In consideration of the purchaser agreeing to enter into the
S&P Agreement, the Vendor granted to and in favour of
Dynasty View a put option (“Dynasty View Put Option”)
which requires the Vendor to purchase all the 51 shares in
the Target Company (“Option Shares”) from Dynasty View
at the purchase price (“Option Purchase Price”) which shall
be equivalent to the aggregate of (a) the consideration in
the amount of HK$2,500,000, and (b) an amount in Hong
Kong Dollars calculated at a rate of 12% per annum on the
consideration to be accrued daily from the date of the S&P
Agreement up to the date of completion of the sale and
purchase of the Option Shares between Dynasty View and
the Vendor, if the conditions subsequent are not fulfilled by
15 months after the date of the S&P Agreement (“Long Stop
Date”). The above put option shall only become exercisable
after the expiry of the Long Stop Date and shall lapse on the
day falling six months after the Long Stop Date.
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)

236

(Cont'd)
Dynasty View (Cont'd)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Dynasty
View Put Option was exercised by the Group and the Target
Company was fully disposed of to the Vendor at consideration
of approximately HK$3,441,000. This resulted in a gain on
disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$846,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The fair value of the Dynasty View Put Option as at 31
December 2023 was arrived at, with reference to the
valuation carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected to the Group, using the Black Scholes
Model. Pursuant to the S&P Agreement, the Vendor shall use
his best endeavours to procure that certain conditions shall
be fulfilled by Long Stop Date. In applying the calculation
of the fair value of the Dynasty View Put Option as at 31
December 2023, it was assumed that (a) interest rates will not
differ materially from those presently prevailing; (b) economic
conditions will not deviate significantly from economic
forecasts; and (c) there is no other unpredictable and force
majeure which cause material adverse effect.

As at 31 December 2023

Maturity Date

[&m E HA

Time to Expiration
BRHA

Valuation technique
BT

Risk-Free Interest Rate
i B P =

Expected volatility
TRHRR IR

Fair value of the put option

LI AT(E

Note: The exercise price represents the purchase price to
be paid by the Vendor to purchase the Option Shares
when the put option is exercised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings

The derivative financial assets of approximately HK$5,296,000
represented the fair value of a put option granted by a
grantor in connection with a deemed disposal of Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings. On 2 June 2022, Noble Tack International
Limited (“Second Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and the then controlling shareholder of
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings, entered into a subscription
agreement (“Subscription Agreement”) with Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings and Dynamic Investment Holdings
Limited (formerly known as TNG FinTech Holdings Limited)
(“First Subscriber”), the then non-controlling shareholder
of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Seamless Group Inc. (“Grantor”), pursuant
to which Dynamic Indonesia Holdings agreed to allot and
issue 5,000 subscription shares (“Subscription Shares”)
in five tranches (with each tranche of 1,000 Subscription
Shares) for the aggregate subscription price of US$1,000,000
("Subscription”). The Subscription Shares represent 20%
of the enlarged issued share capital of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings upon completion of the Subscription.

On 2 June 2022, the Grantor also entered into an option deed
("Option Deed”) with the Second Subscriber, pursuant to
which the Grantor agreed to grant to the Second Subscriber
an option (“Put Option”) for the right but not the obligation
to require the Grantor (or its nominee) to acquire all or part
of the ordinary shares of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings held
by the Second Subscriber (“Walletku Option Shares”)
and all or part of the outstanding shareholder’s loans of
approximately US$2,050,000 from the Second Subscriber
("Shareholder’s Loans"”) upon exercise of the put option
which is exercisable at the discretion of the Second Subscriber
in accordance with the terms of the Option Deed. The Second
Subscriber has the discretion to determine the number of the
Walletku Option Shares and the amount of the Shareholder’s
Loans to be acquired by the Grantor (or its nominee) upon
exercise of the put option and the Second Subscriber shall
notify the Grantor such number of the Walletku Option
Shares and amount of the Shareholder’s Loans to be acquired
by the Grantor (or its nominee) in the option notice to be
served by the Second Subscriber.
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)

238

(Cont'd)
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (Cont'd)

On 22 May 2024, the Second Subscriber and the Grantor
entered into an agreement to extend the expiry date of
the exercise period of the Put Option from 2 June 2024 to
31 August 2024. On 30 August 2024 (i.e. the day before
the extended expiry date of the Put Option), the Second
Subscriber, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
exercised the Put Option pursuant to which the Second
Subscriber disposed of 10,200 Walletku Option Shares
(representing approximately 40.8% of the issued shares of
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings) and the Shareholder’s Loans
in the total amount of US$2,050,000 to the Grantor at the
option price of US$5,400,000 on the date of completion
of the Put Option (“Option Completion Date”), which
was settled with the issue of the convertible bonds by the
Grantor (“Grantor Convertible Bonds”) to Century Harvest
Investment Limited (“Century Harvest”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Following the disposal of the Group’s interests in Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings, the reportable segment of provision of
services through network media was ceased and accordingly
be classified as a discontinued operation as from 30 August
2024. Details of the above disposal are further disclosed in
note 34(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

The fair value of the Put Option as at 31 December 2023
was arrived at with reference to the valuation carried out by
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group, using the Black Scholes Model. In applying
the calculation of the fair value of the Put Option as at 31
December 2023, it was assumed that (a) interest rates will not
differ materially from those presently prevailing; (b) economic
conditions will not deviate significantly from economic
forecasts; and (c) there is no other unpredictable and force
majeure which cause material adverse effect.

The following is the valuation parameters in assessing the fair
value of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and the Put Option:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)y (Cont'd)
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (Cont'd)
As at 31 December 2023

Maturity Date

JE=pg =l

Time to Expiration

B HA

Valuation technique
(Y=L

Risk-Free Interest Rate
mREMEE

Expected volatility
TERRE IR

Discount for lack of marketability

HRZ PIIHE M 2 Hra8

Fair value of the put option

RIHHAEAT(E
Note: The exercise price represents the purchase price to be

paid by the Grantor to purchase the Walletku Option
Shares when the Put Option is exercised.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
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R — SRR
532%

37.07%

43%

HK$'000 5,296
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2024 2023

“EME —ET=HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FHET

Cash and bank balances IRE R IRTTAEER 10,987 6,569

At 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in USD amounted to approximately HK$Nil
(2023: HK$945,000) and AUD amounted to approximately
HK$671,000 (2023: HK$2,582,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. BHIEE
2024 2023
T =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BMisE FET FET
Contract liabilities G5H8E
Deposits received and deferred BUiRE RIRIEW A
income (i), (i) 9,076 10,190
Notes: Mt
()  Revenue of approximately HK$10,190,000 (2023: () BEIZNF+ZA=+—HILEE

HK$8,146,000) recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024 was related to contract liabilities at the beginning of the
year.

(i) The Group receives payments from customers for the hotel (ii)
and related services when the customers made reservation
of accommodation of hotel rooms. Payments are usually
received in advance before the services provided which are
mainly from provision of hospitality services and related
services in Australia.

B2 Wz 4910,190,0008 T (Z& =
=14 ! 8,146,000587T) » JLEEY 2 E
HEBERRH -

FEERERRAE BB EERIE
& R ABRE AR B WL ER R P R o —ARBNER
HARTS (X 2 FORINR S ARTS K 48R
AR5) B AT WL EIRRIE o

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS 27. BE REMEMNRIE &
AND PROVISION R
2024 2023
- 111 3 TR =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Trade payables FET & 5 RN 4,842 5,091
Accruals and other payables FE S+ E A R HAFE (I RRIE 28,289 29,281
33,131 34,372
2024 2023
—E-NE TET=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET
Additional provision for litigations FANERI AL
for the year (notes 38(c) and (d)) (PFEE38(0) R (d)) = 4,819
Provision for litigations derecognised upon fR{EHE—RIMI B AT E
deemed disposal of a subsidiary TRV EREA R
(note 34(a)) (M5E34(a)) - 51,982
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

27. BHRREMENRIB EE
FA Rt (&)

Ageing analysis of trade creditors F& 1 B 5 AR FRERBS 73 4

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS
AND PROVISION (CONT'D)

UTRAEERRSHARREEEAH
B SR ARE DA

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based
on the invoice date of the Group as at the end of the
reporting period:

2024 2023

“ETME —ET=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Within 3 months 3B ZA 2,088 4,109
Over 3 months @A E 2,754 982
4,842 5,091

AEBEZREMBEMARIE Bt ER
REHZREESUTIIEEEHE !

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
payables, accruals and provision are denominated in the
following currencies:

2024 2023

—EmE =R

HK$°000 HK$'000

FAET FET

HKD BIT 20,846 17,743
AUD JRIT 12,285 16,629
33,131 34,372

ERBERZERERAR | — T -HNFFR 241



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

28. INTEREST BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. st EIRITREMEES

BORROWINGS

The exposure of the Group's borrowings is as follows:

AEBBERNERINT :

2024 2023
“ETE TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRTTEE 72,567 55,771
Interest-bearing other borrowings Hst EEE 30,524 10,188
103,091 65,959
Less: Interest-bearing bank and B DEAREE SR
other borrowings classified IRITREMBEE
as current portion (95,546) (38,439)
Non-current portion IEmENER D 7,545 27,520
Fixed-rate borrowings BEMEEE 30,740 10,188
Variable-rate borrowings FERNERES 72,351 55,771
103,091 65,959
Secured Z=Fiseiid 72,567 55,771
Unsecured e 30,524 10,188
103,091 65,959
Analysis into: PaXiir=Tn
The carrying amounts of the above L fEEREBEERETEER
borrowings are repayable: BFfE
Within one year or on demand —FARFIREK 95,546 38,439
In the second year F_FE 7,545 5,759
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EFAF(BEERE
W 4F) - 21,761
103,091 65,959
The average effective interest rates per annum on the REBBEZ FHERFENENT !
Group's borrowings are as follows:
2024 2023
—EZME .
Average effective interest rate: FHERA=R
Fixed-rate borrowings BEMEKEE 10.6% 9.5%
Variable-rate borrowings HEFIERMEE 7.3% 7.4%
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28.

29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_ZE UFE+ _HA=+—HILFE
INTEREST BEARING BANK AND OTHER FFREIRITREMMEE (48)
BORROWINGS (CONT'D)
The carrying amounts of the Group's interest bearing bank AEBEGFRETREAMBEE ZREET
and other borrowings are denominated in the following MREEHEEHE -
currencies:
2024 2023
—ENE EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FETT
HKD BIT 26,189 7,000
AUD BT 76,902 58,959
103,091 65,959
CONVERTIBLE LOANS AND DERIVATIVE 29. AR ERRITEEME R
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
RN _E _—F+_BAR_E__F—

In December 2021 and January 2022, a subsidiary of
the Company, Endless Foison Limited (“EFL"), issued
several convertible loan notes (“Convertible Notes")
with aggregate principal amount of HK$7,000,000 and
HK$600,000 respectively. The Convertible Notes will mature
on 31 March 2024 (“Maturity Date"”) and do not carry
interest. The Convertible Notes may be convertible into fully
paid ordinary shares of EFL at the option of the holders
of the Convertible Notes (“Noteholders”) based on the
outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes, the
agreed valuation of the Company and the number of issued
shares of EFL in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Convertible Notes. The Noteholders may also request for
early redemption of the Convertible Notes by EFL at 105%
of the par value of the Convertible Notes during the period
from the first business day immediately after 31 March 2023
and the date which is 10 business days immediately before
the Maturity Date.

B(TAmRERE) -

M5 R i B4R 2 A%

AEFLZ BB ZmA% o
DL _E_=F=H

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Convertible BHE_ZT-_@mHE+Z
Notes of approximately HK$694,000 (2023: HK$Nil)
were repaid and the maturity date of the remaining
Convertible Notes were renegotiated with the corresponding
Noteholders which agreed extend to 31 March 2026.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remaining
Convertible Notes were derecognised following a substantial
modification when the maturity date of the Convertible
Notes was extended and the option to convert them into
fully paid ordinary shares of EFL was expired. As a result
of the substantial modification, the remaining unpaid
portion of these Convertible Notes was reclassified as other
borrowings.

+—B -BE_BZ

BAR 2 BB B R BT -
LEFERT

o

ERBERZERARAE | =

7,000,0007%8 75 % 600,
SERN T TME=
BOEHERSE - IR EREAZA
BEREEFAEA(RERAEAN) ZEE

“TIFEFR

B XpElZ BT Endless F0|son
Limited (TEFL)) 1T E TR AR E

T =

KEHBEED R A
000787t ° AI# AR
B=+—H(ZIHA

IR > R IR

RITEZAIBRREBEZAEEE ~ A F)
FIEZGELBETEFLRMHEE » ik
ERFEATTR
—t+—HEEEE
*HEEEZINAHFII0EZEXHEH
IFHARS » EREFLIR TR EZEEE
105%iR REBEI TR T ©

A=+—HL%F

E > oiREHREEIEL694,00087T
(—7——£E EE/%TD)
ER IO ERBRERTEAENR
Er TRERERE_ZE_AE=ZHA=
mE+—"BA=+—
BIEFE > R T BRERERNRATIRKRE

BE IHHEQELEB#&H%%@%EFLH%&Ei

> MER T RJ kR

RERETERE

°c AN EBEAXNER] » HARFABRK
ES Y T%Taanﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE LOANS AND DERIVATIVE 20. IR ERKRITEEREE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONT'D) (48)
The proceeds received from the issue of the Convertible BT MR ERBRKEIZPAERIBEE D
Notes have been split between the liability and derivative REEERTETASD > PR

components as follows:

HK$'000
FH7T
Liability component: BRES :
Liability component at 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—HA—HNEEED 7,715
Interest charge (note 9) SRz (YEE9) 613
Liability component at 31 December 2023 WZTF-_=F+"HA=+—HX
and 1 January 2024 T NFE—HA—HNaRHS 8,328
Interest charge (note 9) I 2 B3z (FEE9) 457
Repayment B8 (694)
Derecognition upon substantial modification & A{EETEF4R IEFEER (8,091)
Liability component at 31 December 2024 KT _-_ME+_A=+—BMNaEIFH -
Derivative component: PTETAZS .
Derivative component at 1 January 2023 R TE—F—A—HTETAES S 402
Change in fair value NEEE (402)
Derivative component at 31 December 2023, - _-_=%+"H=+—H -
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 “—EMFE—A—HERZZEZNE
+ZA=+—HBMTEIASRS -
The interest charged for the period is calculated by applying BOMRERETE  RMNEZHTS
effective interest rate ranging from 8.07% to 8.24% to the REBEBO2ERMENFE.07T%E

liability component since the Convertible Notes were issued. 8.24%=tH ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. CONVERTIBLE LOANS AND DERIVATIVE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONT'D)

The derivative component was measured at its fair value at
the date of issue and at the end of each reporting period.
The fair values were estimated using Crank Nicolson finite-
difference method (level 3 fair value measurements). The key
assumptions used are as follows:

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—F

29. AJIARG

(&)

PeE+ =B =+—HIEEE
TEEMER

TETIABOBARETEARSERS
HIRMRAFEFE - AFENDERRE
RERBRBRED FETMHE (BE=MR
NTEFR) - FAERNEERRUT ¢

31 December

Date of issue

+-BA=+—H FITHHA
Weighted average share price MHEFERE HK$1,33387T HK$2,3948 7T
Weighted average exercise price IEFETEE HK$7,720787T HK$7,7207% 7T
Expected volatility TBER IR 62.42 - 62.70%
Expected life TastF A 2.251-2.292 Yr &
Risk free rate ERREHNR 0.561 - 0.664%
Expected dividend yield BHREX 0%

Information about level 3 fair value measurements

BRE=RATESBIER

Significant Effect on fair value
Valuation techniques  unobservable input ~ Range for increase of inputs
EXFATHRER BARBEMHATE
fh{Ei BARE #E 07
Derivative component embedded  Crank Nicolson finite- Expected volatility 41.90% Increase
in Convertible Notes difference method
MATRRREZITETAR Y =ERERER TRERIRIE &
BIREDE
The fair value of derivative component embedded in the MATMEREENTTE TR RF

Convertible Notes was determined using Crank Nicolson
finite-difference method and the significant unobservable
input in the fair value measurement is expected volatility.

EBENERRHRERBRERED ZE
E > MIEHKRRA AT B EFRRA
MERTAEREARIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

30.

246

DEFERRED TAX

An analysis of the deferred tax balances in the consolidated

statement of financial position is as follows:

EIERIA

AV BN R RS ZIEIERIBERD
T -

2024 2023
—E-E ==
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHE7T
Deferred tax assets EERIBE E 1,059 1,169
The followings are the deferred tax balances recognised and TRAFAMER ZEIERIBEGRRE
movements thereon during the year: BE .
Decelerated
Tax losses tax allowances Total
REEE MR R L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-=F—F—H 256 914 1,170
Exchange realignment SMEFREE - (1) (1)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RIEZ=F+ZA=1+—HK
“EUE—F—H 256 913 1,169
Exchange realignment SMEERRR (24) (86) (110)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB_WE+-A=+—H 232 827 1,059

As detailed in note 10(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has unprovided deferred tax in
respect of unutilised tax losses and other taxable/deductible
temporary differences arising in Hong Kong and Australia
that is available for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024

MR B MR RMEE10(b)FrEFt » &
EBEEREBRBEMNEEZ RBARE
BIEREMERR, RN EETEER
ZAREBERIEERTE > v] BIFR S RIRE
SRARIEA] o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. fg7s
Number of shares HK$'000
! TAT
Authorised: AT -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at RZZZ=f-B—- El k- St
1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, + E +—-B+-ZZ-NF-B—-H
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 RZEBZME+ZA=+-H
SREHEOIBTZBER 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERRT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at RZZZ=F-H—-H
1 January 2023 BREEOBTZ LER 5,336,235,108 53,362
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (a) BEIREHRN () (180,200,000) (1,802)
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and RZBZ=F+-A=+-H - ZF-Mm&
31 December 2024 -B-BR-Z-ME+-A=1+—H 5,156,035,108 51,560

(@) The Company acquired 180,200,000 of its own shares (a)
through purchases on the Stock Exchange from May to June
2023. The total amount paid for the shares repurchased was
approximately HK$17,076,000 and related transaction costs
incurred of approximately HK$157,000 have been deducted

from contributed surplus.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s securities listed on the Stock
Exchange during year ended 31 December 2024.

ERBERZERARAE | =

EANBN _E_ZFRAKRSBEB
B 22 Fr U B EL 180,200,000 B B R
7o EIRMDERIMIZINEETRENS
17,076,0008 7t > MBS AL
157,000 T EXLEZRERHIAMR ©

BE_T_NF+"A=+—HLEFE &
AEREAMENBLARMERE - HESE
B AAB B FR LTRSS ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (CONT'D)

248

During year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
purchased, sold or redeemed the Company’s securities listed
on the Stock Exchange as shown below:

31. BR7s (88)

BE_Z_-—F+-_A=+—HLHF
B rxEERE HEHEBERIERATR

2P E T BYEE S50 R PR

Price paid per Share

BRRZIER
Number of

Shares Aggregate

Date of Repurchase Repurchased Highest Lowest Consideration
FBEIREA fERRh&E =1 =2 wE
HK$ HK$ HK$

BT ABIT BT

22 May 2023 2T -FRRB+TH 1,000,000 0.083 0.083 83,000
23 May 2023 2T -FRRB+=H 14,000,000 0.085 0.085 1,190,000
24 May 2023 —EI=FRAZ+MIH 12,000,000 0.086 0.084 1,031,820
25 May 2023 2T -FRRB”+AH 35,700,000 0.089 0.088 3,176,440
29 May 2023 —EI=FHRAZ+AH 11,000,000 0.093 0.090 1,022,270
31 May 2023 2T -FRRB=+—H 48,000,000 0.095 0.094 4,558,510
02 June 2023 2B H 10,000,000 0.101 0.101 1,010,000
05 June 2023 2T =F"AAH 15,000,000 0.103 0.102 1,544,880
06 June 2023 ZET=F"ANRH 20,000,000 0.104 0.102 2,078,040
07 June 2023 T At H 7,500,000 0.101 0.101 757,500
19 June 2023 —EC=F5"B+NH 6,000,000 0.104 0.104 624,000
Total 180,200,000 17,076,460
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. SHARE CAPITAL (CONT'D)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group is that in order to maintain its listing on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to maintain a
sufficient public float of the Company’s shares. The Group
has maintained a sufficient public float to comply with the
GEM Listing Rules throughout the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
trade and other payables, accruals and provision, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities and
convertible loans less cash and cash equivalents. Capital
includes equity attributable to the shareholders. The gearing

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

31. R (48)

BEAER

FEFEEFEENTEZERARESE
ERHEREKENENTERSRITE
AERUSXFHEHEBRERERRE
(=

AEBEEREARBURBEE N

BEB) N HFLHRE - RERUAEE
R AEENEHEHRRIRE

MY > ARREREE R EITHRG ©

AEBEFEETHHE—IBEEERESR
MR GEMBY it fi » A&
ERERRBRNEFTTEENARTR
8 AEENREFRN—BHHERFTENAR
FRE » URESGEMLEMRANRE °

FEBRBERAERLEREEES > IE
RBFEHHFUBENFEBE < F
BHEEES REMBMRE - Bt 8
ARkER - StRIRTRAEMEE - HE
BERABMERERARERERREEA
B -BAOERREGERED - RBREH

ratios as at the end of the reporting period were as follows: FNEXREGELERNOT
2024 2023
—E-mE ==
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Trade and other payables, accruals and B 5 R EMETRIE -
provision FEST & A M 33,131 34,372
Interest-bearing bank and other FTRIRTTRAEMMEER
borrowings 103,091 65,959
Convertible loans AR E R - 8,328
Lease liabilities HE&E 839 5,673
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERERRESIER (10,987) (6,569)
Net debt RS 126,074 107,763
Equity attributable to the shareholders AE SRR i 223,276 317,506
Capital and net debt BARKFETS 349,350 425,269
Gearing ratio BAREMRALER 36% 25%
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32.

33.

250

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme"”) was adopted on 9 June 2020. The purpose of
the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards
for eligible participants’ contribution to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group and any invested entity.

There were no share options outstanding, granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Details of the Company’s Share Option Scheme is set out on
pages 46 to 47 of the Company’s Annual Report.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserve and the movements
therein for the current year are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 133 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Share premium

The share premium account of the Company includes
premium arising from the new issue of shares in the
current and prior years netted of share issue expenses.
(b) Contributed surplus
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of the Company is subject
to compliance with the bye-laws of the Company

and the laws of Bermuda, is distributable to the
Shareholders under certain circumstances.

() Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for foreign currencies in note 4(e) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RESERVES (CONT'D)

(d) Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI

(e)

()

(non-recycling)

The fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI
(non-recycling) comprises the cumulative net changes
in the fair value of equity instruments designated as
measured at FVTOCI in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for equity/debt instruments designated
at FVTOCI in note 4(k) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other reserve

The other reserve mainly represents the difference
between the proceed and carrying amount in the equity
transaction arising from the partial disposal of equity
interest or acquisition of additional equity interest in
the subsidiaries without any change in the control of
the subsidiaries.

Distributable reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had
distributable reserves of approximately HK$Nil (2023:
HK$19,092,000) including accumulated losses of
approximately HK$1,225,413,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,169,018,000). Under the Company’s
memorandum of association and the Bye-laws and
the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company of approximately
HK$1,188,110,000 (2023: HK$1,188,110,000) as at 31
December 2024, are distributable to the Shareholders
if certain circumstance are met. The Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make distribution out of
the distribution reserve if:

(i)  the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of the Company would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities,
its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.

ERBERZRERAR | S -NEER

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE —ENFEf —H=4+—HIFFE
33. {#f& (48)
(d) BRATFESBBEMEEWKZEIERZ

(e)

()

TRBEEZ AT EME(RATEE)

BRATEZEBEMEERmSKRZ
TMEEZ AT ERE (KA BEE)
BIERBGEE M RRMEEAK P
MIEE AR AFEEBEMEZER
mIBRME D EH T ERMNE
STBERMIEE AR AT EEBEM
EEHW@Y RS ENEE THERAF
BERNRFTEEHFE -

Hh{#E

Hit#Em T EZEHM 0 HENB AR
AR S UR A I BB A B R S IR A (B Y
BABZ ERIERE L EMEE) E
EZRERZRAERIELKRBEZ
BIRYZE%R o

CIRE s R34

ATETNE+"B=+—H &
NBBEEIHRDIKHENST BT
(ZEZ=4 119,092,000 7T) (82
EEEEA1,225,413,0005% 7T
BT :491,169,018,000%
70)) o REAR AT EBEZR A4 K&
MAIMEEBRE—NAN—FREE
(B5Ta) » RZE_NE+ -/ =
+—HB > WETBERERE  &Q
BB @EE7491,188,110,000 7T
TET=4:1,188,110,0005%7T)
AR FTIRE c EUTERT
RABABEIRIIKARE » it
DIREEREE DK

() TRARFIIRGKRSEBEZL
BEIHER, X

(i) AABZAEREEREALD

RE&RE  BEETRERERD
E(BARZ 4B o

251



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

252

Deemed disposal of subsidiaries
Jixiang

On 10 May 2023, BB E =K AR ERT (English
is for identification purpose only, Shanghai Third
Intermediate People’s Court) (“Shanghai Court”)
announced that Shanghai Well C.P.A. Partnership (_t
BEMEESEMEEMM(EESE)) was appointed as
the adm|n|strator (“Administrator”) in respect of
the insolvent liquidation of Jixiang, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (“Liquidation”), following
its acceptance of the application made by LEO Group
Co., Ltd. (“Purchaser”) for the Liquidation, further
details of which have been set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 7 February 2023. On 15 May
2023, Jixiang received a list from the Administrator
for the items that need to be handed over to the
Administrator, including its assets, seals, and books and
records (“Handover”).

Immediately following the Handover which effected
on 31 May 2023, Jixiang is no longer controlled by
the Company under which Jixiang was deemed to be
disposed of by the Group and deconsolidated from
the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
Immediately following the Handover and deemed
disposal, Jixiang ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company.

Further details of the deemed disposal of Jixiang are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 19 May
2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (Cont'd)
Jixiang (Cont’d)

The following table summarises the net liabilities of
Jixiang deemed disposed of during the year ended
31 December 2023, and the financial impacts are
summarised as follows:

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE —FE _NFE+ _—FH=+—HIFFE
34, IZEIRERERMGE (B)

(a)

RIEHEMB AR (B)
T (18)
TRPMBEE_E_=F+_A=

T—HLEFERFHENTRNEG
SFER HYBEESUT

2023
ZEI=H
HK$’000
TET
Net liabilities deemed disposed of: RIEHEBERE .
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEEBHMEEWEYRS
TREE 116,526
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBIIRUE ~ &5 K HAMEURIE 402
Cash and cash equivalents RERFRREIEH 11
Accruals and other payables FEst & A R H MR R (20,267)
Provision for litigations (note 27) FREREEE (MIEE27) (51,982)
Tax payable FE(SHRIE (56,163)
Interest-bearing other borrowings SEEMEE (56,960)
(68,433)

Release of exchange reserve fRIREE R (3.712)
Net liabilities disposed of HEARFE (72,145)
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary BRIEHE—RBNBAR Z W 72,145
Net cash outflow arising on deemed RREHEEE ZIRERHFEE -

disposal:
Cash and bank balances being deemed REHE 2 IRE RIBITHARR

disposed of (11)
Disposal of subsidiaries (b) HEMEAS

As detailed in note 24(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group disposed of the Target Company
to the Vendor at consideration of approximately
HK$3,441,000. The consideration was settled by
way of loan to the Vendor pursuant to an agreement
for an interest-bearing loan between the Group and
the Vendor entered into on 19 August 2024 (“Loan
Receivable”).

ERBERZERERAR | — T -HNFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e BRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont'd)

The following table summarises the net liabilities of
Target Company being disposed of during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and the financial impacts are
summarised as follows:

meRERERMNETE (@)

(b) HEMEBELE(GE)

TERBABE_S_NF+ A=
T-HLEFELERRARZEAR
FER > MAFHZERLAT

HK$’000
F#T
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE{JFIE ~ &+ K E A FEUERIB 63
Bank balances RITAEER 1
Other payables and accruals HA P& I K et & A (1,248)
(1,184)
Financial assets at FVTPL derecognised BRI AT EEBERYR S
TREE 3,283
Non-controlling interests disposed HEIFER T 496
Gain on disposal HEZ I 846
Satisfied by the Loan Receivable MFEW B A 3,441
Net cash outflow arising on the disposal: HEEE ZIREMEFEE
Cash and cash equivalents disposed HERERFRIREIER (1)

(c) Major non-cash transaction

Dividend received by way of equity interest in
Dignity Choice

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
received dividend from an associate by way of 10,650
shares, representing 48.33% equity interest of Dignity
Choice.

Disposal of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings

On 30 August 2024, the Second Subscriber, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, exercised the Put
Option pursuant to which the Second Subscriber
disposed of 10,200 Walletku Option Shares and
the Shareholder’s Loans in the total amount of
US$2,050,000 to the Grantor at the option price of
US$5,400,000 on the Option Completion Date, which
was settled with the issue of the Grantor Convertible
Bonds to Century Harvest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(c)

Major non-cash transaction (Cont’d)

Disposal of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (Cont’d)

On the same date, the Grantor Convertible Bonds were
automatically converted into shares of the Grantor
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Grantor Convertible Bonds, and as a result, 772,970
shares of the Grantor (“Grantor Shares”) were
allotted and issued to Century Harvest. These Grantor
Shares were further converted to shares of CURR (as
defined in note 24(a)) and another unlisted entity
in accordance with the terms and conversion price
stipulated in a business combination agreement. Details
of the disposal of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and the
subsequent conversion of shares are disclosed in the
Company’s announcement on 18 November 2024.

The loss on disposal of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings
resulting from the above serial of transactions is as
follows:

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

34. iIn B IREMNERMEE (8)

(0 EXFREXRH )

4 EDynamic Indonesia Holdings
(#&)

REH > BRERHEATBREES
TR GEE > RHATBRKRES
EREBRARE ARG 0 HIE
772,9708 = H ARMD (TR H AR
BEERETTEK - REXER
BHBEPTE] BRI R
B> 2EREARDE—THR
#ACURR(EZ R MizE24(a)) 5 —
JELETERENRMD o HEDynamic
Indonesia Holdings K& EL1& & 1H 7 #A
M ERAAB HBEA S _UE
+—B+N\BHNAMHMIKE -

AEit—%INXZMERLE
Dynamic Indonesia HoldingsfY 548
(I

HK$’000
FHET
Carrying amounts of assets being disposed ~ HEZEEZIREE
= Investment in Dynamic Indonesia Holdings = 53 Dynamic Indonesia HoldingsZ % & 12,462
- Shareholder’s Loans -REEN 15,934
28,396
Consideration received BUWEE 22,711
Loss from the disposal REBHESREZEE 5,685
Add: transaction cost directly attributable to il | HEFHEEZEGR 5 M4
the disposal 460
Loss on disposal HEFIEZEIE 6,145
Satisfied by: U=
Fair value of shares of CURR received by B UERCURRER (D 2 A 1B
Century Harvest 22,172
Fair value of shares of an unlisted entity RAKWEGE EmERRN 2 ATE
received by Century Harvest 539
22,711

The Group did not receive any proceeds in cash from
the disposal of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings.

ZEE B30 # 5 HE Dynamic Indonesia
HoldingsUWg BRAE(A 3R EFT1SRRIE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

256

OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details the changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

ll\/TElIE‘I; %13—%

(d)

fiy 5 (48)

MEEBMEENEREHER

TREFMEI A EBMEEEPTE
TEENEE > aRRTKIFRS
28 MEITHMELEREAHE
TREEKNREKFERERNA
%l,ﬁ%éfﬁémiﬁﬁq igﬁjﬂﬁﬁ
GEFTELRERENERE o

Interest-
bearing bank
Convertible Lease and other
loans liabilities ~ borrowings Total
sHERITR
HRER figafk Hitifs & st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART TR TR TR
At 1 January 2024 R-E_m&E-F—-H 8,328 5,673 65,959 79,960
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREZEEY .
New borrowings obtained EGHEE - - 47,909 47,909
Repayment &E (694) - (11,253) (11,947)
Interest paid BIFE - - (6,311) (6,311)
Capital element of lease rentals paid Efffig 2 ExH5 - (4,306) - (4,306)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BfifigZH S5 - (1m3) = (173)
(694) (4,479) 30,345 25,172
Other changes: Hitd .
Interest expenses FER% 457 173 6,704 7334
New lease Mg - 86 - 86
Early termination of lease RERILEE - (606) = (606)
Derecognition upon substantial REAEFTRE LD
modification (8,091) - - (8,091)
Recognition upon substantial ﬁ"—ﬁ‘ﬁﬂxﬁ EWNCHIE
modification of convertible loans =4 - - 7,824 7,824
Derecognition upon substantial REMBEEAEIR
modification of other borrowings BIEER = = (727) (727)
Foreign exchange movement EREEH = (8) (7,014) (7,022)
(7,634) (355) 6,787 (1,202)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+ZA=+-H - 839 103,091 103,930
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

(e)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SpGEENE

activities (Cont'd)

4= AN
n\7|_ /|

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_FT_MFE+"H=+—HILFE

(d)

maRERNERMEE (@)

MEEHMEENERHEKRGEE)

Interest-
bearing bank
Convertible Lease and other
loans liabilities borrowings Total
sHERITR
RRER HE&E HitfgE 4zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEL T T
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=%-F—H 7,715 8,149 115,329 131,193
Changes from financing cash flows: HEREREZEY
New borrowings obtained EEHMES - - 25,154 25,154
Repayment of borrowings BEEE - - (18,734) (18,734)
Interest paid BFIE - - (5512) (5512)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BfffigzEXHD - (3,804) - (3,804)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EfffigZHE D - (368) - (368)
- @172) 908 (3,264)
Other changes: HigE)
Interest expenses FEHx 613 368 5,512 6,493
New lease HHE - 328 - 1328
Deemed disposal of subsidiary W’%E ELNEYAE - - (56,960) (56,960)
Foreign exchange movement EREE) - - 1,170 1170
613 1,696 (50,278) (47,969)
At 31 December 2023 RZF-=F+-A=1+—-H 8,328 5,673 65,959 79,960
Total cash outflow for leases included in the (e) FTAGZEHERERNAENHRE

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

AAREET ¢

2024 2023

—E-mE EC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FET

Within financing activities RREEER 4,479 4,172
ERBERZERBREAR | ZSNFFR 257
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r e BRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 35.

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are included in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36.

Significant capital expenditure contracted for as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 but not recognised as liabilities is

MREE

ERAEEARBRES BIRTTREM
EENEEFBHNGEEMBRERMEE

150

BZHIE

RIBZWNFRZF_=F+"A=+
—H > BsINERRESABENELR

as follows: BEREWT
2024 2023
—EME “ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Property, plant and equipment M~ BERRE
- Renovation of Balgownie - B ERE - 15,166

258 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



37. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a)
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had

the following transactions with related parties during

the years:

= AL
e

37. BABE R A LS

B RRH M B D PR 5T
frE’] 2550 0 AE B E R R R
ANTETTUTRS

2024 2023
—ENE —ET=4F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B3 FAET TAT
Rental expenses paid to a related m—EfEBAEEN ()
company HERX 4,112 3,738
Rental deposit paid to a related m—EREBAESEN ()
company (included in deposits and A& % (Gt A% E
other receivables (note 23)) e EL A RIS R IE
(M45E23)) 2,432 2,432
Income generated from provision m—ERAASREE ()
of administrative and management 17 EU% & 12 ARFSFR
services to a related company EEZWA 420 1,228
Cost of medical services paid to a m—EREB AR (i)
related company EERE 2R 341 547
Consultancy fee paid to an associate E—[EE=E AT (i)
BHE 360 400
Loan to an associate (included in m—EEEAEEME (i)
deposits and other receivables ERGIAZE
(note 23)) e EL A RIS R IE
(M95E23)) - 15,933
Loan to an associate (included in m—EEEABEREE (v
deposits and other receivables EM Gt ATk
(note 23)) Hth e EIs
(Mi5E23)) 7,439 7,439
Interest receivables from an associate 2k H—RIEHE A F] (iv)
(included in deposits and other ZEWFH B
receivables (note 23)) (%JrJ\?@E@E’Z
H BRI
(Mi5E23)) 432 283
Interest income from an associate RE—FEEBE QT (iv)
(included in other income (note 7))  FBUWA
(Gt AEAUA
(MIEE7)) 149 149
Loan from a related party (included RE—%BBALZ ()
in interest-bearing other EREGAGR
borrowings (note 28)) HiEE
(MizE28)) 4,335 3,188
Interest paid to a related party E—%EBA TN (Vi)
FE 248 -
Income generated from provision m—ERBAEREME (v
of administrative and management  {TEU K& & IRIRFSFR
services to a related company EEZIA 1,306 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-F

— =

AFE+—H="+—HIEFE

37. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

260

TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)
(a) (Cont'd)
Notes:

(b)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The income generated from provision of administrative
and management services were received and the cost
of medical services and rental expenses were incurred
and paid to Hong Kong Health Check and Medical
Diagnostic Centre Limited, a subsidiary of the Group's
associate for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2024. In addition, the rental deposit was also paid to
this related company.

The consultancy fees were paid for the consultancy
services provided by Nuada Limited, a subsidiary of the
Group's associate.

The loan was provided by the Group to Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings, a former subsidiary that became
an associate after Walletku Disposal in June 2022,
and the loan is interest-free and has no fixed term of
repayment.

The loan was provided by the Group to French Modern
Concept, an associate of the Group, and the interest
is paid for the loan. The loan has no fixed term of
repayment.

The loan was provided by Mr. Lawrence Tang, a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, and
with interest bearing for the loan during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. The related party
transaction constituted a connected transaction as
defined in chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The loan was provided by Mr. Lawrence Tang, a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company in previous
years. The interest was paid for the loan during the year
ended 31 December 2024. The related party transaction
constituted a connected transaction as defined in
chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The income generated from provision of administrative
and management services was received from a
subsidiary of Starry Ace Limited, an associate of the
Group, for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The remuneration paid to key management personnel, who
are the Company’s Directors is disclosed in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AY

37. RAE KRR A L3X5 (58)

(a)
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. LITIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group was involved
in the legal proceedings or potential legal proceedings as
follows:

Convoy Case

(a)

On 19 December 2017, Ever Robust Holdings Limited
("Ever Robust”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, received a writ of summons with a
statement of claim (the “Writ”) issued in the Court
of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
(the "Court”) by Convoy Global Holdings Limited
("Convoy”), Convoy Collateral Limited (the “Second
Plaintiff”) and CSL Securities Limited (the “Third
Plaintiff”, together with Convoy and the Second
Plaintiff, collectively as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among
other defendants, Ever Robust (together with the other
defendants, collectively as the “Defendants”).

Based on the Writ, the orders sought by the Plaintiffs
against Ever Robust were as follows: (i) Convoy sought
an order as against, among others, Ever Robust, that
the allotment of the shares in Convoy by Convoy to,
among others, Ever Robust on 29 October 2015, be
set aside; (ii) the Second Plaintiff and the Third Plaintiff
sought an order that the financing facilities granted by
them, including the loan (the “Convoy Loan”) in the
amount of approximately HK$129,000,000 granted
to Ever Robust by the Second Plaintiff on 9 November
2015, and the margin loan (the “Margin Loan”)
granted to Ever Robust by the Third Plaintiff which
amounted to HK$67,574,473 as at 29 March 2016,
be rescinded; and (iii) the Plaintiffs sought against,
among others, Ever Robust for (a) general or special
damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/
or other reliefs (the “Convoy Proceedings”). As at
19 December 2017, Ever Robust had fully repaid the
Convoy Loan and the Margin Loan and did not hold
any shares in Convoy.

ERBERZERARAE | =

38.

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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GOE/N

RIENERZZEZ=F+"A=+
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

262

Convoy Case (Cont'd)

(a

(Cont'd)

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference
hearing was held before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Harris on the Convoy Proceedings. On 9 July 2018,
Ever Robust has received an amended writ of summons
and an amended statement of claim (the “Amended
Statement of Claim”). Pursuant to the Amended
Statement of Claim, the reliefs sought by the Plaintiffs
against Ever Robust were amended as follows: (i) a
declaration and order as against among others, Ever
Robust, that the allotment of the shares in Convoy by
Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust, on 29 October
2015, was null and void, or has been rescinded and
set aside (as sought by Convoy); (ii) an account of
profits and an order for payment of any sums found to
be due, equitable compensation to be assessed, and/
or damages to be assessed for breach of fiduciary,
common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful
means conspiracy, as against, among others, Ever
Robust (as sought by Convoy); (iii) an order against,
among others, Ever Robust, for an account of profits
and an order for payment of any sums found to be
due, equitable compensation to be assessed, and/
or damages to be assessed for breach of fiduciary,
common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful
means conspiracy (as sought by the Second Plaintiff
and the Third Plaintiff); and (iv) against, among others,
Ever Robust, for (a) general or special damages; (b)
interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other reliefs
(as sought by all the Plaintiffs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

Convoy Case (Cont'd)

(a

(Cont'd)

On 27 July 2018, Ever Robust received a sealed order
(the "Order”) dated 28 June 2018 against, among
other Defendants, Ever Robust, in which 11 parties
are ordered to join the proceedings as additional
defendants. Pursuant to the Order, it was further
ordered, among other matters, as to between the
Plaintiffs and Ever Robust (among certain other
Defendants), that the Plaintiffs did have leave to file
and serve the Amended Statement of Claim.

On 30 November 2018, Ever Robust received a copy
of the sealed order dated 1 November 2018 against,
among other defendants, Ever Robust, in which a party
was ordered to join the proceedings as an additional
defendant.

On 10 December 2018, Ever Robust filed its defence
("Defence"”) to the Plaintiff's claim in the Convoy
Proceedings with the Court. Pursuant to the Defence,
Ever Robust averred that the Plaintiffs were not
entitled to any relief against Ever Robust in the Convoy
Proceedings.

On 30 August 2019, Ever Robust filed its amended
Defence pursuant to the order of Hon Harris J dated 12
July 2019.

Further details of the Convoy Proceedings were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 19 December
2017, 1 June 2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018.

After seeking the legal opinion, the Group considered
that there was no assessed monetary claim by the
Plaintiffs and it is premature to give opinion on the
probable outcome and estimate the ultimate liability.

ERBERZERAERAE | —F
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Zhu Xiao Yan Case

(b)

On 2 January 2018, Ever Robust received a petition
(the “Petition”) issued in the Court by Zhu Xiao Yan
(the “Petitioner”) against, among other respondents,
Ever Robust. Based on the Petition, the Petitioner has
held and continues to hold 3,234,000 shares in Convoy
since around mid-2015, and the Petitioner sought the
following orders against, among others, Ever Robust:
(i) a declaration that the placement of 3,989,987,999
shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among other placees,
Ever Robust, and/or such placed shares were void
ab initio and of no legal effect or, alternatively, be
set aside; (ii) damages for dilution of the Petitioner’s
shareholding; (iii) interest; (iv) such further or other
relief and all necessary and consequential directions
as the Court may think fit; and (v) costs (the “Zhu
Proceedings”). As at 2 January 2018, Ever Robust did
not hold any shares in Convoy.

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference was
held on the Zhu Proceedings, in which the Honourable
Mr. Justice Harris made an order that the Zhu
Proceedings be stayed with liberty to restore, pending
the outcome of the Convoy Proceedings.

Further details of the Zhu Proceedings were set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 2 January 2018.

The Group has sought preliminary opinion on the
above legal proceedings from its solicitors (or legal
adviser) in Hong Kong, who, based on the information
available as of the date on these consolidated financial
statements, was of the opinion that:

—  there is no assessed monetary claim except the

Plaintiffs’ claim and the Petitioner’s claims against
Ever Robust for damages to be assessed,;

— itis premature to give opinion on the probable
outcome; and

— itis premature to estimate the ultimate liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

Essence Case

(0)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021,
a subsidiary of the Company (the “Borrower”) had
breached the covenant of a loan (the "Essence Loan”)
in the original principal amount of RMB79,868,600
granted by Essence Securities Co., Limited (the
“Lender”), which is secured by certain of the listed
securities (“Pledged Assets”) (notes 20 and 24) (the
"Essence Case”). On 17 January 2020, the Borrower
received the summons (the “Summons”) issued by
the Lender, as plaintiff, in Shenzhen Intermediate
People’s Court (the “SZ Court”) against the Borrower
as defendant. Pursuant to the Summons, the Lender
demanded the SZ Court to order the Borrower to: (i)
repay to the Lender the outstanding principal amount
of the Essence Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$79,216,000); (i) pay to the Lender interest at the
rate of 6% per annum accrued on the outstanding
principal amount of the Essence Loan in the sum
of approximately RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$79,216,000) from 20 June 2019 to
the date of repayment; (iii) pay to the Lender liquidated
damages at the daily rate of 0.03%, including
liguidated damages on the outstanding interest in
the sum of approximately RMB1,042,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,164,000) from 16 September
2019 to the date of repayment and liquidated damages
on the principal from 19 June 2018 to the date of
repayment; (iv) pay to the Lender its legal costs in
making the claims in the sum of RMB76,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$85,000); (v) use the proceeds
from the realisation of 45,779,220 shares in LEO (i.e.
the Jixiang's Shares) (note 20) pledged by the Borrower
through discounting, sale or auction firstly to repay
to the Lender the outstanding amount of the Essence
Loan, the interest, the liquidated damages and the
legal costs; and (vi) bear all the litigation costs such as
case acceptance fees and security fee of this case. As
per the Summons, the aggregate amount of the claims
under (i) to (iv) up to 18 November 2019 amounted
to approximately RMB85,186,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$95,187,000).
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D) 38.
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Essence Case (Cont'd)

(0)

(Cont'd)

On or around November 2020, the Borrower received
the judgement (“Judgement”) issued by the SZ Court
in relation to the Summons, pursuant to which:

(1) the Borrower shall within ten days after the
Judgement becoming effective, repay to the
Lender (a) the outstanding principal amount of
the Essence Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB71 million and interest on the outstanding
principal amount of the Essence Loan (consisting
of (i) interest in the amount of approximately
RMB1 million accrued from 20 June 2019 to 16
September 2019; and (ii) interest at the rate of 6%
per annum accrued on the outstanding principal
amount of the Essence Loan in the sum of
approximately RMB71 million from 16 September
2019 to the date of repayment); (b) liquidated
damages at the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the
outstanding interest in the sum of approximately
RMB1 million payable from 16 September 2019 to
the date of repayment; and (c) liquidated damages
at the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the outstanding
principal amount of the Essence Loan (consisting
of (i) liquidated damages in the amount of
approximately RMB1 million payable from 19
June 2019 to 19 August 2019; and (ii) liquidated
damages on the outstanding principal amount
of the Essence Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB71 million payable from 19 August 2019 to
the date of repayment);

(2) the Lender shall have the right to the Pledged
Assets as a chargee and the priority to be
compensated with the proceeds from the
realisation of the Pledged Assets through
discounting, auction or sale; and

(3) out of the litigation costs (consisting of case
acceptance fees and security fee) in the aggregate
amount of approximately RMB473,000,
approximately RMB465,000 and approximately
RMB8,000 shall be borne by the Borrower and the
Lender, respectively.
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

Essence Case (Cont'd)

(0)

(Cont'd)

Save for the above, the orders the Lender demanded
the SZ Court to make against the Borrower in the
Summons were rejected by the SZ Court.

Further details of the Summons and the Judgement
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated
18 January 2020 and 20 November 2020.

The Group completed the disposals of Town Health
shares on 3 March 2021 and 10 March 2021 to
partially repay the Essence Loan and the liabilities owed
to the Lender under the Essence Loan as required by
the Judgment.

On 10 May 2023, Shanghai Court announced that
Shanghai Well C.P.A. Partnership (/85 5TEIEF
Fr (& @5 §£)) has been appointed as the Administrator
in respect of the Liquidation, following its acceptance
of the application made by the Purchaser for the
Liquidation. Further details of this appointment have
been set out in the Company’s announcement dated 7
February 2023. On 15 May 2023, Jixiang received a list
from the Administrator for the Handover.

The deemed disposal of Jixiang was completed on 31
May 2023, and the Pledged Assets held by Jixiang were
deemed to be disposed of.
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case

268

(d)

On 7 December 2015, Jixiang, a subsidiary of
the Company, Mr. Xu Jialiang, Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
(collectively, the “Vendors”), E/BEBESERA
BJ(in English, for identification purpose, Shanghai
Zhiqu Advertisement Co., Ltd.) (“Zhiqu”) and LEO
Group Co., Ltd. ("LEO") entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (as amended and supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 11 January 2016)
(the “Zhiqu SP Agreement”), pursuant to which
LEO agreed to acquire, and the Vendors agreed to
sell, the entire equity interest of Zhiqu (the “Zhiqu
Disposal”). The Vendors and LEO also entered into
the performance compensation agreement (the
“Performance Compensation Agreement”) in
relation to the adjustments to the total consideration
for the Zhiqu Disposal. The total consideration shall be
subject to adjustments (the “Adjustments”, each an
“Adjustment”) in accordance with the Performance
Compensation Agreement in the manner as stipulated
below:

For the purpose of the Adjustments, the “Audited
NOP” is Zhiqu's audited net operating profit after
tax, after adjustments for, where applicable, any non-
recurring and exceptional gains or losses, whichever
is lower, that are not related to the ordinary business
of Zhiqu, attributable to shareholders of the parent
company of Zhiqu as deduced from the audited
consolidated financial statements of Zhiqu for the
relevant financial year ended 31 December 2016
("FY2016"), financial year ended 31 December 2017
("FY2017") and financial year ended 31 December
2018 (“FY2018") (each a “Guaranteed FY"). The
Vendors severally (but among Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, jointly and severally) undertook to LEO
that:

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 shall be
not less than RMB58,000,000 (the “2016 Target
NOP"),

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 shall be
not less than RMB75,400,000 (the “2017 Target
NOP"); and

(iii) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 shall be
not less than RMB98,020,000 (the “2018 Target

NOP").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

The Vendors and LEO agreed that the amount of
Adjustment (the “Adjustment Amount”) for each
Guaranteed FY shall be settled by the Vendors in the
following order:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

firstly, by the consideration shares allotted and
issued to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng,
in proportion to the consideration shares allotted
and issued to them (“Xu’s Shares”);

if the Xu's Shares shall be insufficient to settle the
relevant Adjustment Amount, secondly, in cash by
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng in proportion
to the cash consideration received by them (“Xu’s
Cash”),

if Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng have
not fully compensated LEO, thirdly, by the
consideration shares allotted and issued to Jixiang
("Jixiang's Shares”);

if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash and the Jixiang's
Shares shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, fourthly, in cash by Jixiang,
which is subject to a cap of approximately
RMB25,510,000 (“Jixiang’s Cash”); and

if the Xu’s Shares, the Xu’s Cash, the Jixiang's
Shares and the Jixiang's Cash shall be insufficient
to settle the relevant Adjustment Amount, finally,
in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to
settle the balance.
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

270

LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

Upon the end of each Guaranteed FY and the issue
of the special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2018, LEO
shall engage qualified auditors to conduct asset
impairment test and issue a report in respect of any
asset impairment. Where the asset impairment of Zhiqu
as reflected in such report shall be more than the total
Adjustment Amount compensated by the Vendors to
LEO, the Vendors shall compensate LEO a sum equal
to the difference between such asset impairment
and the Adjustment Amount then compensated by
the Vendors to LEO, which shall be settled first by
the consideration shares (the value of which shall be
calculated by multiplying such number of consideration
shares with the issue price), with payment of cash to
settle the balance (if any). All liabilities of Jixiang under
the Performance Compensation Agreement shall at all
times be capped at the total consideration received by
it.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2016
published by LEO on 30 August 2017, the Audited
NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 amounted to approximately
RMB32,240,000, which was less than the 2016 Target
NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2016
shall be approximately RMB83,931,000 and shall
be settled by 18,166,915 Xu's Shares (the "FY2016
Compensation”). Jixiang was not required to pay any
compensation to LEO in respect of the Audited NOP of
Zhiqu for FY2016.

As disclosed in LEQ’s announcement dated 31 August
2017, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng shall
pay additional compensation which comprises (i) an
aggregate of 21,993,909 LEQO's shares to LEO; and
(i) cash in the aggregate amount of RMB80,000,000
to Zhiqu, on or before 31 December 2017 (the
“Additional Compensation”). According to LEO’s
announcement dated 19 December 2017, such shares
were returned to LEO for distribution to its shareholders
in December 2017.
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)
LEO Case (Cont’d)

(d)

(Cont'd)

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2017
published by LEO on 14 December 2018, the Audited
NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 amounted to approximately
RMB36,689,000, which was less than the 2017 Target
NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2017
shall be approximately RMB126,125,000 and shall be
settled by 3,821,856 Xu’'s Shares and Xu's Cash in
the amount of approximately RMB108,468,000 (the
“FY2017 Compensation”) taking into consideration
the Additional Compensation. However, as disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 15 March 2019,
according to LEO’s announcement dated 15 March
2019, given that the 3,821,856 Xu's Shares were not
sufficient to settle the FY2017 Compensation and
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng were unable to
provide the Xu’s Cash in the amount of approximately
RMB108,468,000, in accordance with the settlement
mechanism above, the FY2017 Compensation shall
be settled by 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares and Jixiang
shall also return the cash dividend in the amount of
approximately RMB506,000 received from LEO to an
account designated by LEO.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 29 April 2019, on 29 April 2019, Jixiang
received a letter from the Shanghai International
Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission (Shanghai
International Arbitration Center) (“SHIAC") that LEO
had commenced arbitration proceedings against
Jixiang to pursue the settlement of the portion of the
FY2017 Compensation that Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng were unable to satisfy (the “Unsettled
FY2017 Compensation”). As at 31 December 2018,
the Company has been preliminarily advised by its
legal advisers as to the laws of the PRC that Jixiang
should have a good chance to argue in such arbitration
proceeding that the demand from LEO for settlement
of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation should not be
upheld. The hearing of the arbitration proceeding was
held on 24 September 2019 before a panel of three
arbitrators.

According to the announcement of LEO dated 8
November 2019, based on the special audit report
in respect of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018,
the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounted to
RMB7,701,500, which was less than the 2018 Target
NOP.
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

272

LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

According to the announcement of LEO dated 3
December 2019, in view of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu
for FY2018 being RMB7,701,500, the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 shall be RMB402,738,467
accordingly. The Adjustment Amount for FY2018
shall be settled by the Xu’s Shares, and where such
shares are insufficient, by the Xu’'s Cash received
by Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng. Given that
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng no longer hold
any consideration shares, they will be required to
compensate LEO in cash. LEO will issue a demand
notice for compensation to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng after the compensation proposal in respect of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 has been approved
by the shareholders of LEO. If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of
the demand notice, Jixiang will be required to settle
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 by 45,779,220
Jixiang’s Shares that it holds and, if such shares are
insufficient, by Jixiang’s Cash. In addition, Jixiang will
also be required to return the cash bonus in relation to
the Jixiang’s Shares that it has received from LEO, the
amount of which as determined in accordance with
the amount of compensation that Jixiang is required
to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such
settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in cash.
LEO will seek approval from its shareholders in respect
of the above compensation proposal.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 6 December 2019, on 6 December 2019,
Jixiang received a letter from SHIAC indicating that it
has approved LEO’s application (“Application”) to
make the following amendments (“Amendments”)
to certain demands made by LEO against Jixiang in
relation to the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017
Compensation:

(i) the transfer of 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares
(instead of 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) held by
the Jixiang to LEQ;
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D) 38. FfFER (48)
LEO Case (Cont'd) FIBRZEH (48)
(d) (Cont'd) d) &)

(i) if Jixiang is unable to transfer the entire
45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 lixiang's Shares) to LEO, the shortfall
shall be compensated to LEO by way of cash; and

(i) the return of the cash bonus in the amount
of approximately RMB989,000 (instead of
approximately RMB506,000) in relation to
the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 lixiang's Shares) by Jixiang to LEO.

In the Application, further to the above amendments,
LEO also demanded Jixiang to pay LEO (i) cash
compensation in the amount of approximately
RMB25,510,000; and (i) an amount which is calculated
from the date of the Application, based on the amount
of unsettled compensation due from Jixiang to LEO
times the one-year loan prime rate published on 21
October 2019 as authorised by the People’s Bank of
China (i.e. 4.20% per annum), as compensation for the
loss suffered by LEO.

It was stated in the Application that the Amendments
were proposed taking into consideration that (i) the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 as reported in the
special audit report in respect of the Audited NOP
of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounting to approximately
RMB7,702,000, was less than the 2018 Target NOP (i.e.
RMB98,020,000); and (ii) any party in breach of the
Performance Compensation Agreement shall be liable
for damages caused to the parties not in default. It was
stated in the letter that Jixiang shall provide rebuttal
opinion on evidence in respect of the supplemental
information attached to the Application (“Rebuttal”)
within five working days after the receipt of the letter.
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont’d)

274

(d)

(Cont'd)

On 10 December 2019, Jixiang has instructed its
PRC legal adviser to provide the Rebuttal and an
objection to the Application ("Objection”) to SHIAC.
In the Objection, Jixiang requested SHIAC to reject
the Application, taking into account that (i) the
Application was made too late, which would severely
affect the normal process of the arbitration; and (ii)
the inclusion of the compensation for the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 into the amended demands
under the Application would complicate the case and
cause delay to the arbitration proceedings, and more
importantly, LEO’s claims against Jixiang in relation
to the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 are subject to
(@) LEO’s claims against Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng after the shareholders of LEO have given their
approval of the related compensation proposal; and (b)
the failure of Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to
settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in full within
30 days after the issue of the demand notice by LEO.

On 19 December 2019, LEO issued a letter to Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng on 19 December 2019
demanding the settlement of the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018. In response to the demand letter issued
by LEO on 19 December 2019 as mentioned above,
Mr. Xu lJialing and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng informed LEO in
writing on 20 December 2019 that they were unable
to pay the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 due to
their financial difficulties. If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of
the demand letter, Jixiang will be required to settle
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 by way of the
45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares that it holds and, if such
shares are insufficient, by way of cash, which is subject
to a cap of approximately RMB25,510,000 (being the
amount of cash consideration received by Jixiang in
relation to the Zhiqu Disposal). In addition, Jixiang will
also be required to return the cash dividend in relation
to the Jixiang's Shares that it has received from LEO,
the amount of which as determined in accordance
with the amount of compensation Jixiang is required
to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such
settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in
cash. LEO will seek approval from its shareholders in
respect of the proposal to repurchase and cancel the
45,779,220 Jixiang’s Shares held by Jixiang as partial
settlement of the Adjustment Amount for FY2018.
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

On 8 February 2021,

Jixiang received the arbitral

awards (“Arbitral Awards"”) issued by the SHIAC in
respect of the demands made by LEO against Jixiang
in relation to the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017
Compensation and the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018, the details of which are as follows:

(iii)

(iv)

Jixiang shall transfer 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares it
holds to LEO and assist LEO with matters relating
to the acquisition and cancellation of such shares;

if Jixiang is unable to transfer the entire
45,779,220 Jixiang’'s Shares to LEO within 45
days from 5 February 2021 (i.e. the date on
which the Arbitral Awards were issued by the
SHIAC (“Award Date")), the shortfall shall be
compensated by Jixiang to LEO by way of cash,
the amount of which shall be calculated using the
following formula:

Amount of cash compensation to be paid to LEO
=Ax16.17/3.5

A, being the number of Jixiang's Shares in
shortfall

Jixiang shall pay to LEO (a) cash compensation
in the amount of RMB9,626,612.92 (“Cash
Compensation”); and (b) damages, the amount
of which shall be calculated using the following
formula:

Amount of cash damages to be paid to LEO =
9,626,612.92 x 3.85%/365 x B

B, being the number of days from 4 December
2019 to the date on which the Cash
Compensation is fully paid by Jixiang to LEO

Jixiang shall return the cash bonus in the amount
of RMB987,523.17 to LEQ;
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont'd)

276

(d)

(Cont'd)

(v) lJixiang shall pay to LEO RMB500,000 of the legal
fees incurred by LEO as a result of the disputes
with Jixiang over the settlement of the Unsettled
FY2017 Compensation and the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 (“Disputes”); and

(vi) Jixiang and LEO shall bear 70% and 30% of the

arbitration fees incurred to settle the Disputes,

respectively. Given that LEO has fully settled
the entire amount of the arbitration fees of

RMB1,632,434, Jixiang shall pay 70% of such

fees (i.e. RMB1,142,703.80) to LEO.

The Arbitral Awards set out above are final and they
shall be performed by Jixiang within 45 days from the
Award Date.

On 20 October 2021, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
issued a disciplinary action advance notification (the
“Notification”) to Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, indicating that (i) Jixiang, Mr. Xu lJialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng had breached Rules 1.4, 2.3 and
11.11.1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Shares
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (November 2018
Revision)* (FINEHFRK ZFTKE Em#RAI(20184F 11
B1&%])) (the “Shenzhen Listing Rules”) and Rule
1.3 of the Guidelines of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
for the Standard Operation of Listed Companies on
the Small and Medium-sized Enterprise Board (2015
Revision)* (RIIIFEZFAZZPRH/INEZER EHATRE
EE{F155((201551&5])), given that (a) Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng failed to fully compensate LEO
in accordance with the Performance Compensation
Agreement; and (b) Jixiang did not pay the
compensation of RMB221 million to LEO in accordance
with the arbitration judgement made by the SHIAC,
whereas Zhiqu's audited net operating profit after
tax and other prescribed adjustments for the financial
years ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018
were less than RMB58,000,000, RMB75,400,000 and
RMB98,020,000, respectively; and (ii) the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange intends to impose the disciplinary
action of the circulation of a criticism notice on Jixiang,
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, pursuant to
Rule 17.2 of the Shenzhen Listing Rules and Rule 27
of the Standards of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for
Imposition of Disciplinary Action on Listed Companies
(for Trial Implementation)* GRIIIFEHRZZ A LR AT
RN BIIREEITT)).
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38. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

According to the Notification, if Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng fail to submit their statements
and pleadings in writing and evidence in relation to
the matters set out in the Notification to the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange by 27 October 2021, they would be
deemed to have waived their rights to make their
statements and pleadings.

As at the date of this report, no such written
statements and pleadings and evidence have been
submitted by Jixiang to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Details of the Notification are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 October
2021.

Details of the Zhiqu Disposal and the calculation of the
Adjustment Amount for each Guaranteed FY were set
out in (i) the announcements of the Company dated
8 December 2015, 11 January 2016, 29 February
2016, 20 May 2016, 5 July 2016, 5 September 2016,
7 September 2016, 31 August 2017, 14 December
2018, 15 March 2019, 9 April 2019, 29 April 2019, 8
November 2019, 3 December 2019, 6 December 2019,
10 December 2019, 27 December 2019, 8 February
2021 and 7 February 2023; and (i) the circular of the
Company dated 11 February 2016.

As a result of the deemed disposal of Jixiang by the Group as
set out above, upon completion of the Handover on 31 May
2023, due to loss of control over Jixiang, Jixiang has been
deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. Consequently, the provision for the claims
made by Jixiang is no longer recorded in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

Further details of the deemed disposal of Jixiang are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 19 May 2023.
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39.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Except for the litigations as disclosed in note 38 to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have
any other significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December

39.

2024 (2023: Nil).

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent events

40.

The Directors are not aware of any significant event after the
reporting period for the Group and up to the date of this

report.

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

41.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

HARER
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A RZEBZME+"A=+—08"
FERTETMNAMERNAER(CE

TZFIE) e
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follows:
Financial assets
EHEE
Amortised
cost FVTPL FVTOCI Total
BAFE
BAF{E ik
ik Hth2m
1455 R A< B 5 ER W5 B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FAET FAET FET FET
2024 —E-mE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATESEREM
2EWNESERZ
SRIEE - - 1,426 1,426
Accounts receivable, loan and  FEWERTN ~ FEIRE =X
interest receivables gl 41,455 — - 41,455
Financial assets included in SPATERTIE ~ g
prepayments, deposits and REMEWFRIEZ
other receivables THMEE 50,091 = = 50,091
Financial assets at FVTPL BN ESEBEED
R SREE - 36,167 - 36,167
Cash and cash equivalents RERFRREIEH 10,987 - - 10,987
102,533 36,167 1,426 140,126
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. THMTRZ9HE @)
Financial liabilities
EREE
Amortised
cost Total
R EH R A 4EEt
HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHET FET
2024 —E-E
Financial liabilities included in trade SFAB S REMENR
and other payables, accruals and B ESTERREEZ
provision TRIBE 33,131 33,131
Interest-bearing bank and other SHERITRAEMBES
borrowings 103,091 103,091
136,222 136,222
Financial assets
TRE
Amortised
cost FVTPL FVTOCI Total
BAF(E
/NS poey )
i Hihem
EIE AL A B ER Wz 51 B 485t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFAET TFAET FET
2023 —E=
Financial assets at FVTOC]| A EEBEM
2ER YR
THMEE - - 2,887 2,887
Accounts receivable, loan and  FEURERTR ~ FEUIRE X
interest receivables gl 54,255 - - 54,255
Financial assets included in SEATETIE ~ S
prepayments, deposits and REMEWRFIEZ
other receivables THEE 42,093 - - 42,093
Financial assets at FVTPL BAF EEBER
R SREE - 61,697 - 61,697
Cash and cash equivalents RBEKMRFEFIREEH 6,569 - - 6,569

102,917 61,697 2,887 167,501
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

41.

42.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. T T EZ 9% (8)
(CONT'D)
Financial liabilities
EREE
Amortised
cost Total
I A “Est
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
2023 TEBC=HF
Financial liabilities included in trade StAEB S REMEARR
and other payables, accruals and B ESTERAKREE
provision TRIBE 34,372 34,372
Interest-bearing bank and other sHERITRAEMBES
borrowings 65,959 65,959
Convertible loans AR ER 8,328 8,328
108,659 108,659
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 4. NFEEFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels of inputs
and the valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

’&EOZ{E%FE%/,\%KJEEHHTEF“
R PHEEEFWEEEEE A
TTJ‘E’M;%??% UTFRFESEREERN
AFEEBRKARGEATENRARK
%J‘E)S’zfﬁﬁﬁm D =B

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group

can access at the measurement date.

B—RBARE . FEERSERRAIREZAEREENSENGED S ZRECRERR) -

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly.

FMBARE . EBENEFREESBEVREZHABER G ARANSEZRERI o

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
FoMMARBE . BEINEBZITAUERBARE-

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers
out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31
December:

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are
as follows:
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

4. RYEE (&)

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

December: (Cont’d)

R+_A=+—BZATFEERK

)|

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2024 categorised into
PEAUTEROR _E_NE
+ZRA=+—HZAFEEHE

Fair
value at
31 December
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
i
—EmE
+=H
Recurring fair REMATE =+—H
value measurements: BTE ZATE B BT B4R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAET
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEBBEM
2ENETRZ
TRHEE 1,426 - - 1,426
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEBBEG
TR SREE 36,167 13,420 22,747 -
Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2023 categorised into
DEAUTEBHENN _E_=F
+ZB=+—HZRAFEHE
Fair
value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
7
—EC=F
+=A
Recurring fair REMATE =+—H
value measurements: BtE ZNFE B BT B4R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEBBEM
2ENETIRZ
EMEE 2,887 916 - 1,971
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEBBER
HERz RO E 61,697 13,131 10,797 37,769
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R M RARMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(b)

282

4. RETE (@)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) BEE=RELXFEAEZEEZ
based on level 3: HER
2024 2023
—ENE “EBT=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BATEBEAHMEZE
H&ﬁ“ﬁ?‘]ﬁﬁZﬁﬁEﬁE :
At 1 January r—A—H 1,971 2,102
Changes in fair value recognised in Eﬁ‘ﬂ%i@ﬂ& ThESE 2
other comprehensive income NEEEH ()
(note) (362) (131)
Exchange realignment SPEEFEEE (183) -
At 31 December K+ZB=+—H 1,426 1,971

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
there was no transfer of investment in equity interests
of unlisted financial assets at FVTOCI between Level 2
and Level 3.

Note:

The total loss recognised in other comprehensive income
included loss of approximately 362,000 (2023: HK$131,000)
related to assets held at the end of the reporting period are
presented in the fair value loss on the financial assets at
FVTOCI in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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RBEE—_T_NFR-_ZT_=F+
“RA=T—HLEFE > BTHAS
ZRzBZR AT EEBREMEE
W32 58R 2 3F b R R E E 2 R A
EmRE MR o

PysE

REME2EWGEED ZEBIEEEDE
REREHARMSEERBZERY
362,000 L (ZET=4 : 131,000
7o) 0 it e Ea R EMEERERA
BATEEBAHMEEWNGRY RS/
BEEZNTFEREZY



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

4. RTESE (48)
(b) REE=REATEFBIEES

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value

based on level 3: (Cont'd)

HER © (&)

2024 2023
“E-ME “B=H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATESBERTIRZ
EREE :
At 1 January r—A—H 37,769 102,271
Disposal HE (11,052) (60,223)
Additions NE 539 -
Derecognised upon disposal of NRHEWB AR B LIE
subsidiaries 7 (3.283) -
Changes in fair value recognised in PIBmER 2 A EEE)
profit or loss (note) (FF5E) (8,024) (4,279)
Transfer out of level 3 EBHE=& (15,949) -
At 31 December R+—B=+—H - 37,769

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and

REE_Z_NER_E_=F+

2023, except for the fair value measurement of the
equity interest and the derivative financial assets in
World Biotech (note 24(b)) were transferred from
measurement based on level 3 to level 2 as a result of
a change in valuation, there was no transfer between
financial instruments in Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer
into or out of Level 3.

Note:

The total loss recognised in profit or loss included loss of
HK$8,024,000 (2023: loss of HK$4,279,000) related to assets
held at the end of the reporting period are presented in the
fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

“R=T—HLEFE > BRLEEH
MERIRIKEY R B EBR (M
24(b)) WRERITEEREENAD
TEFEHF=RFAEERES
RN B—REE _HREMIA
BEHEEE > TEBANEBHLE=

F¥sE

RIERBR 2 BEEAEEENRIREER
Fris & EMR 2 E5188,024,0008 T (=
T = 1 F5184,279,000585T) 0 TR
GEEnREMEERERNZATE
FRERIEZEHEEZ A TERE

ELTI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e BRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 December:

Level 2 fair value measurements

4. AHEE (@)
(© R+ZA=+—8 SEEFRE
By fib AR R A (B3 B FTER R
fEERITRBABRZHE |

EHATEIE

Description Key inputs Fair value Assets
iR FTEHARE RTEEE
2024 2023
—E-mE TEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL
BAFEBBEHRIIRZEMEE
Unlisted investment fund at fair value (note 24(c))
BAFEE2IFLHREER (WsE24(c)
= Kingkey Fund Based on the net asset value with reference to 6,798 10,797
the prices of underlying investment portfolio
quoted by fund administrator. The investment
portfolios of the fund are based on the quoted
closing price in active market of listed equity
securities.
NEEREAER  K2EZEEEEAHEM
KREHASHNRE - ESNREMASTHER L
TR AE ST G R T ISZIFT IR E o
Unlisted investments at fair value (note 24(b))
A FEE 2 I FHRE (H15724(b)
= World Biotech Based on the transaction price from the transfer 15,949 N/A
- RIKEYR R BEERE of the shares of World Biotech (including the TEA
transfer of the derivative financial assets),
which occurred between arm'’s-length parties
near to the end of the reporting period.
e BRI AR BB RR D (15 8RN
TEMEE)RFPERER TR NRER
WMERRAFERMEL o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B RARMEE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 December: (Cont'd)

Level 3 fair value measurements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

4. RYEE (&)

(0 M+ZHA=+—8  =&EBMEA
G ERF R AT ETEFRRAR
HERMRAABEZIKE : (8)

ERATEHE

Effect on fair value for Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range increase of inputs Assets/(Liabilities)
BAREIEM AT
Ht R TEBRBAGE §E HATENRE BE/(Bf)
2024 2023
—E_mE -
HK$'000 HK$'000
47 A7
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BATEEREMRAREIIRZEHEE
Unlisted equity securities (note 19)
FLHRAES (WEE19)
= Australian Company Asset-based approach Discount for lack of marketability 20.4% Decrease 1,426 1,971
(2023: 20%)
—ENAF BEERAE Rz HES 2 S (=% @
20%)
Financial assets at FVTPL
BATEEEREIIRZEHMEE
Unlisted investments at fair value (note 24(b))
BLTEFEZFLTRE W 240)
- World Biotech Discounted cash flows Weighted average cost of capital 2023:14%  Decrease N/A 29,190
method
-BRREMBRELRE BRREREE IETHERRA (ZZz=%: B el
14%)
Discount for lack of marketability 2023:35%  Decrease
RiAZrIRE” 22 (ZBzz%: B
35%)
Probability of achieving the profit 2023:50%  Decrease
guarantee
EREHRRIOEE (CZZ=%: B
50%)

ERBERZRERAR | —S-MEE®H 285
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r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
TECMFE A =1—HILFE

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

HE-F

()

286

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 December: (Cont'd)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Cont’d)

4. RETE (@)

(0 M+ZHA=+—8  s&EBMEA
G ERF R AT ETEFRRAR
HERMRAABEZIKE : (8)

BZRATEFE(E)

Effect on fair value for Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range increase of inputs Assets/(Liabilities)
‘ 4 BABEN ¥
Hit R TBREARE £ HATENRE BE/(Bf)
2024 2023
113 CECCE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Financial assets at FVTPL (Cont'd)
BRATEEEREIIRZEHEER)
Derivative financial assets (note 24(c))
TTEEHEEW724(0)
= Dynasty View Black Scholes Model Expected volatility N/A Increase - 3283
(2023:70.50%)
RR-HEHEY TRHRIE TER Bm
(ZZz=#:
70.50%)
= Dynamic Indonesia Holdings ~ Black Scholes Model Expected volatility N/A Increase - 5296
(2023:37.07%)
RR-HEmEY e TEA &
(C5Z=F:
37.07%)
Discount for lack of marketability N/A Decrease
(2023: 43%)
Rz AIREl 2 TER -0
(CZz=#:
43%)
Derivative financial liabilities
fTEemas
Derivative component embedded in Convertible Notes (note 29)
BATREZE 2 1+ TRES (529)
~EFL Crank Nicolson Expected volatility N/A Increase - -
finite difference method (2023: 41.90%)
RERENER TRHRIE TER Bm
BRER% (CE-z&:
41.90%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 December: (Cont'd)

The discount for lack of marketability represents the
amounts of premiums and discounts determined by
the Group that market participants would take into
account when pricing the investments.

The expected volatility is based on the historical
volatility (calculated based on the expected life of the
share options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility due to public available information.

During the two years, there were no changes in the
valuation techniques used.

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The financial controller
reports directly to the Board of Directors for these fair
value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the financial controller
and the Board of Directors at least twice a year.

Financial assets at FVTOCI, financial assets at
FVTPL and derivate financial liabilities

The Group's financial assets and liabilities in level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy were valued at 31 December
2024 and 2023 by independent and qualified
professional valuers not connected to the Group. The
valuers hold recognised and relevant professional
qualifications and has recent experience to perform
similar valuation.

ERBERZRERAR | S -NEER

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE —FE _NFE+ _—FH=+—HIFFE
4. NFEEETE (8)

(c)

R+ZA=+—8 > =EEMRRA
BLERF RATE EFRA
HERMRBABBEZIKE | (&)

BRZ A E TR e EERER
HE2RESREEERMEREN
i BRI o

TRRRR IR TH ¥% B SE R IR (R B AR T TR
SAERHBHE > WREAHARF
BRERAOR BRI ERTERES)H

o

RmEEER > PREREERM
AL o

AEBRMBREEEMBREME
WEEKRBREAFEFE@ES=
MATFESR) - UHEREERODE
STERZSATEE - UHKE
EREEESFMLERFRER
EDEITMRE R ©

BN FEZBAMEENKZ SRS
EHEE - BAFEEBRZIK
ZEMEERITECTHER

A BN ER_E_=F+_H
=+—H ' BRAFEEBRE=H
MNAERTREEREERERE
B ERA BB S EREEMEE
EIETTHE - ZLEMSHEERR
MAERSEEERS > WHERETHEM
{H{E 2 A HAARES o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43, TR EEBEEREE

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, convertible
loans, cash and bank balances. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables and trade and other payables, accruals and
provision, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest
rate risk and market price risk. The Directors review and
agree on policies for managing each of these risks as
summarised below.

(a) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management will monitor
the foreign exchange exposure should the need arise.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities of
the Group denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are

FEETFEZEEMIAGESBRITRAE
thEE s THMKREN RERIRBITE
e ZEETHMITAETEENREEHR
BEZERE T~EEEZHAMER
BEEREEMNEWIRR - BWRERKF
BUKEZ R EMENRUE -~ E5tER
REH BEESEERELE °

FEEEMTRAEENTZ2REMRDINE
EfE~ EERE - RBETERE -« FIX
REKkTS5ERER EFERITLER
EREERZSRBHBERMAIT o

(a) SPERBE

SNEE R bR AR TR AFEREK
RenE8RENEREEHMEEHIE

AN
oo O
AN

75 [ B Al b 5 51 E P EUR o 22
m> BEEBRNUEREIZEINER

AN
oo O
AN

RE|BEMR > ZEBDEREERE
RRRINEEE R LUMNIE B EHENE
KEEKREBEEZREENT !

as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =1
2024 2023 2024 2023
“ECME| —Z2-= “FomE| —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT FAET FHET
United States dollars (“USD") E((%Em)) = 945 - -
Australian dollars (“AUD") B (GRyT)) 4 4 - -
HKD BT 1 3 - -
5 952 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuation
of USD, AUD and HKD when such currencies are not
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities.

During the year, the Group’'s foreign currency risk
arising from USD is not material as the exchange rate of
HKD is pegged against USD. In addition, the monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in HKD and
AUD are immaterial. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is
disclosed.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is
primarily attributable to accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivable, other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group did not provide any guarantee which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Credit evaluations are performed on customers
requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s history of making payments and current
abilities to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. The Group holds collateral against one of
the loan and interest receivables in the form of asset
charge over listed securities held by the borrower.
As at 31 December 2024, except for approximately
HK$15,283,000 gross loan and interest receivables of
the Group were secured by asset charge over listed
securities, all the gross loan and interest receivables of
the Group were unsecured.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer
and therefore significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, there has no concentration of credit
risk with respect to accounts receivable as the Group
has large number of customers. As at 31 December
2024, approximately 35.03% (2023: 37.1%) of the
total loan and interest receivables were concentrated in
one customer of the Group, and approximately 100%
(2023: 99.4%) of the total loan and interest receivables
were concentrated in five (2023: five) customers of the
Group.

ERBERZERARAE | =

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_FT_MFE+"H=+—HILFE

43. TREEEEBRFRER
(&)

(a)

(b)

51 BE LB (48)

AEETEmMERETT BT AETT
(%% Gt i AR SR E B AR YN
FEER) BRI AR

RER > ARBITRETAERE
i WAEEBRTELNINER
BAAE K o 5 > BUBATRRTT
.:HEE’J‘E”‘“%?LEZ S KB RTAE
A o B > SRR SR D o

EE R
EERREREXZHFTHMAGH

aex?ﬁf’]ﬁ'ﬁ%é&lﬁ%@ﬁﬁmﬁa‘%“?@
KAV R o ﬁ%lﬂ’ﬂm S REETE

R FE IR R ~ RS R R A B
H\TJ@JT’%TH&%’KIE C REKRERHREE

Eo%ﬁ@E%ﬁ@%&% » M
EEERMGIR R EEITEE o
RN_E_NE+_H=+—H =&
EE R HEMREFRS AERK
EEERR -

AEBEHEEEEHNERET
EETM  ELEFHMNEHHAER
PBFEERIENLEE RIBREN
%@’ﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁgﬁﬁfm%
ZRBIRIBHNER « KEBUER
ANFEZ EHE %ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
EWER KA EFFIRER - RN
T_MFE+"B=+—H BREE
l£’115 283,000 T2 EINE R K
F S 4EEER s %ééﬁﬁ%ﬁ
N REBFTERKWERKRFE
HBREYS A4 EIR R o

)41\

Zk%.EEDDE/]TD }—LB EEK %g‘
PFHERNSEHRE Rt S8R
Eﬁ‘ﬁ%@ﬁ%qﬂzif$$7¥<#@/\
EENEAXRBREESE ° ﬁ\:g
THHERE=F+_A=1+—
H> BRNAEBHEEASE @E ) B
TEEMEWRTIMNEAREEESD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e BRI EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZT-NFE+ —HA=+1+—HILFE
43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

290

(b) Credit risk (Cont'd)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for

financial assets stated in the following table:

31 December 2024

43. TREEEEBRFRER
(&)

(b)

EEEE ()
RAERER F KR

TEREBEFEBREEERIITER
BEEREBRHRAEERR > HE
EREBEAHERRN T ZA=+—
HERMEEDLE  FRIFEMERE
AN HANEN ARG RN E]

A=
= °

TRAZ2VNEBHMIEHMEER
SREAB(E !

—EWF+"A=+—H

12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12(8R
RS
BB REEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B1IRE FIRE & s st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiAn FiEn FiEn FiEn A
Accounts receivable, loan and R RMERRHE
interest receivables 28,340 - 15,283 50 43,673
Financial assets included in SARAFE el
prepayments, other receivables, AERHMEEL
and other assets** EHEE 45,840 8,316 4 = 54,160
Cash and bank balances ReRiRTER 10,987 - - - 10,987
85,167 8316 15,287 50 108,820

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e M BIRR N EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43, TR EEBEEREE

AND POLICIES (CONT'D) (#&)
(b) Credit risk (Cont'd) (b) EEREEE)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d) RAREBER FAEER(E)
31 December 2023 TEC-F+T°A=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12(88
BHEE
B4 2HRBEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RE FRE: EEliE Bitht st
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
AL TEn T TEL TEL
Accounts receivable, loan and FEUERE » ERERRA S
interest receivables* 51,466 - - 3,426 54,892
Finandial assets included in SABAE Bl
prepayments, other receivables, MERHMEEZ
and other assets** EHEE 41,146 - 2557 - 43,703
Cash and bank balances ReRiRiTtEe 6,569 - - - 6,569
99,181 - 2,557 3,426 105,164
*  For the accounts receivable, the Group applies the * FREWERRIME > AEBEFRE
simplified approach for impairment, information based FER/EEAEZE  EREEEEN
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 22(b) to the BRNGEBmMANE22(b)1H
consolidated financial statements. BEo
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included other * THMEBEENGEEEROIEEME
receivables and other current assets are considered to WRIEREMAESEE > EHT
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is FoapAlEENERETMEE
no information indicating that the financial assets had a B YRR LRE & & b & 1
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. IR ABIER] - TR > &/l
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is EENEEEREDBAB IR
considered to be “doubtful” or “loss”. ME548] o
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)
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(c)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot meet its
current obligations as they fall due.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current
at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay.

43. TREEEEBRFRER
(&)

(c)

MENE = bR

RBETRBRAEREELETR
R 2| RS ERI RS o

TERBIIPREBAAEEIENTE
SREENHSAAERR HER
SHRERELHE (QEREAY
Pl st gy > 52 7BHFIE > BIR
i 9 2 B ok 09 BB R T A B A0 R B
32 RAEERENRNBRE O
R

Carrying
Within Total amount at
1 year or undiscounted 31 December
on demand 1-5 years cash flows 2024
®
S
REER 128
R—ER REneg =+-H
FHEX -Eif L ZIREfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Fhn Thn TEn Fhn
2024 k- 3
Trade and other payables, A REMENTER
and accruals EHER 3,131 - 3,131 3,131
Interest-bearing bank and s ERTREMES
other borrowings 98,343 8,897 107,240 103,091
Lease liabilties fEaE m 76 853 839
132,251 8,973 141,224 137,061
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT_MFE+_H=+—HILFE

43. TREEEEBRFRER
(&)

(C) /}ngJﬁﬁr”} (,%E)

Carrying
Within Total amount at
1 year or undiscounted 31 December
on demand 15 years cash flows 2023
i
B
REEH +ZA
R—%R Beng =t-f
HIHEK -E1% e ZREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEn FTEn TAL T
2003 CECCE
Trade and other payables, BARHMENTER
and accruals B8R 34,372 - 34,372 34,372
Interest-bearing bank and HERTRHAMEE
other borrowings 38,439 27837 66,276 65,959
Lease liabilities fEaiE 4811 1,053 5,864 5,673
Convertible loans RRER 8512 - 8512 8328
86,134 28,890 115,024 114332
Interest rate risk (d) FIZERpE
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future FMEREEIRENR DS EESHM
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate SINEMIEZ AFELRKIES

because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s fair value and cash flow interest rate risks
mainly relate to fixed and variable rates borrowings
respectively. In order to exercise prudent management
against interest rate risk, the Group continues to review
the market trend, as well as its business operations
needs and its financial position, so as to arrange the
most effective interest rate risk management tools.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the business lending
rates in Australia (2023: the business lending rates in
Australia). The Group manages its fair value interest
rate risk, when it is considered significant, by entering
into appropriate swap contracts.

ERBERZERARAE | =

MEEHZEAR - AEEZAFE
REREERENEKREELEED R E
BIERIBEENEERR - BaiF
KREEETHIEEE > ~EEES
BRTEEY HEZEEHERRK
HEHBERR  ULHREBERI=E
EpEEETA -

AEBZREMNENEXRBREIESE
‘:F'ﬁﬁ\/ MNEEERAMNEKR(ZEZ=
FURNEEERAEX)IH o A5E
.ﬁ/\\HDb%ﬂE EjﬁﬁLLuj_L@
EZERBENEERERFENER

A
oo O
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)
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(d)

(e)

TSR AL

Interest rate risk (Cont’'d)

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
end of the reporting period has been outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease
is used which represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's loss (2023: profit) for the year ended 31
December 2024 would have increased/decreased (2023:
decreased/increased) by approximately HK$362,000
(2023: HK$279,000).

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument traded in the
market will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. The Group manages market prices risk, when it
is considered significant, by entering into appropriate
derivatives contracts.

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
equity investments classified as financial assets at
FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had financial
assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$36,167,000
(2023: HK$61,697,000) (note 24) and financial assets
at FVTOCI of approximately HK$1,426,000 (2023:
HK$2,887,000) (note 20), which were exposed to
market price risk.

43. TREEEEBRFRER
(&)

(e)
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UTFSREDRTRER RS R
Z&_ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬂmfgﬂ?ﬂ
BT BRDWIEBRRNREH
%h%%%z%ﬁn SEEEH A
BAREEMERE - FIERZ EF
TRRSOEREE L AEEBEBHAES
BRI REBE) 2 5 o AR EF
TRES0EEE: > MATEHMESR
FAE XEBHEE_T_UE+
“R= + BLEFEEZEBE(CE
=F mEADBEMm ORI (ZE
=4 R 18 49362,0008 5T
(ZEBZ=% :279,000#7T) °

HISEME R

MmGEKRREEIEHANR MG ERE
FmalRETE XS 2EMIEA
ZAFEIRKEEREEIZRA
%o RAEBNHEIARBEKRRE
BT UBEZTTETEALNEES
SES R o

AEEEBOEARATEERH
HmEEREIRZESMEERIEA
T EEBERIRZTHEEZR
IGEFREERERR o

ATEWNEF+__B=+—H K
EEBRERATESBERIIRY
SREELY36,167,0008T(ZF
=4 . 61,697,000 7T) (MEF24) &
BATEZBHEMEEREIRZ
SRIBEELN1,426,0008 T (Z 2
=4 : 2,887,000 7T) (ffz£20) »
m%ﬂﬁﬁuﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁw °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(e) Market price risk (Cont'd)

()

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks as at 31
December 2024.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% higher/lower:

loss (2023: profit) for the year ended 31 December
2024 would decrease/increase (2023: increase/
decrease) by approximately HK$3,617,000 (2023:
HK$6,170,000) for the Group as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL;
and

fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI
(non-recycling) would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$143,000 (2023: HK$289,000)
for the Group as a result of the changes in fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI.

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position that approximate their
respective fair values.

ERBERZERARAE | =

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_FT_MFE+"H=+—HILFE

43. TREEEEBRFRER

(&)

(e) TIHERER(4)

(f)

TYZHREDHBRBER T
MEFE+-A=+—HBZREERRA

PREERE ©

HAEMERAETIAEEGE LA TH
10% > 81 :

rEBHEE_S_MWE+_A
—t+—HIEFEZBBR(ZE
—=F: “'%U)Hﬂﬂi"\/i‘ﬂﬂ
(ZE =45 18,80 &
3,617,000%75(_7::¢
6,170,000 7T) » REAEA
Tr{éuja FSBR SR E E
NEEHREE ; &

AEBZAFTESBHEMAZE
WmFRz EMEEZ ANTFE
EH (R ‘Jiliii;)hi‘m/ml\
#9143,0008 (2 =4 :
289,000/ 7T) » RRAERAF
EBEFAEME2ER YIS
MEEZAFEHIRES -

AFE

PRGN R RRZ A EE
THREEAEHEBEZREERR
BBEZAVERE
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

296

44. RRTBIAFFIRN R

COMPANY
2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB 16 24
Interests in subsidiaries R B AT Z 406 406
Total non-current assets JEMBNE E4RE 422 430
CURRENT ASSETS MAEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN ENCIEN =] 78,125 136,658
Prepayments, other receivables and FETRIE ~ HMEWRRIE K
other assets Hth&E 4,991 156
Cash and cash equivalents RWERERRELIER 1,970 573
Total current assets TRENE EARE 85,086 137,387
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Accruals, deposits and other payables EstER -~ ZEk
HAERIE 4,424 2,202
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN ENCIER =] 48,127 57,963
Short term borrowings S 18,700 7,000
Total current liabilities TmENB([E4REE 71,251 67,165
NET CURRENT ASSETS mBEERE 13,835 70,222
NET ASSETS BEFE 14,257 70,652
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B s B (5 e
Share capital %N 51,560 51,560
Reserves B (37,303) 19,092
TOTAL EQUITY mpERs 14,257 70,652

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 31
March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Ng Ting Ho
BiEE
Director

EF

KREFGR_Z_LF=RA=+—H#
HERERETE > WA FIALARSE
Z.

Fong Chak Kiu
FiES
Director

EF
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

rEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—F

FE+—_H=+—HILFEZ

44. ZNATIMBHFARRR (18)

COMPANY (CONT'D)

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual

BT RABERN BRI DR ENEER

components of equity between the beginning and the end Z B EFFEHIINT -
of the year are set out below:
Treasury Contributed Accumulated
The Company shares surplus losses Total
YN ERR{ BoER ZithH ozt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TER TEn TEn
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=E-F-F - 1,203,541 (1,158,320) 45,221
Loss for the year KEEFE - - (10,698) (10,698)
Repurchase of shares Bl (17,233) - - (17,233)
Cancellation of shares Bl 17233 (15,431) - 1,802
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=E+ZA=1-Hk
“ETME-B-H - 1,188,110 (1,169,018) 19,092
Loss for the year sFEFE - - (56,395) (56,395)
Repurchase of shares ) - - - -
Cancellation of shares R - - - -
At 31 December 2024 R-E_mE+ZA=1-A - 1,188,110 (1,225413) (37,303)
ERBERZERBREAR | ZSNFFR 297
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY

298

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Particulars of

45. "R EEMRB AR ZEFIHE

TEMBATZFBWT !

Place of issued share
incorporation/ capital/ Attributable Group's
business and Type of registered equity interest held by effective  Principal
Name operation legal entity capital the Company interest  Activities
B BRTRE/ FAH FEE
ey EEREEMEE  EAER AMERHE FAEGRE BRED IEEH
Directly Indirectly
H#E ifE
1. Balgownie Estate Resort  Australia Limited liability ~ AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
Operations Pty Ltd b Company -5 hospitality and
BEEEAE related services
in Australia
FOENREERER
1E AR
2. Balgownie Estate Yarra Australia Limited liability ~ AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Glen Holdings Pty Ltd Sl Company 5 REnk
AEEEAH
3. Balgownie Estate Yarra Australia Limited liability ~ AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
Glen Land Pty Ltd M Company 187 hospitality and
BREARE related services
in Australia
SRR AEE K
TE AR
4. Century Harvest Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Limited 58 Company 17T REER
BAREBRAT AEEEAH
5. Endless Foison Limited BVI Limited liability ~ USD 50,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HERUBEE Company 50,000 7T REER
AREEAH
6. Ensure Profit Limited Hong Kong Limited liability — HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERAT &8 Company 187 RELR
BREEAH
7. Ever Robust Holdings Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Securities
Limited &E Company 1T investments
ERERBRAT BREFAE EHERE
Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

45.

r e M BIRR N EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZE-NFE+_HA=+1—HILFE

KRB EEMBREZFE

— —
THE COMPANY (CONT'D) (48)
Particulars of
Place of issued share
incorporation/ capital/ Attributable Group's
business and Type of registered equity interest held by effective  Principal
Name operation legal entity capital the Company interest  Activities
B BRTRE/ FAHE FEHE
2 EEREEMEE  EAER MBS FREGRE R IEEH
Directly Indirectly
H#E iEE
8. HK Health Maintenance ~ Hong Kong Limited liability —~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
and Preserving Centre &4 Company 187 medical services
Limited BREERH RUBERS
EERREERELE
FOBRAF
9. Leisure King Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong Limited liability —~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited &8 Company 17T REER
TEEEERAE BREFAE
10. Mark Profit Finance Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Money lending
Limited B Company 18T BE
BR#BERRAE BREERE
1. Master Destiny Limited BVI Limited liability ~ USD 50,000 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HERUBEE Company 50,000&7T REER
AREEAH
12. Triple Art Limited Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
—EHRAF &8 Company 187 administrative
BREEAE services
RATERS
13. Unigue Fortune Limited Hong Kong Limited liability —~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERAT 54 Company 1A REER
BREEEAH

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
operations and net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 31 March 2025.

46.

FPRENTEERATEYBAEEE
NEENEREREBREEFELE
S HARAENBAT NN - BB
B RHE KB A R B0 SIS R
ELE o

HEGRGHHRE

MEUBRERN _E_AF=RB=1—
AESESHEREETIE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B E

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,

TXXAEERRALAYRFEZXERE
E - BRERIFEREDRE » i ERER

as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial ZBEAMKEEREGESHBRE > ILKBESE
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out %l E¥ 048 o

below.
RESULTS e
Years ended 31 December
BE+-_B=t+—HLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“ET°%F T —fF T °F “TT=fF —EmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FHET AT
(Re-presented)
FET)
Revenue WA 1,050,847 1,799,501 134,373 64,530 68,328
Profit/(loss) for the year KEEGEHN/ (B8) (104,436) 10,841 9,925 12,452 (87,536)
Attributable to: DUF AL
the Shareholders D (72,697) 55,699 11,205 12,644 (87,562)
Non-controlling interests FERER (31,739) (44,858) (1,280) (192) 26
(104,436) 10,841 9,925 12,452 (87,536)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
At 31 December
w+-ZB=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“ECRE BT TET-F “EITZF| ZBNE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FET
Non-current assets EREFEE 349,303 399,281 337,013 296,752 222,161
Current assets MENEE 784,747 258,613 257,817 144,750 147,248
Deduct: N
Current liabilities nEaE (820,882) (277,300) (254,982) (95,958) (138,521)
Net current assets/(iabilities) RENEE /(BE)35 (36,135) (18,687) 2,835 48,792 8,727
Total assets less current BEBERRSEE
liabilities 313,168 380,594 339,848 345,544 230,888
Non-current liabilities FEREER (53,123) (62,783) (43,943) (28,564) (7,616)
Net assets BEFE 260,045 317,811 295,905 316,980 223,272
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